
We asked. What were the internal repercussions of the financial  
crisis? How did it affect product development? Is necessity the  
mother of invention? Is a talent for improvisation a key to success? 
What role does each individual play in times of crisis? Is it helpful  
to adhere to a high personal standard? How do executives feel emo-
tionally when they have to announce a spate of redundancies?  
How heavily did each of the industry sectors slump? Did facilities 
need to be closed down unexpectedly? Did the situation require a  
culture change within the companies? How important were commit-
ment and solidarity? What typified relationships with cus to mers?  
Does the crisis also present an opportunity? When must one afford 
not to save? How important is the time factor in decision-making? 
Were there any positive developments? What were the most effective 
measures? Is there a secret recipe? What does communication mean? 
How important is a mutual understanding of the situation? Has the 
crisis brought new insights? What can we do better? What are  
the expectations for the year ahead?
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Five-year summary

Net sales
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Kuhn Group  44%

Bucher Process  6%
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Key figures

Group

CHF million    % change

  2009 2008  

Order intake  1 797.4 2 791.9 – 35.6

Net sales  2 142.1 2 788.9 – 23.2

Order book  507.3 843.4 – 39.9

Operating profit before depreciation  

and amortisation (EBITDA)  189.7 341.6 – 44.5

As % of net sales  8.9% 12.2%  

Operating profit (EBIT) before impairment  111.7 276.1 – 59.5

As % of net sales  5.2% 9.9%  

Operating profit (EBIT)  25.8 246.2 – 89.5

As % of net sales  1.2% 8.8%  

Net financial items  – 18.8 – 29.1 – 35.4

Income tax expense  – 31.4 – 71.7 – 56.2

As % of profit before tax 1)  33.8% 33.0%  

(Loss)/profit for the year  – 24.4 145.4 n.a.

As % of net sales  – 1.2% 5.2%  

Earnings per share in CHF  – 2.60 14.39 n.a.

Capital expenditure  58.5 130.9 – 55.3

Operating free cash flow  182.5 – 15.3  

Development costs  75.9 78.1 – 2.8

Net operating assets (NOA), average  1 114.1 891.0 + 25.0

Return on net operating assets (RONOA)  1.5% 18.5%  

Net cash/debt 2)  – 118.1 – 110.6 – 6.8

Total assets  2 124.5 2 067.6 + 2.8

Equity  792.5 846.1 – 6.3

Equity ratio  37.3% 40.9%  

Return on equity (ROE)  – 3.0% 16.9%  

Number of employees at 31 December 3)  7 183 8 373 – 14.2

Average number of employees during year 3)  7 618 8 176 – 6.8

Net sales per employee CHF 1 000 281.2 341.1 – 17.6

Divisions

CHF million Order intake Net sales Order book Operating profit (EBIT)
Number of employees 3) 

at 31 December

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Kuhn Group 735.4 1 224.0 948.4 1 105.6 246.0 432.2 7.4 136.9 3 152 3 563

Bucher Municipal 436.5 528.4 452.1 579.1 91.0 114.5 20.4 38.0 1 365 1 543

Bucher Process 116.4 167.7 122.0 195.2 33.2 40.1 4.7 24.1 459 520

Bucher Hydraulics 276.7 472.9 319.8 497.0 45.6 85.4 – 8.5 31.2 1 317 1 664

Emhart Glass 232.4 398.9 303.7 418.3 91.5 171.2 12.2 35.0 871 1 064

Other/consolidation – – – 3.9 – 6.3 – – – 10.4 – 19.0 19 19

Total 1 797.4 2 791.9 2 142.1 2 788.9 507.3 843.4 25.8 246.2 7 183 8 373
1)  2009 tax rate before impairment. The effective tax rate after impairment was 448.6%.
2)  Excluding derivative financial liabilities since 1 January 2009.
3)  Expressed as full-time equivalents.



Contents

Bucher Industries 

Divisions

Financial report

2

8

10

24

32

34

40

46

52

58

66

128

139

140

Bucher annual report 2009

Key figures
Report to shareholders
Bucher – today
Corporate governance
Remuneration report
Investor relations

Kuhn Group
Bucher Municipal
Bucher Process
Bucher Hydraulics
Emhart Glass

Group
Holding company
Five-year summary
Addresses



02

Divisions Financial report

Bucher – today Corporate governance Remuneration report Report to shareholders Investor relations

 Bucher Industries 

Report to shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

2009 was dominated by the global financial and economic crisis. While 
putting in place incisive measures to restructure and reduce costs, the com-
pany also focused on business development initiatives for the future. 

Bucher Industries was unable to escape the massive economic slump. Sales 
dropped by 23% or currency-adjusted 19% to CHF 2 142 million. The acquisi-
tion impact was 6%. Order intake decreased by 36% to CHF 1 797 million. 
Despite the adverse impact of CHF 86 million in goodwill impairment 
charges, the Group generated an operating profit of CHF 26 million. Compared 
with the previous year, net financial items improved by CHF 10 million  
to negative CHF 19 million. After tax of CHF 31 million, the Group posted a 
loss of CHF 24 million for the year. 
 
Slump in demand   The global economic crisis that began in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 continued unabated through last year, reaching all market 
segments served by Bucher Industries. Capital spending was severely 
curbed by the restrictive lending practices in financing customers’ projects. 
Massively devalued local currencies in Eastern Europe additionally ham-
pered imports and brought demand to a virtual halt in that region. The main 
markets in Western Europe and North America did not escape the downturn  
either. With the abrupt reversal from the recent years of strong continued 
growth to a worldwide slump in demand, customers and the distribution 
channels were left with excessive inventories. This resulted in accelerated 
destocking, which heightened the competitive pressure. The situation  
stabilised at a low level in the fourth quarter of the year.

Performance stabilised at a low level   All the divisions were affected by  
the economic crisis last year. Bucher Industries posted a decline of 23.2% or 
currency-adjusted 18.9% in its sales to CHF 2 142.1 million, with acquisi-
tions contributing 5.9%. Due to the sharp decline in sales and the lower level 
of performance anticipated for the years ahead, goodwill impairment 
charges of CHF 85.9 million were necessary for Kuhn Group and Bucher  
Hydraulics. Despite the impact of this charge, the Group generated an oper-
ating profit of CHF 25.8 million as a result of the cost reductions in all  
the divisions. Order intake fell by 35.6% year on year to CHF 1 797.4 million. 
The downturn only bottomed out in the fourth quarter, with a few signs  
of recovery beginning to appear. The order book dropped by 39.9% to  
CHF 507.3 million. Foreign exchange performance contributed sigificantly  
to the improvement of CHF 10.3 million in net financial items to negative  
CHF 18.8 million. After tax expense of CHF 31.4 million, the Group posted  
a loss of CHF 24.4 million for the year. 
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Sound financial position   High discipline in spending and the focus  
on reducing working capital resulted in a decrease of CHF 232.8 million  
in receivables and inventories. Net operating assets were down by CHF 25.4 
million, or CHF 145.9 million excluding acquisitions, to CHF 897.1 million. 
Due to the high level of capital spending in previous years, capital expendi-
ture was able to be reduced to CHF 58.5 million. Operating free cash flow 
improved by CHF 197.8 million to CHF 182.5 million. Taking into account the 
acquisitions of CHF 172.9 million and the dividend of CHF 45.2 million, free 
cash flow amounted to CHF 0.7 million. Net debt increased only slightly by 
CHF 7.5 million to CHF 118.1 million. At the reporting date, the Group had 
sufficient liquidity ensured by available undrawn committed credit facilities 
of approximately CHF 440 million. Equity decreased by CHF 53.6 million to 
CHF 792.5 million at 31 December 2009, representing an equity ratio of 37.3% 
compared to 40.9% a year earlier.
 
Measures to maintain profitability   The divisions combated the steep  
decline in business volume with the necessary moderation to be prepared 
for a later upswing. Production planning and purchasing were proactively 
aligned to the lower order intake. Restructuring and cost-cutting measures 
led to a reduction mainly in temporary jobs. Structural measures entailed 
the closure of smaller manufacturing facilities in Germany, Italy and France 
and the transfer of their operations to other sites. Expenditure on research  
and development was not curtailed.

Human resources   Bucher Industries reduced manpower judiciously to  
retain expertise, maintain innovative strength and be ready to embrace 
the next upturn. Nevertheless, manpower had to be cut by a total of  
1 444 full-time equivalent jobs or 17.2% compared with 2008, excluding 
acquisitions. In addition to the introduction of short-time work, this mainly  
affected fixed-term and temporary jobs. At the end of the year, the Group 
still employed 7 183 people in 28 countries.

New management structure   The Group put a new management structure 
in place from 1 January 2010. The independent businesses for winemaking 
equipment (Bucher Vaslin), fruit juice processing equipment (Bucher Foodtech), 
drying systems for the food industry and sludge dewatering systems 
(Bucher Drytech) have been grouped together with the Swiss distributor-
ship for tractors and agricultural machinery (Bucher Landtechnik) in the  
newly established Bucher Specials segment. The Bucher Process division 
was dissolved. Bucher Specials is headed by CEO Philip Mosimann. Jean-
Pierre Bernheim, a group management member, is in charge of Bucher  
Vaslin. The managing directors of the other independent businesses now  
report to Stefan Düring, head of group development.
 
Kuhn Group   generated CHF 948.4 million in sales of specialised agricultural 
machinery during 2009, a decline of 14.2% or currency-adjusted 8.9%.  
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The new companies, Kuhn-Geldrop and Kuhn-Blanchard, contributed 16.3% 
of sales. Despite goodwill impairment charges of CHF 63.7 million, the  
division still posted an operating profit of CHF 7.4 million. Order intake fell 
by 39.9% to CHF 735.4 million because of the farmers’ low capital spending, 
cancellations of orders placed the year before and high inventories held by 
importers and dealers. Agricultural income decreased substantially because 
of the sliding prices of milk, meat and cereals. This hit the main markets in 
North America and Western Europe as well as South America. By collaborating 
intensively with customers, Kuhn Group succeeded in largely aligning in-
ventory levels throughout the value chain to the lower demand during the 
year. Having focused for many years on maintaining a flexible cost struc-
ture with a large share of fixed-term and temporary jobs and a high proportion 
of component suppliers, the division was able to reduce costs at virtually  
no additional expense. 

Bucher Municipal   reported a decrease of 21.9% or currency-adjusted 16.6% 
in sales to CHF 452.1 million for 2009. Demand stabilised at this low level 
late in the year. Operating profit before restructuring costs came in at CHF 30.4 
million, representing an operating profit margin of 6.7%. Restructuring 
costs of CHF 10 million were incurred in closing down the Hanover production 
facility in Germany. Order intake fell by 17.4% to CHF 436.5 million. The 
otherwise stable municipal vehicle market also felt the impact of the eco-
nomic crisis. Demand collapsed almost entirely in Eastern Europe, and private 
contractors responded quickly to the downturn. Competitors’ excess capac-
ities heightened the pricing pressure. The division cut costs and adapted  
its structures to the changed conditions, closing down the German truck 
mounted sweeper manufacturing plant in Hanover and transferring these  
operations to the main Niederweningen facility in Switzerland. At the same 
time, it accelerated the expansion of its low-cost component and assembly 
plant in Latvia. These measures have increased the division’s competitiveness.

Bucher Process   was faced with a very depressed market environment last year. 
The division generated CHF 122.0 million in sales, a year-on-year decline of 
37.5% or currency-adjusted 35.1%. Operating profit decreased by CHF 19.4 
million to CHF 4.7 million, and order intake was 30.6% down on the previous 
year at CHF 116.4 million. Demand for winemaking equipment in the main 
European market remained weak during the peak season and only picked  
up in the second half of the year after the European Union’s subsidies began 
to take hold. The steep slump in fruit juice equipment was due to a lack of 
funds, high inventories of costly apple juice concentrate and the concentrate 
producers’ excess capacities. Unlike the previous year, no large orders  
materialised. Demand for drying equipment and sludge dewatering systems 
was good. The division closed down two smaller plants for winemaking 
equipment, one in Italy and the other in France, and transferred their opera-
tions to its main French plant in Chalonnes-sur-Loire.
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Bucher Hydraulics   was particularly hard hit by the economic downturn in its 
operations as a component supplier and generated sales of CHF 319.8 million,  
a year-on-year decline of 35.7% or currency-adjusted 34.0%. Acquisitions 
contributed 1.4% to sales. Order intake plunged to CHF 276.7 million, a  
decrease of 41.5% additionally exacerbated by order cancellations. In com-
parison with the VDMA statistics, Bucher Hydraulics was less affected, 
demonstrating the division’s excellent market position. With the slump in 
sales and strict valuation criteria applied, inventories had to be written  
down by CHF 6.9 million. Due to the market collapse in North America and the 
prospect of only a slow recovery, charges of CHF 22.2 million were recognised 
for goodwill impairment. These factors adversely impacted the operating 
results by CHF 29.1 million, resulting in an operating loss of CHF 8.5 million. 
The division took incisive measures to bring costs in line with the lower 
business volume, while ensuring supply capability and retaining expertise.

Emhart Glass   held its ground in a turbulent market environment affected 
by the crisis. Sales decreased by 27.4% or currency-adjusted 23.6% to  
CHF 303.7 million, with operating profit down by CHF 22.8 million from the 
previous year’s high level to CHF 12.2 million. The decline in profitability 
was due to the steep drop in business volume, the fierce competitive pressure 
and the change in product mix. Order intake fell by 41.7% to CHF 232.4 million. 
Inventories held by glass container manufacturers swelled as a result of 
 excess capacities. The lower production capacity utilisation rates in glass-
works also brought a slight decline in the otherwise stable spare parts and 
service business in the second half of the year. Emhart Glass took all possi-
ble action to reduce costs and successfully adjusted its cost structure  
to the 2006 level despite the substantial capital investments made in Malaysia 
and the USA over the past years.

Dividend   In view of the operating profit, downsized cost structures  
and a steady dividend policy, the board of directors proposes that the annual 
general meeting on 15 April 2010 approve payment of a dividend of  
CHF 2.00 per registered share despite the loss for the year. The dividend  
paid last year was CHF 4.50.  

Board of directors and group management  The terms of directors  
Thomas W. Bechtler, Rolf Broglie and Anita Hauser are expiring. The board  
of directors proposes that the annual general meeting re-elect them  
for another term of three years. The board would like to thank the directors 
who resigned on 31 August 2009, Kurt E. Siegenthaler and Erwin Stoller,  
for all their professional services.

Many thanks to our employees and partners   The past financial year faced 
us with special challenges of no ordinary magnitude. The abrupt reversal 
from the recent years of growth to the rapid and massive economic slump 
forced the company to take incisive measures that demanded understanding, 
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flexibility, perseverance and commitment from everyone concerned. We would 
like to thank all our employees and business partners for their excellent  
performance and great loyalty to our company. They have all demonstrated 
that we can count on them, even when times are very tough.

Outlook for 2010   The Group does not anticipate that economic conditions 
will improve significantly this year. Demand is expected to remain weak at  
a low level during the first six months, while a slight recovery may start in 
the second half of the year. Uncertainty prevails in the agricultural machinery 
sector regarding the trend in farmers’ income. The anticipated decline in  
local government tax revenues could adversely affect demand for municipal 
vehicles. In Bucher Hydraulics’ component supply business, we believe that 
customers have finished destocking and the bottom should be reached or 
may already be behind us. The glass container industry expects low capacity 
utilisation to continue in the first six months, with a slight recovery in the 
second half of the year. Of the independent businesses grouped in Bucher 
Specials, Bucher Vaslin anticipates significant growth in winemaking equip-
ment, whereas Bucher Landtechnik and Bucher Drytech should remain 
roughly at last year’s levels. Fruit juice equipment is the only business that 
may see another decline. Overall, excluding the 2009 impairment charges, 
we expect sales, operating profit and net profit for 2010 to be in the region 
of last year.

Niederweningen, 16 March 2010

Philip Mosimann
Chief executive officer

Thomas W. Hauser
Chairman of the board
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Rolf Broglie
Nominated as chairman of the board 
from 15 April 2010

Thomas W. Hauser
Chairman of the board  
until 15 April 2010

Philip Mosimann
Chief executive officer
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Bucher – today

Sales
in 2009 

Total CHF
2.1 bn

Number of
employees 
in 2009

Total
7 183

Our mission   We manufacture cutting-edge machinery and equipment for effi-
cient harvesting and production of healthy foods and for keeping cities clean 
and roads safe, along with a range of hydraulic systems for high performance 
machinery. We see ourselves as a long-term industry-focused business and are 
committed to being a fair partner to our customers, employees, share holders 
and business partners. We combine economic and ecological considerations 
for sustainable use of our natural resources. Our contribution is to make machines 
and components with a long service life and high energy efficiency, environ-
mentally friendly vehicles, and glass container manufacturing equipment to pro-
mote recyclable glass. 

Our targets   We seek to achieve superior profitability and high cash flow based 
on technology leadership, market presence and consistent cost management. 
We are committed to providing our customers with effective, innovative products 
and excellent service. We offer attractive jobs and development opportunities  
to our employees. We will continue to build the Group, primarily through organic 
growth and innovation, but also by acquiring and integrating selected, comple-
mentary businesses. The divisions consistently focus their product and service 
portfolios on the specific needs of their customers. By maintaining a clear struc-
ture with decentralised management and profit responsibility, combined with 
group-wide strategic and financial management, we will remain flexible and 
adaptable. Based on a healthy balance sheet and a strong equity base, our ambi-
tious financial targets formulated as an average over an economic cycle are:  
an operating margin of 12% EBITDA and 9% EBIT on net sales and a 16% after-tax 
return on capital employed.

Our businesses   The Group comprises four divisions specialising in industrially 
related areas of mechanical and vehicle engineering as well as a segment  

Europe  71%

Other  6%

Americas  15%

Switzerland  6%

Asia  8%

Switzerland  12%

North America  12%

Germany  9%

France  33%

Other  3%

UK  6%

Sweden  5%

Australia  4%

Netherlands  4%

Asia  3%

Brazil  5%

Italy  4%
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Europe

encompassing independent businesses. Their operations are based on funda-
mental human needs and have substantial worldwide growth and earnings 
potential to be realised through innovative products and services, coupled 
with geographical market development.

Kuhn Group   is the world’s leading supplier of agricultural machinery for  
tillage, seeding, fertilisation, spraying, landscape maintenance, hay and forage 
harvesting, livestock bedding and feeding.   

Bucher Municipal   holds the largest share of the European sweeper  
market, offering a whole range of compact and truck mounted sweepers, 
winter maintenance equipment and refuse collection vehicles.  

Bucher Hydraulics   occupies a leading position as a provider of custom  
mobile and industrial hydraulic system solutions, with manufacturing facilities 
in Europe, Asia and the USA.  

Emhart Glass   is the world’s leading supplier of advanced technologies for 
manufacturing and inspecting glass containers, with a portfolio encompassing 
glass container forming and inspection machinery, systems, components, 
spare parts, advice and services for the glass container industry. 

Bucher Specials   consists of independent businesses for winemaking equip-
ment (Bucher Vaslin), fruit juice processing equipment (Bucher Foodtech), 
drying systems for the food industry and sludge dewatering systems (Bucher 
Drytech) and the Swiss distributorship for tractors and agricultural machinery 
(Bucher Landtechnik). 
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Group services

Group

Holding

Divisions/ 
Segments

Bucher Industries

Emhart
Glass

Bucher 
Specials

Bucher 
Hydraulics

Bucher
Municipal

Kuhn
Group

Corporate governance

 

 

Bucher Industries AG

  

This report complies with the SIX Swiss Exchange Corporate Governance 
 Directive effective on 31 December 2009, where applicable to Bucher  
Industries.  Unless otherwise stated, the information presented reflects  
the situation on 31 December 2009. 

Operational group structure   The Bucher Industries Group was organised  
into five divisions operating in five business segments: specialised agri­
cultural machinery (Kuhn Group), municipal vehicles (Bucher Municipal),  
wine and fruit juice production equipment (Bucher Process), hydraulic  
components (Bucher Hydraulics) and manufacturing equipment for the  
glass container industry (Emhart Glass). 

At the beginning of 2010, the Group introduced a change in the Group’s 
management structure. The operations of the Bucher Process division, com­
prising winemaking equipment (Bucher Vaslin), fruit juice processing equip­
ment (Bucher Foodtech), drying systems for the food industry and sludge 
dewatering systems (Bucher Drytech), have been grouped together with the 
Swiss distributorship for tractors and agricultural machinery (Bucher Land­
technik), which was previously part of the Bucher Municipal division, as inde­
pendent businesses within the new Bucher Specials segment. The Group 
made this move to give more weight to these independent operations and 
sharpen their focus on the specific needs of the different customer segments. 
The Bucher Process division was dissolved.

At group level, a corporate centre  provides finance and controlling, group 
development, legal and com munications functions to support the Group 
and its companies in their activities. The Group’s operational structure as of 

Group structure and shareholders



Bucher annual report 2009

11

1 January 2010 is shown in the chart on page 10 and a detailed segment 
infor mation is presented in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
on pages 87 to 89 of this annual report. 

Group companies and consolidation   Bucher Industries AG incorporated  
in Niederweningen, Switzerland, is the Group’s holding company. Its regis­
tered shares are listed on the main board of the SIX Swiss Exchange and also 
traded on the over­the­counter markets of the Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Berlin 
and XETRA exchanges. Details are given in the investor relations section on 
page 33 of this annual report. The consolidation includes all group companies 
owned directly or indirectly by the holding company, as shown on pages 122 to 
124 of this annual report. None of these companies is listed on a stock exchange. 

Shareholders   The registered shares are widely held by public shareholders. 
A group of shareholders organised under a shareholders’ agreement and 
represented by Rudolf Hauser, Zurich, holds a total of 34.14% of the voting 
rights, as published in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (SHAB) on 
10 May 2005. The essence of the shareholders’ agreement has not been pub­
lished. Bucher Beteiligungs­Stiftung held a total of 5.35% of the issued 
share capital, the voting rights attached to such shares being suspended in 
accordance with article 659a par. 1 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The 
board of Bucher Industries AG is not aware of any other shareholders, or groups 
of shareholders subject to voting agreements, who hold more than 3% of 
the total voting rights. 

There are no cross­shareholdings between Bucher Industries AG and other 
companies.
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Capital   The issued share capital of Bucher Industries AG is CHF 2 113 180, 
divided into 10 565 900 registered shares of CHF 0.20 each. Bucher Industries AG 
has conditional, authorised but unissued capital up to a maximum of  
CHF 236 820. There is no additional authorised capital. 

Conditional authorised but unissued capital   The share capital of Bucher 
Industries AG may be increased by a maximum of CHF 236 820 through the 
 issuance of up to 1 184 100 registered shares of CHF 0.20 each. The condi­
tional authorised but unissued capital is reserved for the exercise of warrants 
or conversion rights attached to bonds and of rights issued to shareholders. 
Shareholders have no pre­emption rights. Holders of warrants, options or 
conversion rights are entitled to subscribe for new shares. No such rights  
are outstanding at present. 

Warrant or conversion terms are determined by the board of directors.  
The Board is authorised to disapply shareholders’ pre­emption rights for good 
cause, as provided in art. 653c par. 2 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, when  
issuing bonds with warrants or conversion rights. In such cases, the board 
is respon sible for specifying the structure, life and amount of the  issue as 
well as the warrant or conversion terms according to market conditions at the 
time of issue.

Changes in capital   There were no changes in capital in the last three  
reporting years. 

Shares   Bucher Industries AG has an issued share capital of CHF 2 113 180, 
 divided into 10 565 900 registered shares of CHF 0.20 each. All shares are 
fully paid­up and rank for dividend. Each share carries one vote at general 
meetings of shareholders. Bucher Industries AG has not issued any participa­
tion or profit­sharing certificates. 

Capital structure
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Restrictions on transferability   The company’s registered shares are not 
subject to any restrictions on ownership or transferability. Pursuant to the 
articles of association of Bucher Industries, the board has established  principles 
for the registration of nominees. Persons who do not expressly state in the 
application for registration that the shares are held for their own account 
(hereinafter “nominees”) will be recorded in the share register as shareholders 
with voting rights up to a maximum of 2% of the share capital then out­
standing, provided that such persons have previously entered into a nominee 
agreement with Bucher Industries AG. If the 2% threshold is exceeded,  
registered shares held by nominees will be entered with voting rights only  
if the nominee agrees in writing to disclose the names, addresses and share­
holdings of the persons for whose account the nominee holds 0.5% or more  
of the share capital then outstanding. The 2% threshold also applies to nom­
inees who are affiliated by capital or votes, through common management  
or otherwise. 

Convertible bonds and share options   Bucher Industries has no outstanding 
convertible bonds. Share options granted to members of the group manage­
ment, division managements and selected specialists under the share  
option plan are shown on pages 110 to 111 of this annual report. The shares  
required to meet awards are purchased in the open market and held by 
Bucher Beteiligungs­Stiftung. 
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Thomas W. Hauser   Swiss citizen, mechanical engineer Swiss Federal Institute 
of Technology (ETH) Zurich, MBA INSEAD Fontainebleau  1968 Boeing, Seattle    
 1970 – 2003 Bucher  Hydraulics GmbH, Klettgau, managing director   1984 – 2003 

Bucher Hydraulics, division president. No other appointments or commit­
ments.

Rolf Broglie   Swiss citizen, industrialist   1972 Chromos AG, Glattbrugg, 
managing director since 1985   Since 1995 Prografica AG, Glattbrugg, executive 
director and chief executive officer. No other appointments or commitments.

Ernst  Bärtschi   Swiss citizen, lic. oec. HSG University of St. Gallen   
 1980 Schindler Management AG   1994 Schindler Aufzüge AG, managing  

director   1997 Schindler Group, chief financial officer   2002 Sika AG,  
Baar, chief financial officer, since 2005 chief executive officer. No other  
appointments or commitments.

Thomas W. Bechtler   Swiss citizen, doctorate in law, University of Zurich, 
L.L.M. Harvard University   1977 Luwa AG, Zurich, division head   Since 1982 
Hesta AG and Hesta Tex AG, Zug, executive director and chief executive  
officer   Other appointments Deputy chairman of Sika AG, Baar, and director of 
Conzzeta AG, Zurich   Chairman of Human Rights Watch Committee Zurich.

Claude R. Cornaz   Swiss citizen, mechanical engineer Swiss Federal Institute 
of Technology (ETH) Zurich   1987 Contraves AG, Zurich   1989 Nestec SA, 
Vevey   1993 Vetropack Holding AG, Bülach, since 2000 delegate of the board 
and chief executive officer   Other appointments Member of the board of the 
 European Container Glass Federation   Deputy chairman of H. Goessler AG, 
Zurich.

Board of directors

Members

Name Age Position Appointed Term expires Committees

Board of directors Audit Human resources

Thomas W. Hauser 69 chairman, non-executive, independent  1984 2011 x

Rolf Broglie 62 deputy chairman, non-executive, independent 1996 2010 x x

Ernst Bärtschi 57 non-executive, independent 2005 2011 x

Thomas W. Bechtler 60 non-executive, independent 1987 2010 x

Claude R. Cornaz 48 non-executive, independent 2002 2012

Anita Hauser 40 non-executive, independent 2007 2010

Heinrich Spoerry 58 non-executive, independent 2006 2012 x
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Anita Hauser   Swiss citizen, lic. rer. publ. HSG University of St. Gallen, MBA  
INSEAD, Fontainebleau   1993 – 1998 Unilever, Zug and Milan, European brand 
manager   2000 Lindt & Sprüngli (International) AG, Kilchberg, international 
marketing manager,   2005 EF Education AG, Zurich, country manager   Since 
2010  EF Education First AG, Lucerne, social media director. No other appoint­
ments or commitments. 

Heinrich Spoerry   Swiss citizen, lic. oec. HSG University of St. Gallen   
 1979 Boston Consulting Group, Munich   1981 SFS Group, Heerbrugg, head 

of management services   1987 Stäfa Control System AG, Cerberus AG,  
Männedorf, member of the management   Since 1998 SFS Group, Heerbrugg, 
chairman of the board and chief executive officer   Other appointment Director 
of Mikron AG, Biel.

Independence   All directors are non­executive and independent, i.e. they  
do not perform any operational functions, have not been members of the 
management of Bucher Industries within the last three years and have no 
material business relationship with the Group. 

Elections and terms of office   Directors are elected individually for staggered 
three­year terms. They are required to retire at the first annual  general 
meeting of shareholders after reaching the age of 70. The articles of association 
place no other restrictions on tenure. Claude R. Cornaz, Kurt E. Siegenthaler  
and Heinrich Spoerry were re­elected to the board last year. Two directors, 
Kurt E. Siegenthaler and Erwin Stoller, left the board on 31 August 2009.  
The board elected Thomas W. Hauser as the new chairman from September 
2009 and Rolf Broglie as deputy chairman, nominated to serve as chairman 
from the annual general meeting on 15 April 2010.
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Internal organisation   The board determines the strategic direction and 
oversees the management of the company as provided in the Swiss Code of 
Obligations, in the articles of association and internal rules of organisation, 
available at http://www.bucherind.com/html/en/296.html. It meets as often 
as business requires, holding at least six scheduled meetings each year, 
which generally take place every two months. It met eight times and held 
one conference call last year. The meetings are usually attended by the CEO, 
CFO and other members of group management, depending on the items on 
the agenda. The secretary to the board takes minutes of the proceedings 
and resolutions. Each meeting lasts one day and the annual strategy meeting 
two days. 

Committees   To assist with its responsibilities, the board of directors had  
an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nomination committee 
appointed from among its members. On 30 November 2009 the human  
resources committee took over the functions of the former compensation 
and nomination comittees. The roles and responsibilities of the audit and 
human resources committees are described below and are published in the 
condensed version of the rules of organisation on the company’s website at 
http://www.bucherind.com/html/en/296.html. The committees report to 
the board of directors on their activities, results and proposals. The board 
has overall responsibility for the duties assigned to the committees. Committee 
members hold office from one annual general meeting until the next  
annual general meeting. Proceedings and resolutions of committee meetings 
are recorded in minutes.

Audit committee   The audit committee consisted of Rolf Broglie (chairman), 
Ernst Bärtschi and Erwin Stoller until 31 August 2009, when Erwin Stoller  
resigned from the board. Since September 2009, Ernst Bärtschi took over as 
committee chairman from Rolf Broglie, who remained a member of the com­
mittee. Heinrich Spoerry was appointed as a new member of the audit com­
mittee. All of its members are non­executive and independent. The audit 
committee holds at least three meetings a year, each usually lasting half a day. 
The chairman of the board, CEO and CFO attend the meetings in an advisory 
capacity. The committee met three times last year. The audit committee pre­
pares a comprehensive and effective audit programme for the Group and 
oversees its implementation. It determines key areas of the audit plan for 
the external and internal audits and receives reports from the auditors.  
For a preliminary decision, the audit committee evaluates the independence 
and performance of the auditors and finally determines the level of their  
remuneration. The audit committee’s role includes preparing the board’s 

16
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proposal for the appointment of the auditors, reviewing the organisation  
of the accounting system, ensuring the Group’s financial controls and financial 
planning and reviewing the plans, budgets and financial statements of the 
Group and its group companies, including individual projects involving sig­
nificant commitment of capital. 

Human resources committee   The human resources committee established 
on 30 November 2009 is composed of Thomas W. Hauser (chairman), Thomas 
W. Bechtler and Rolf Broglie. It holds at least one meeting each year, usually 
lasting half a day. The CEO attends the meetings in an advisory capacity,  
except when his own remuneration is being determined. 

The human resources committee prepares the Group’s remuneration policy for 
directors and members of the group and division managements. It makes 
recommendations to the board for the annual remuneration of directors and 
the CEO, determines the remuneration of the other group management mem­
bers and takes note of the remuneration of division management members.  
In addition, it prepares the medium­ and long­term succession planning for 
directors and group management members. It recommends to the board  
a policy for the selection of candidates for appointment as directors and CEO 
and prepares the selection applying these criteria. The human resources 
committee determines the policy for the selection of candidates for appoint­
ment to the group management and prepares their selection applying these 
criteria. Before their dissolution, the compensation and nomination com­
mittees did not hold any meetings last year. The board of directors performed 
the functions of the human resources committee at one meeting, which  
focused on the regular duties of determining the remuneration of senior 
 executives.  

Authority and responsibility   The board has delegated the Group’s oper­
ational management to the CEO and group management members. Their  
authority and responsibilities are set out in the internal rules of organisation. 
An abridged version of the rules of organisation is available as a PDF  
document on the Bucher Industries website at http://www.bucherind.com/
html/en/296.html. The board oversees the operational management.



18

 Corporate governanceBucher – today Remuneration report

Divisions Financial report Bucher Industries 

Report to shareholders Investor relations

Information and control systems relating to group management   As part 
of the management reporting system, the board receives monthly key  
figures, quarterly consolidated financial statements and management com­
ments from group management, providing information on operational  
performance and key performance indicators within the Group, divisions 
and major group companies. Variances from the budget and the three­year  
medium­term financial plan are analysed based on overall market conditions, 
and action taken by management is evaluated. At each meeting, the board  
is also informed about the course of business, important projects and risks. 
Once a year it conducts an in­depth assessment of the Group’s risk situation  
on the basis of a risk report. Written proposals are prepared for any major 
projects requiring a board decision. The newly established internal audit 
function started its work last year. These functions were outsourced. The 
internal audit function reports to the chairman of the audit committee, 
which has delegated the coordination and practical performance of the 
 audits to the CFO. The internal audit function reports the results of its 
 audits to the audit committee at at least one meeting each year. Two meetings 
were held last year. The audits focused on contracts, pricing, and IT 
 structures of individual divisions and group companies. 
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Philip Mosimann   Swiss citizen, age 55, mechanical engineer Swiss Federal 
Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich   1980 Sulzer Innotec AG, Winterthur   
 1993 Sulzer AG, Winterthur, divi sion president of Sulzer Thermtec   1997 Sulzer 

AG, Winterthur, division president of Sulzer Textil   2001 Bucher Industries AG, 
chief executive officer since 2002   Other appointment Director of Conzzeta AG, 
Zurich.

Roger Baillod   Swiss citizen, age 51, graduate in business economics FH Olten, 
certified public accountant Kammerschule Zurich   1984 ATAG Ernst & Young 
AG, Zurich   1993 Dietsche Holding AG, Zug, head of finance and accounting  
 1995 Benninger AG, Uzwil, head of corporate services   Since 1996 Bucher 

Industries AG, chief financial officer   Other appointment Member of the board 
of Migros­Genossenschafts­Bund, Zurich.

Jean-Pierre Bernheim   French citizen, age 61, mechanical engineer Ecole des 
Mines, Paris, doctorate in engineering University of Marseille   1977 Groupe 
Vallourec, Paris   1980 Bucher Vaslin SA, managing director   1998  Bucher 
 Process, division president.   Since 2010 Bucher Vaslin SA, managing director.  
No other appointments or com mitments.

Michael Häusermann   Swiss citizen, age 49, graduate of Business School Zurich  
 1983 Kran + Hydraulik AG, Tagelswangen   1988 Bucher­Guyer AG, head of 

Bucher Transport Technology, Rolba Kommunaltechnik AG and Bucher­Guyer 
AG Municipal Vehicles   Since 2000 Bucher Municipal, divison president.  
No other appointments or commitments.

Martin Jetter   German citizen, age 53, engineer University of Cooperative  
Education Stutt gart   1978 Robert Bosch GmbH, Schwieberdingen   1980 Jetter 
AG, Ludwigsburg, chief executive officer   2005 Emhart Glass AG, division 
president since 2006   Other appointment Jetter AG, Ludwigsburg, chief execu­
tive officer. 

Michel Siebert   French citizen, age 60, graduate of Institute of Business  
Administration Nancy   1976 Charbonnages de France, Nancy   1979 Kuhn SA, 
head of sales and member of division management   Since 1999 Kuhn Group, 
division president. No other appointments or commitments.

Daniel Waller   Swiss citizen, age 49, mechanical engineer Swiss Federal 
 Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich   1987 Rittmeyer AG, Zug   1996 Carlo 
Gavazzi AG, Steinhausen   1999 Bucher Hydraulics AG Frutigen, managing 
 director   Since 2004 Bucher Hydraulics, division president. No other appoint­
ments or commitments.

Group management

Members

20
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Vanessa Ölz   Swiss citizen, graduate in law University of Zurich   1989 Sulzer AG, 
Winterthur, legal counsel    1997 Sulzer Medica, Winterthur, secretary to  
the board   Since 2002 Bucher Industries AG, head of legal and communications, 
secretary to the board.

Stefan Düring   Swiss citizen, lic. oec. HSG University of St. Gallen, certified 
public accountant Board of Accountancy, New Hampshire, chartered financial 
analyst Association for Investment Management and Research, Charlottes­
ville   1998 PricewaterhouseCoopers, Zurich   Since 2006 Bucher Industries AG, 
head of group development.

Management contracts   Bucher Industries AG has not entered into any  
man agement contracts with third parties. 

These disclosures are presented in the remuner ation report on pages  
24 to 31 of this annual report.  

Voting rights and representation restrictions   There are no restrictions on 
voting rights or proxy voting. 

Required quorums   Resolutions at general meetings of shareholders are passed 
by an absolute majority of the votes of the shares represented. At least  
two­thirds of the votes represented and an absolute majority of the par value 
of the shares represented are required for special resolutions as prescribed  
in art. 704, par. 1 of the Swiss Code of Obligations.  

Convocation of the general meeting of shareholders   There are no rules  
that differ from the law for the convocation of general meetings of sharehold­
ers. As provided in the articles of association, notice of a meeting is  given 
 to shareholders at least 20 days before the meeting. The notice convening 
the meeting sets out the agenda and resolutions to be proposed by the 
board and by shareholders who have requested an item to be added to the 
agenda. To be entitled to vote at a general meeting, shareholders must  
be registered in the share register three working days before the date of the 
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings are called as and when  required,  
in particular in the cases provided by law. Shareholders representing at least 
one tenth of the share capital may at any time request that a meeting be 
convened, stating the business to be transacted and reso lutions proposed. 

Group services

Remuneration, shareholdings and loans

Shareholders’ participation rights
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Requests for additions to the agenda   Shareholders representing shares with 
a combined par value of CHF 20 000 may request that an item be  added to 
the agenda. Requests for additions to the agenda must be submitted at least 
six weeks before a general meeting of shareholders.  

Obligation to make an offer and clauses on changes of control   The annual 
general meeting of shareholders held on 26 April 2005 adopted an optingup 
clause in the articles of association, requiring a purchaser of shares to make 
a public tender offer when reaching or crossing the threshold of 40% of the 
voting rights in accordance with art. 32 and 52 of the Federal Stock  Exchange 
and Securities Trading Act. There are no change of control clauses benefiting  
directors or group management members. 

Duration of the engagement and lead audit partner’s tenure   Pricewater­
houseCoopers AG, Zurich, or its predecessor companies, has served as  
statutory auditors of Bucher Industries AG since 1984. The lead audit partner, 
Beat Inauen, has been responsible for the audit engagement since 2007. 

Audit fees and non-audit fees   For last year, Bucher Industries was charged 
CHF 1 745 000 by PricewaterhouseCoopers and approximately CHF 647 000  
by other auditors for services rendered in connection with the audit of the 
financial statements of Bucher Industries AG and its group companies and  
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of Bucher Industries. In 
addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers charged Bucher Industries a fee of 
 approximately CHF 484 000 for non­audit services, comprising financial, tax 
and due diligence services. 

Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit   The audit 
committee reviews the audit programme, key audit areas and audit plan 
every year and discusses the audit findings with the auditors. Every year, 
the audit committee subsequently assesses the performance, fees and inde­
pendence of the auditors. Last year, the audit focused on the key audit areas 
production, inventories and general IT­control mechanisms. The audit com­
mittee held two meetings with the external auditors. The internal auditors 
attended one of these meetings in an advisory capacity.

Auditors
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Bucher Industries publishes the results of operations in an annual report (includ­
ing a financial, corporate governance and remuneration report) and an interim  
report. These publications and the notice of the general meeting of shareholders 
are made available at the appropriate time on the company’s website at http://
www.bucherind.com/html/en/854.html. The Group issues press releases announc­
ing its full year, first quarter and third quarter sales. It holds an annual press 
conference and annual analyst  conference to present full year results and hosts 
a conference call to discuss first half results. Significant events are announced 
in compliance with the directive on ad hoc publicity issued by the SIX Swiss 
 Exchange. A calendar of forthcoming release dates scheduled for the current and next 
financial year is set out in the investor relations section on page 33 of this an­
nual report. All news releases published over the past two years as well as contact 
addresses can be found at http://www.bucherind.com/html/en/987.html and 
http://www.bucherind.com/html/en/kontakt.html. The company’s website at 
www.bucherind.com also provides a facility to subscribe free of charge to an  
e­mail service to receive press releases published by Bucher Industries. 

Information policy
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Remuneration system   Bucher Industries has adopted a remuneration system 
designed to align the interests of the directors and management with those  
of the Group, shareholders and other stakeholders. The individual remuner­
ation components take account of the Group’s sustainable short­ and long­
term business development. Starting last year, directors are remunerated on 
a non­performance­related basis. Group management and senior manage­
ment are rewarded for a reasonable focus on performance with performance­
related remuneration. All performance­related remuneration components 
have a ceiling. As the objective is to attract and retain highly qualified exec­
utives and professionals, the remuneration system is focused on providing 
competitive remuneration with a moderate fixed component and perform­
ance­related components paid in cash and in the form of interests in the 
company. The contractual remuneration components include a base salary, 
a variable annual remuneration, the long­term incentive plan and the share 
option plan. Performance­related components, where the target criteria are 
aligned to the budget and three­year plan, are determined by the board  
of directors and paid out in the spring of the next year after the board has 
approved the financial statements for the reporting year. The remuneration  
of directors and group management is reported on an accrual basis. In addi­
tion, the remuneration systems for directors, group management members 
and senior management, which the board of directors lays down in regula­
tions, are benchmarked against available market data of similar European  
industrial companies every three to five years and revised by the board, if 
necessary, at the request of the CEO or human resources committee.

Base salary   The base salary of group management members is determined by 
reference to market benchmarks for the specific position in the country 
concerned, based on the level of individual responsibility and experience of 
the person concerned.

Variable annual remuneration   The variable annual remuneration is a  
performancerelated component paid in cash to the members of group man­
agement and the Group’s senior management. Its amount depends on the 
achievement of the annual financial targets set for the Group and divisions 
by the human resources committee. In addition, personal annual targets  
are agreed between the chairman of the board and the CEO and between the 
CEO and each group management member. The variable annual remunera­
tion ranges from 0% to a maximum of 90% of base salary for the CEO and 
from 0% to a maximum of 60% of base salary for all other members of 
group management, depending on the level of target achievement. The finan­
cial criteria used to determine the variable annual remuneration for the  
CEO and CFO are the Group’s “profit for the year” and its “net operating assets 
as a percentage of sales”. For the other group management members, the  
financial criteria are “operating profit (EBIT)” and “net operating assets as  
a percentage of sales” for their respective divisions.

Remuneration, shareholdings and loans

Remuneration report
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Long-term incentive plan   The long­term incentive plan is a share­based 
component of remuneration linked to performance over a three­year period 
for the members of group management. The financial targets are based  
on the Group’s three­year medium­term plan, and the financial criteria are 
“earnings per share” and “return on net operating assets (RONOA)”. The 
number of shares to be awarded on achievement of targets and the financial 
targets themselves are determined annually by the human resources com­
mittee at the request of the CEO before the beginning of the next three­year 
assessment period. Awards under the long­term incentive plan range from 
0% to a maximum of 150% of the shares allotted, depending on the level of 
target achievement. The value of shares awarded may not exceed a maxi­
mum ceiling of CHF 900 000 for the CEO and CHF 120 000 for all other group 
management members. The shares acquired are subject to a three­year 
vesting period. The board of directors revised the award criteria in 2007 with­
out changing the above ceilings. The system of awarding a fixed number  
of shares in place at the time was replaced by a system where the number 
of shares to be awarded is calculated on the basis of an annually deter­
mined percentage of base salary and the average share price during the finan­
cial year preceding the assessment period. If the targets are reached, the 
applicable percentage is 80% of base salary for the CEO and 10% to 20% for 
the other group management members. In 2009 this percentage was not 
changed. This new system is being used for the 2008 to 2010 assessment 
 period. The old system of awarding a fixed number of shares still applies  
for the 2007 to 2009 assessment period.

Share option plan   Options are granted under the share option plan. In addition 
to the members of group management, the division managements and  
selected specialists participate in the plan. The human resources committee 
determines the participants and the number of options granted annually  
at the request of the CEO. The option exercise price is determined based on 
the average closing share price over the 20 trading days preceding the 
 annual grant date. Once determined, the exercise price cannot be changed. 
The options have a life of ten years and vest in equal instalments annually 
over a staggered four­year period. A fixed number of options are granted  
according to the position and level of responsibility of the participant. Each 
option entitles the holder to purchase one share.

Termination benefits   There are no systems for termination benefits, and 
none were paid during 2009. If employment is terminated for any reason 
other than termination by the employee or employer, the variable annual  
remuneration and long­term incentive will be paid on a pro rata basis in the 
year in which the board of directors has approved the achievement of targets. 
Options granted under the share option plan may be exercised until the  
expiration of the option term. If employment is terminated by the employee or 
employer, all rights under the long­term incentive plan and all unvested  
options will lapse. Exercisable options must be exercised within six months 
after termination of employment, after which they will be forfeited.
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Responsibility   The human resources committee prepares the Group’s  
remuneration policy for directors and members of the group and division 
managements. It makes recommendations to the board for the annual  
remuneration of directors and the CEO, determines the remuneration of the 
other group management members and takes note of the remuneration of 
division management members. In addition, it prepares the medium­ and 
longterm succession planning for directors and group management members. 
It recommends to the board a policy for the selection of candidates for  
appointment as directors and CEO and prepares the selection applying these 
criteria. The human resources committee determines the policy for the  
selection of candidates for appointment to the group management and pre­
pares their selection applying these criteria. Before their dissolution, the 
compensation and nomination committees did not hold any meetings last 
year. The board of directors performed the functions of the human resources 
committee at one meeting, which focused on the regular duties of determin­
ing the remuneration of senior executives.

Directors’ remuneration   Directors receive non­performance­related  
remuneration, which is proposed by the human resources committee and 
determined by the board of directors every year. Their remuneration com­
prises a base fee, a base salary for the chairman and cash allowances for service 
on committees and expenses. Until 31 August 2009, the chairman also  
received share awards under the performance­related long­term incentive plan. 
In August last year, the board of directors decided to pay half of the base fee 
to its members in cash and half in shares from the 2009 period of office, rather 
than in shares as in the past, and to discontinue the chairman’s participation  
in the long­term incentive plan. Directors will therefore be remunerated on 
a non­performance­related basis in future. This new rule was not applied  
to the two directors who left the board on 31 August 2009, Kurt Siegenthaler 
and Erwin Stoller. They were remunerated on a pro rata basis using the  
system that applied for 2008. 

The remuneration components are determined annually. The base fee remained 
unchanged during the year at CHF 120 000 for the chairman, CHF 105 000 
for the deputy chairman and CHF 90 000 for each of the other directors. The 
directors who left the board on 31 August 2009 received the entire base fee  
in shares on a pro rata basis, while all the other directors received half in 
shares and half in cash. Last year, the respective share awards were based  
on and valued at the average share price of CHF 105.90 for the year. Until 2008, 
the shares were valued at the year­end share price. The cash allowances paid  
to directors for service on committees and expenses also remained unchanged 
during the year. The chairman of the board’s base salary was increased by 
CHF 30 000 to CHF 150 000 as partial compensation for the discontinued remu­
neration under the long­term incentive plan. Thomas Hauser, the chairman, 
and Rolf Broglie, nominated to serve as chairman from the 2010 annual general 
meeting, decided to split the chairman’s base salary of CHF 150 000 on a 
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pro rata basis for the period from September 2009 to the end of April 2010 
in the proportion of CHF 48 000 for the chairman and CHF 102 000 for the 
nominated chairman. Due to the difficult business environment, the board 
of directors decided to forgo payment of one third of the directors’ base fee 
and chairman’s base salary last year. The remuneration paid to directors last 
year and their interests in shares at the end of the year are shown on pages 
29 and 30 of this annual report.

The directors who left the board on 31 August 2009 were paid their remu­
neration on a pro rata basis in accordance with the rules applying until  
31 August 2009. They did not receive any termination benefits. Under the long­
term incentive plan, Kurt Siegenthaler was awarded 675 shares (2008: 726 
shares). The cash value of the shares awarded under the long­term incentive 
plan remained virtually constant at CHF 71 483 (2008: CHF 76 230).

Group management’s remuneration   Group management members receive a 
base salary commensurate with their responsibilities and experience, a per­
formance­related variable annual cash remuneration, shares under the long­
term incentive plan and options under the share option plan. Other benefits  
include a representation expense allowance, a middle class company car for 
division presidents and contributions to a voluntary pension plan. Shares 
awarded under the long­term incentive plan were valued at the average share 
price of CHF 105.90 for the year. Until 2008, the shares were valued at the 
year­end share price. Last year, the fair value of options was determined using 
the Enhanced American model for the first time and was CHF 36.44 (2008 
using the Black­Scholes method: CHF 41.77) per option. During the year, the 
level of target achievement for the performance­related variable annual  
remuneration was between 43% and 100% and the level of target achievement 
for the long­term incentive plan for the period 2007 to 2009 was 124%, with 
the very good financial years of 2007 and 2008 more than making up for the 
lower profit for the reporting year. The CEO’s performance­related variable 
annual remuneration decreased by 29% and equalled 128% (2008: 181%) of 
his base salary, while that of the other group management members equalled 
73% (2008: 84%) of their base salary and decreased by 14% year on year. The 
base salaries of the group management members remained constant in  
local currencies, with marginal changes due solely to currency movements. 
Because of the economic crisis, the challenging targets were only partially 
reached, and the levels of target achievement for the performance­related 
variable annual remuneration were well below the year­earlier levels. As a 
result, the variable annual cash remuneration paid to the CEO and other group 
management members fell by 32%. The number of shares awarded to the 
CEO under the long­term incentive plan for the period 2007 to 2009 decreased 
by 32% to 4 960 and their cash value dropped by 31% to CHF 525 264. The 
other group management members were awarded 3 476 shares with a cash 
value of CHF 368 117 under the long­term incentive plan. This represents a 
60% increase in the number of shares awarded and a 61% rise in their cash 
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value. The number of share options granted remained the same as in the  
previous year and their cash value was 13% lower at CHF 36.44 per option.  
The total remuneration paid last year and the interests held by the CEO, other 
group management members and the total for group management at the end 
of 2009 are set out on pages 30 and 31 of this annual report.

Additional remuneration, fees and loans to members of governing bodies   
Rudolf Hauser was awarded 276 shares (2008: 1 808) worth CHF 29 228, valued 
at the average share price of CHF 105.90 for the year, on a pro rata basis  
under the long­term incentive plan for his previous service as executive chair­
man of the board until April 2007. No current or other former directors, 
group management members or persons connected with them received any 
additional remuneration, fees or loans during the year.
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Directors’ remuneration

CHF 1 000 Year
Base 

salary Share awards

Share awards 
under 

long­term 
incentive plan

Social 
security 

and 
pension 
benefits

Other 
remu­

neration Total
Paid in 

cash

   Number Value Number Value     

Thomas W. Hauser, chairman 1) 2009 47.3 347 36.7 – – 9.0 12.7 105.7 60.0

 2008 – 491 51.6 – – 6.2 11.8 69.6 11.8

Rolf Broglie, deputy chairman 1) 2009 54.3 300 31.8 – – 8.6 12.7 107.4 67.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Ernst Bärtschi 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 7.1 12.0 79.2 42.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Thomas W. Bechtler 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 7.1 12.0 79.2 42.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Claude R. Cornaz 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.1 2.0 68.2 32.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Anita Hauser 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.1 2.0 68.2 32.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Heinrich Spoerry 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.6 7.0 73.7 37.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Kurt E. Siegenthaler 2) 2009 110.0 800 84.7 675 71.5 22.6 11.8 300.6 121.8

 2008 120.0 561 58.9 726 76.2 21.0 13.6 289.7 133.6

Erwin Stoller 2) 2009 – 600 63.5 – – 7.4 11.2 82.1 11.2

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Total for directors 2009 361.6 3 467 367.2 675 71.5 80.6 83.4 964.3 445.0

 2008 120.0 3 999 419.9 726 76.2 65.7 78.0 759.8 198.0
1)  Since 1 September 2009.
2) Until 31 August 2009.

Under the remuneration regulations in force for 2008, the directors who resigned from the board 
on 31 August 2009 received a pro rata fee for 2009 and were not paid termination benefits. 

Share awards to directors comprised directors’ fees. The shares awarded under the long­term 
incentive plan to the chairman who resigned from the board during the year are based on the 
achievement of targets in the period 2007 to 2009 (2008: 2006 to 2008). In 2009, the share awards 
were based on and valued at the average share price of CHF 105.90 for the year. Until 2008, the shares 
were valued at the year­end share price. Other remuneration included expenses and fees for 
service on the board committees.

Remuneration and interests of directors and group management members
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Group management remuneration

CHF 1 000 Year
Base 

salary Bonus

Share awards 
under 

long­term 
incentive plan

Share options 
under 

option plan

Social 
security 

and  
pension 
benefits

Other 
remu­

neration Total
Paid in 

cash

    Number Value Number Value     

Philip Mosimann, CEO 2009 700.2 267.6 4 960 525.3 3 600 131.2 256.6 19.2 1 900.1 987.0

 2008 700.2 392.1 7 264 762.7 3 600 150.4 275.1 19.2 2 299.7 1 111.5

Other members 2009 2 129.8 676.7 3 476 368.1 14 400 524.7 811.8 30.0 4 541.1 2 836.5

 2008 2 148.3 998.3 2 178 228.7 14 400 601.5 839.1 30.0 4 845.9 3 176.6

Total for group management 2009 2 830.0 944.3 8 436 893.4 18 000 655.9 1 068.4 49.2 6 441.2 3 823.5

 2008 2 848.5 1 390.4 9 442 991.4 18 000 751.9 1 114.2 49.2 7 145.6 4 288.1

The shares awarded to group management under the long­term incentive plan are based on  
the achievement of targets in the period 2007 to 2009 (2008: 2006 to 2008). In 2009, the share 
awards were based on and valued at the average share price of CHF 105.90 for the year. 
Until 2008, the shares were valued at the year­end share price. In the reporting year, the 
share option plans were valued using the so­called Enhanced American model (EA model)  
for the first time. They were previously valued using the Black­Scholes model. The average 
fair value of all share options at the grant date was CHF 36.44 (2008: CHF 41.77). As the  
exercise of options is staggered over a four­year period, their fair values range between  
CHF 34.20 for the first tranche and CHF 38.33 for the fourth tranche.

Directors’ interests in shares at 31 December

 Number of shares

 2009 2008

Thomas W. Hauser, chairman 1 070 060 1 069 569

Rolf Broglie, deputy chairman 12 039 11 618

Ernst Bärtschi 2 494 2 073

Thomas W. Bechtler 4 061 2 278

Claude R. Cornaz 7 814 7 393

Anita Hauser 100 876 100 455

Heinrich Spoerry 1 568 1 147

Total for directors 1 198 912 1 194 533

The directors did not hold any share options on 31 December 2009.
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Group management’s interests in shares and share options at 31 December

  Number of shares Number of options

  2009 2008 2009 2008

Philip Mosimann CEO 37 940 30 676 15 300 11 700

Roger Baillod CFO 10 054 10 291 9 000 6 600

Jean-Pierre Bernheim Bucher Process 7 994 7 631 12 000 11 475

Michael Häusermann Bucher Municipal 4 859 3 596 12 000 10 500

Martin Jetter Emhart Glass 959 596 10 200 7 800

Michel Siebert Kuhn Group 1 844 1 221 10 200 8 250

Daniel Waller Bucher Hydraulics 4 599 4 236 12 000 10 500

Total for group management 68 249 58 247 80 700 66 825

  Number of options

Grant year 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total

Exercise price (CHF) 115.00 149.00 221.00 116.00 108.00  
Staggered vesting over 4 years 2010–2013 2009–2012 2008–2011 2007–2010 2006–2009  
Life (years) 10 10 10 10 10  

Philip Mosimann CEO 3 600 3 600 3 600 2 700 1 800 15 300

Roger Baillod CFO 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 200 600 9 000

Jean-Pierre Bernheim Bucher Process 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Michael Häusermann Bucher Municipal 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Martin Jetter Emhart Glass 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 800 1 200 10 200

Michel Siebert Kuhn Group 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 800 1 200 10 200

Daniel Waller Bucher Hydraulics 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Total for group management 18 000 18 000 18 000 14 700 12 000 80 700

Each option entitles the holder to purchase one share.
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Investor relations

At 31 December   2009  2008 2007 2006 2005

         

Share capital         

Registered shares         

Par value  CHF 0.20  0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

In issue and ranking for dividend number 10 565 900  10 565 900 10 565 900 10 565 900 10 565 900

Authorised but unissued number 1 184 100  1 184 100 1 184 100 1 184 100 1 184 100

Treasury shares  number 564 765  597 315 630 057 689 590 743 120

Issued share capital  CHF million 2.1  2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1

         

Market capitalisation and dividends       

Market capitalisation  CHF million 1 186.6  1 109.4 2 757.7 1 397.9 1 107.3

As % of equity  % 152  133 320 195 175

Gross dividend per registered share CHF 2.00 1)  4.50 5.00 2.50 2.10

Total dividend  CHF million 21.1 1)  47.5 52.8 26.4 22.2

Payout ratio  % n.a. 1) 32.7 30.9 27.7 25.8

         

Per share data 1)         

Profit for the year         

Basic earnings per share CHF – 2.6  14.4 17.1 9.6 8.7

Diluted earnings per share CHF – 2.6  14.3 16.9 9.5 8.7

Cash flow  CHF 23.9  10.3 16.8 15.7 11.6

Equity  CHF 73.9  79.1 81.7 67.8 59.8

Year high  CHF 126.9  305.5 287.0 134.0 110.5

Year low  CHF 69.0  88.9 134.0 94.0 50.2

Year-end price  CHF 112.3  105.0 261.0 132.3 104.8

Average price  CHF 105.9  214.0 198.1 115.7 86.4

Average yield  % 1.9 1) 2.1 2.5 2.2 2.4

Average daily trading volume number 18 331  23 166 19 731 16 992 17 801

Price/earnings ratio (year-end price)  – 43.1  7.3 15.3 13.9 12.0
1)  Proposal by the board of directors.
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Financial 
calendar

Stock exchange 
listing

Contact 

Philip Mosimann, CEO
Roger Baillod, CFO

Bucher Industries AG
Murzlenstrasse 80
CH-8166 Niederweningen
Phone +41 43 815 80 80
Fax +41 43 815 80 81
info@bucherind.com
www.bucherind.com

Share price 
performance
CHF

Bucher registered share
Swiss Performance Index

Jan 2009 April July October Jan 2010

The registered shares of CHF 0.20 each are listed on the main board of the SIX 
Swiss Exchange:

Security No. 243217

ISIN  CH0002432174

SiX Swiss Exchange BUCN

Reuters BUCN.S

Bloomberg BUCN SW

The registered shares are also traded on the over-the counter markets of the 
following stock exchanges: Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Berlin, XETRA.

Annual general meeting (Mövenpick Hotel, Regensdorf) 15 April 2010 4.00 pm

Dividend payment 22 April 2010

Release of first quarter 2010 group sales 27 April 2010

Interim report 2010 10 August 2010

Release of third quarter 2010 group sales 27 October 2010

Release of 2010 group sales 2 February 2011

Annual press conference 16 March 2011 9.00 am

Annual analyst conference 16 March 2011 2.30 pm

Mailing of annual report 2010 25 March 2011

Annual general meeting (Mövenpick Hotel, Regensdorf) 14 April 2011 4.00 pm

First trading date ex-dividend 18 April 2011

Dividend payment 21 April 2011

Release of first quarter 2011 group sales 28 April 2011

Interim report 2011 9 August 2011

Release of third quarter 2011 group sales 27 October 2011
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Kuhn Group

Did you see any positive aspects to last year’s crisis?

Besides contending with the difficult business situation,  
we succeeded in integrating two acquisitions into Kuhn Group. 
That’s something we can be proud of. Our corporate project 
entitled ONE, which networks all Kuhn companies worldwide into  
a cohesive whole, proved to be an ideal strategic management  
tool. Closeness to customers and the workforce was very important 
because a crisis also evokes anxiety, such as the employees’  
insecurity about losing their jobs or not being up to the challenge. 
Communication (employing “ONE”) was also crucial here.



“We have adjusted well to  
 the low level and are geared 
 for an upturn ahead.”

How did your dealers support you during the crisis? 

It was heartening to see the customer loyalty across the dealer 
network. The dealers played an active role and shared risks. Despite 
the crisis, some of them included our new products in their sales 
mix. Added to that, the dealers kept us informed of inventory levels 
and the demand situation on the part of final customers.

What will you pay special attention to in future?

Production planning is getting more and more difficult. Changes 
affecting farmers have an ever faster and more direct impact on us. 
We feel the effects of falling prices for milk, meat and animal feed  
on almost all five continents simultaneously. With the increasing 
volatility also seen in the agricultural machinery market, we have  
to keep improving, regardless of how good we are today. This applies 
across the board to every activity in the company.

Michel Siebert, Kuhn Group division president
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Kuhn Group

Geographical analysis

Key figures

Number of 
employees

Net sales

Kuhn Group is the world’s leading manufacturer of specialised agri cultural 
machinery for tillage, seeding, fertilisation, spraying, landscape mainte-
nance, hay and forage harvesting, livestock bedding and feeding. Its wide 
range of products is tailored to suit the needs of all agricultural op e rations 
worldwide, including large farms and contractors. The  division has pro- 
duction facilities located in France, the Netherlands, the USA and  Brazil.

In 2009, Kuhn Group generated sales of CHF 948 million, a decrease of 14% 
or, excluding currency effects and acquisitions, 23% from the high figure a 
year earlier. Operating profit before impairment charges fell by 48% to  
CHF 71 million. With the credit crunch and lower prices for agricultural pro- 
duce, farmers saw their income dwindle, which severely dampened their 
capital spending. As a result, order intake dropped by 40% to CHF 735 million. 
Excluding acquisitions, manpower was reduced by 19% or 665 full-time 
equivalents compared with 2008. Kuhn Group’s share of group sales increased 
to 44% (2008: 39%). 

Activities

Highlights

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Order intake 735.4 1 224.0

Net sales 948.4 1 105.6

Order book 246.0 432.2

Operating profit (EBITDA) 109.4 157.0

Operating profit (EBIT) before impairment 71.1 136.9

Operating profit (EBIT) 7.4 136.9

Number of employees at 31 December 3 152 3 563

Average number of employees during year 3 438 3 384

Other  5%

Netherlands  8%

North America  12%

France  63%

Other  2%
Asia  3%

Americas  19%

Europe  76%

Brazil  12%
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Market environment   By comparison with other industrial operations, agri-
cultural machinery manufacturers had a brief respite before the economic 
crisis hit all their major sales markets. In the CIS countries, demand for farm 
machinery ground to a virtual halt due to the banks’ restrictive lending 
practices and the lack of commitment by government export insurance agen-
cies. In addition, imports there from the euro zone were severely hampered  
by the devaluation of local currencies. Although these factors had less of an 
impact in Western Europe and the USA, the farmers’ low level of capital 
spending was clearly felt as agricultural income dropped, sometimes mas-
sively, mainly due to the considerably lower prices of agricultural produce  
and staple foods. Dairy farming was affected in particular because of plum-
meting milk prices. Exports out of the euro zone were additionally weighed 
down by the weak US dollar.
 
Performance   Unable to escape the global slowdown in demand, Kuhn Group 
generated CHF 948.4 million in sales of specialised agricultural machinery. 
The acquired Kuhn-Geldrop baler business and the sprayers from Kuhn-
Blanchard SAS contributed 16.3% of sales. Operating profit before impair-
ment charges fell by 48.1% to CHF 71.1 million. Due to the dramatic change 
in world economic conditions and the anticipated slow and sluggish 
 re covery, goodwill impairment charges of CHF 63.7 million were necessary 
for Kuhn-Geldrop, Netherlands, and Kuhn do Brasil, Brazil. This amount 
represented the entire remaining goodwill of Kuhn do Brasil and 82.1% of 
Kuhn-Geldrop’s. Nevertheless, Kuhn Group still posted an operating profit  
of CHF 7.4 million. Order intake decreased by 39.9% to CHF 735.4 million due 
to the sharp cutback in capital spending and cancellations of orders placed 
the year before. The distinctly weaker demand especially affected products 
in the hay and forage harvesting, livestock bedding and feeding segments, 
also impacting tillage machinery late in the year. Farmers in the USA responded 
immediately to the slump in prices of dairy and other staple food products,  
reducing their capacities and slashing their capital spending. Reactions in 
Western Europe were not quite so extreme. The South American market was 
weakened by the lack of credit and some droughts. With the unexpectedly 
sharp plunge in demand, importers and dealers world-wide were left with  
excessively high inventories, which continued to slow down the intake of orders 
for new machinery. Through excellent production management and intensive 
collaboration with dealers, Kuhn Group managed to largely align inventories 
to demand during the year.

Measures to maintain profitability   Kuhn Group responded to the sharp 
 decline in volume with a number of measures. Its flexible set-up structurally 
geared to seasonal business, with a large contingent of temporary workers 
and high proportion of component suppliers, allowed the division to reduce 
its worldwide manpower, excluding acquisitions, by about 19% or 665 full-
time equivalents during the year without incurring extra costs. In addition, 
the division continuously and proactively adjusted its production planning 

Division management

Michel Siebert, 
division president

Jean-Luc Collin, 
production

Jeannot Hironimus,
research and development

Dominique Schneider, 
finance and controlling

Roland Rieger, 
sales

Philippe Lang,
supply chain

Hervé Arlot,
Kuhn-Huard SA

Didier Vallat, 
Kuhn-Audureau SA

Dominique Devillers,
Kuhn-Blanchard SAS

Gita Hoogeveen,
Kuhn-Geldrop B.V.

Thierry Krier, 
Kuhn North America, Inc.

Mario Wagner,
Kuhn do Brasil S/A

At 8 March 2010
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for new machinery to the lower order intake, thereby reducing its inven-
tories and those held by importers and dealers to an acceptable level. While 
capital investments were cut to the bone, expenditure on research and 
 development remained at a comparably high level.
 
Integration of acquisitions   An important task was the integration of the 
sprayers purchased from French-based Blanchard SAS in November 2008 and 
the Geldrop manufacturing plant for balers, bale wrappers and other hay  
and forage harvesting machinery acquired in the Netherlands in February 2009. 
The entire workforce, also including employees new to Kuhn Group, were 
highly motivated and implemented the ambitious integration objectives at  
a brisk pace. Besides focusing on in-house operations, Kuhn Group gave  
top priority to distribution. The sprayers and balers were integrated into Kuhn’s 
worldwide network of dealers right away, while balers and other products 
from the Kuhn-Geldrop plant will also be marketed through the old sales chan-
nels over a transitional period until August 2010. 

Product innovations   During 2009, Kuhn Group once again launched more 
than 30 new products in all product categories. The portfolio was extended 
with the line of Kuhn-Blanchard sprayers and line of Kuhn-Geldrop balers and 
drum mowers. The division was already able to realise the first synergies 
 between the Kuhn-Geldrop and Kuhn Saverne series of mowers. In the area  
of electronics, Kuhn Group worked together with five other leading European 
agricultural machinery manufacturers and developed a universal ISOBUS 
 terminal allowing user-friendly operation of ISOBUS-compatible agricultural 
machinery. The terminal concept was awarded a gold medal at Agritechnica  
in Hanover, the world’s largest exhibition for agricultural machinery. 

Net sales
CHF million 

Operating 
profit (EBITDA)  
CHF million 
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Outlook for 2010   The financial crisis with the credit crunch in Western 
 Europe, Eastern Europe and North America is expected to continue during 
2010. Although the prices of milk and other staple foods have recovered 
slightly from their lows, they are likely to remain at depressed levels and not 
bring a significant improvement in farmers’ income. Agricultural machinery 
manufacturers therefore anticipate another dip in demand in the first half of 
2010, but do not rule out a restrained recovery in capital spending during  
the second half of the year. Coupled with the elevated inventories held by 
manufacturers and their distribution channels, this situation is likely to  
uphold the fierce competitive and pricing pressure. Despite the difficult 
market conditions and assuming that producer prices at least remain stable, 
Kuhn Group expects 2010 sales and operating profit to be in the region of last 
year’s figure, excluding the 2009 impairment charges.

Average number 
of employees 
during year
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Bucher Municipal

What were you pleased with despite the difficult situation?

The commitment and performance of the whole team was tremen-
dous. Everyone pulled their weight and helped each other. And some 
areas of the business performed very well. One example was the local 
company in Australia which achieved the best result in its history.

What action did you take to make sure that your product portfolio would with-
stand the competitive pressure?

Despite the crisis, we did not cut back on developing new products. 
On the contrary, we actually forced the pace of product innovation, 
knowing that this is vital to our future. During 2009, we not only 
launched new products on the market, but ushered in the future 
with the prototype of a compact sweeper powered by hydrogen and 
fuel cell technology.



“Bad times are always followed 
 by better times. We’re well  
 prepared and looking forward 
 to them.”

Michael Häusermann, Bucher Municipal division president

What lessons did you learn in 2009?

We initiated the cost containment and personnel measures  
very early on, put them in place at the right time and strictly followed 
the action plan drawn up. Some of our managers called their 
employees together once a week to keep them informed about the 
current situation, order position and forthcoming projects. The 
workforce greatly appreciated this frankness despite the bad news. 
This is already the third or fourth crisis I have witnessed – but  
none has ever been so acute. It took me some time to grasp the full 
ramifications of the situation. Yet in the end, we defied these 
difficult times and also came to see the crisis as an opportunity to 
shape the future.
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Bucher Municipal

Key figures

Geographical analysis

Number of 
employees

Net sales

Bucher Municipal is a world leading supplier of municipal vehicles for clean-
ing and removing snow from public and private areas. Its range of products  
encompasses compact and truck mounted sweepers, winter maintenance 
equipment and refuse collection vehicles. Since January 2010 the Swiss  
distributorship business for tractors and agricultural machinery has been 
under the management of the newly established Bucher Special segment 
which includes several independent businesses. The division has production 
facilities located in Switzerland, Germany, the UK, Italy, Denmark, Latvia, 
Australia and South Korea. 

Bucher Municipal generated sales of CHF 452 million for 2009, a year-on-year 
decline of 22% or currency-adjusted 17%. Order intake fell by 17% to  
CHF 437 million. Operating profit before restructuring costs was down 21% to 
CHF 30 million. The restructuring costs incurred in concentrating production of 
the Bucher Schörling brand in Switzerland and Latvia amounted to CHF 10 mil-
lion. Compared with 2008, manpower was reduced by 12% or 178 full-time 
equivalents. Bucher Municipal accounted for 21% of group sales (2008: 21%). 

Activities

Highlights

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Order intake 436.5 528.4

Net sales 452.1 579.1

Order book 91.0 114.5

Operating profit (EBITDA) before restructuring 38.5 50.9

Operating profit (EBIT) before restructuring 30.4 38.0

Operating profit (EBIT) 20.4 38.0

Number of employees at 31 December 1 365 1 543

Average number of employees during year 1 422 1 569
1)  Including impairment charge of CHF 4.7 million.

Other  2%

Europe  79%

Switzerland  21%

Switzerland  23%

UK  28%

Australia  19%

Other  3%

Germany  12%

Italy  7%
Australia  15%

Denmark  5%
Latvia  3%Asia  4%

1)
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Market environment   The economic and financial crisis also had an impact 
on the more stable municipal vehicle segment. Demand in the Euro pean 
sweeper market contracted by around 22%. As the market leader, Bucher 
Municipal was not left untouched. In particular, private contractors which 
provide cleaning services to local authorities were very quick to  respond to 
the economic slump, deferring projects and slashing capital spending. City  
and local councils underpinned demand by going ahead with the planned 
projects as normal. Since government economic stimulus packages did  
not extend to the municipal vehicle market, they had no impact. Demand 
collapsed almost entirely in Eastern Europe due to a lack of financing.  
Competitors’ excess capacities heightened the pricing pressure in bidding 
for major contracts. The British pound and Australian dollar continued to  
slide and adversely affected the performance figures in Swiss francs.

Performance   Bucher Municipal reported a decrease of 21.9% or currency-
adjusted 16.6% in sales for the year to CHF 452.1 million. Order intake 
 declined somewhat less sharply by 17.4% to CHF 436.5 million, with the mar-
ket stabilising at this level. Operating profit came in at CHF 20.4 million, 
weighed down by CHF 10 million in restructuring costs incurred in closing 
down the truck mounted sweeper assembly operations at the German plant  
in Hanover and transferring them to the Niederweningen plant in Switzerland. 
Being well positioned, the division managed to maintain its overall market 
strength and won more market share in operations with winter maintenance 
equipment, especially in Germany. 

Measures to maintain profitability   Bucher Municipal responded early to 
the anticipated decline in business volume by reducing temporary jobs and 
overtime, flexitime and holiday balances, along with a few redundancies.  
A viable structure for the future was established in the course of the Hanover 
restructuring project. In total, Bucher Municipal reduced manpower by 
11.5% or 178 full-time equivalents compared with 2008 without compro-
mising its future prospects or product development.

Focus on the future   During the year, Bucher Municipal put in place optimal 
structures to defend and expand its leading market position in future. The 
Hanover facility was transformed into a sales and service organisation for 
Germany, while the purchasing and assembly operations for truck mounted 
sweepers were transferred from Hanover to Niederweningen in Switzerland. 
This relocation allowed production processes to be optimised and efficiency 
to be increased. At the same time, the division accelerated the expansion  
of its low-cost component and assembly plant in Latvia, planning some 
CHF 6 million in capital investments. Truck mounted sweeper production in 
Niederweningen already started in January 2010. The  restructuring project  
involved a reduction of about 70 full-time equivalent jobs in Hanover at a cost 
of CHF 10 million.

Division management

Michael Häusermann,  
division president

Jürg Hauser,  
finance and controlling

Stefan Söhlemann,
Bucher Schörling

Coen van Rosmalen,
Johnston Sweepers Ltd.

Peter Rhodes,
Beam A/S

David Waldron,
MacDonald Johnston Ltd.

Michael Häusermann (ad interim),
Winter maintenance

Guido Giletta,  
Giletta S.p.A.

Wilfried Müller,
Gmeiner GmbH

At 8 March 2010
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Bucher Landtechnik   Despite the difficult market environment, the leading 
Swiss distributorship for tractors, agricultural machinery, farm loaders and  
bi-directional compact tractors continued to consolidate its market  position 
by implementing a targeted multi-brand strategy and expanding the net-
work of dealers across Switzerland. Employing 47 people, Bucher Landtechnik 
generated CHF 65.7 million in sales, with order intake matching the previous 
year’s level at CHF 65.6 million. In October 2009, it presented a number of 
new products at “Bucher in Action” in Niederweningen, Switzerland’s largest 
agricultural machinery show. Since 1 January 2010, the distributorship busi-
ness has been under the management of the newly established Bucher  
Specials segment. 

Product innovation and sustainability   In summer 2009, the world’s first 
hydrogen-driven sweeper powered by fuel cell technology, the Bucher 
CityCat H2, was unveiled in Basel and attracted great public interest. This 
environmentally friendly, low-CO2 high-tech compact sweeper was devel-
oped under the leadership of Swiss research institutions Empa and the Paul 
Scherrer Institute in collaboration with Bucher Schörling and other industrial 
partners. It is now undergoing operational testing in normal everyday use 
for a total period of 18 months. The Bucher CityCat H2 is serving as a long-
term development platform for zero-emission, fully electric drive technolo-
gies. Another contribution to reducing emissions was the conversion of 
all the compact and truck mounted sweepers to Euro 5, the most stringent 
environmental standard today.

Net sales
CHF million 

Operating 
profit (EBITDA)  
CHF million
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Outlook for 2010   With the emission reductions, modernisation of sweeper 
fleets and the harsh winter of 2009/2010, this year’s overall demand for 
 municipal vehicles should remain at last year’s level. There is great uncertainty 
surrounding the effects of the enormous national debt and the antici pated 
decline in government tax revenues. The division still considers it unlikely 
that programmes to boost the economy will stimulate demand. Excluding 
the CHF 10 million in restructuring costs during 2009 and the contribution 
of the Bucher Landtechnik distributorship, Bucher Municipal expects 2010 
sales to be in the region of last year, with a slight improvement in profitability.
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Bucher Process

What measures did you take to combat the economic situation?

We laid out as realistic a scenario as possible, which showed us 
clearly and in no uncertain terms what we would be up against. That 
allowed us to initiate the restructuring back in March and promptly 
 go ahead with it. Since we know the market so well, our scenario 
turned out to be true. We had to close down two manufacturing 
facilities and one sales company, aligning our overhead costs to the 
businesses’ lower profit margins. At the end of the day, it was 
obvious to all of us that the market would not return to its former 
strength so quickly.



“We always told the truth and 
 that strengthened the trust in 
 our management team.”

What was the most difficult situation for you personally in 2009?

A situation I’ll never forget was standing in front of 25 employees 
and having to tell them, without any real advance warning, that the 
plant had to be closed down and all jobs would be lost. That was 
hard. These were people I’d known and worked with for ten years 
or more. That’s one of the toughest situations in a manager’s life.

Do you think you took the right decisions?

I believe that most of our decisions were on the mark. In such turbu-
lent times, it is never possible to do everything right. When making 
decisions, we always have to weigh up the pros and cons carefully. 
We had to cut our costs fast for the short term. But at the same 
time, we did not want to jeopardise our future so we went all out 
to retain our key personnel. That will always be important. And 
despite the restructuring measures, we still managed to remain close 
to our customers.

Jean-Pierre Bernheim, Bucher Process division president 
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Bucher Process

Key figures

Geographical analysis

Number of
employees

Net sales

Bucher Process is the leading international manufacturer of equipment for 
wine and fruit juice producers. Its products range from machinery for fruit 
reception, mash preparation and juice extraction to fermentation, filtration 
and adsorption systems, as well as presses adapted for dewatering sludge. 
Bucher Process operates production facilities in Switzerland, France, New  
Zealand and Chile. 

Bucher Process was unable to escape the economic crisis. The division’s sales 
decreased by 38% or currency-adjusted 35% to CHF 122 million, while  
operating profit declined by CHF 19 million year on year to CHF 5 million. 
Business in winemaking equipment saw the general restraint in capital 
spending exacerbated by early announcements of EU subsidies. No major 
orders for fruit juice equipment materialised. Bucher Process recorded order  
intake of CHF 116 million, down 31% from the high level a year earlier, and 
reduced manpower by 12% or 61 full-time equivalents. The division  
accounted for 6% of group sales (2008: 7%).

Activities

Highlights

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Order intake 116.4 167.7

Net sales 122.0 195.2

Order book 33.2 40.1

Operating profit (EBITDA) 6.8 26.1

Operating profit (EBIT) 4.7 24.1

Number of employees at 31 December 459 520

Average number of employees during year 490 533

Other  5%

Asia  7%

Europe  76%

Americas  12%

Switzerland  8% Switzerland  15%

France  69%

Other  6%

 Italy  3%

Chile  7%
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Extremely troubled market environment   On top of the financial and eco-
nomic crisis, the principal markets in which Bucher Process operates were  
affected by other factors last year. Capital spending on winemaking equipment 
was curbed by the uncertainty surrounding the allocation of the European 
Union’s announced subsidies of EUR 600 million for wine production. This did 
not affect the markets in the southern hemisphere, in particular in South 
America and Australia, where demand remained strong. Customers for fruit 
juice equipment were hit hard by the banks’ extremely cautious lending 
policies and the falling world market prices for apple juice concentrate in the 
wake of overproduction during 2007 and 2008. Demand dropped dramatically 
across the globe, collapsing totally in Eastern Europe and Russia. Large projects 
were either deferred or cancelled. 

Slump in performance   Last year, Bucher Process generated sales of  
CHF 122.0 million, a decline of 37.5% or currency-adjusted 35.1% from the 
record level a year earlier. Operating profit decreased by CHF 19.4 million  
to CHF 4.7 million, and order intake was 30.6% down on the previous year at 
CHF 116.4 million. Demand for winemaking equipment remained weak in  
Europe, only picking up in the second half of the year after the peak season 
when the European Union’s subsidies began to take hold. This was too late  
to make up for the sharp slowdown in the first half of the year. The massive 
slump in fruit juice equipment was a result of a lack of funds, high inventories 
of costly apple juice concentrate and the concentrate producers’ overcapa-
cities. There were no large orders at all on the scale of those secured in 2008 
for more than CHF 40 million, and delivery of the CHF 9 million follow-up 
order from the world’s largest apple juice producer in China was postponed 
until 2011. The otherwise very stable spare parts business slowed down  
as well. On a bright note, demand for drying equipment and sludge dewatering 
systems was strong. 

Measures to maintain profitability   Faced with the sharp slowdown in its main 
markets, the division was forced to take incisive cost-cutting measures.  
The winemaking equipment business concentrated its European production 
capacities at the main plant in Chalonnes-sur-Loire. The manufacturing  
facility in Italy and the specialised plant for filtration systems in the west of 
France were closed down. While generating pure cost savings, this concen-
tration of production also led to significant efficiency enhancements by short-
ening lines of communication and rationalising operations. The business 
unit for fruit juice processing equipment has flexible structures with little 
vertical integration. Following the boom years, this set-up also stood the test 
in the crisis since no redundancies were necessary. The division’s human  
resources measures involved closing down two manufacturing facilities, 
cutting temporary jobs, reducing flexitime and overtime balances, using  
up holiday leave and starting to work short time. Compared with the end 
of 2008, Bucher Process reduced manpower by 11.7% or 61 full-time  
equivalents. 

Division management

Jean-Pierre Bernheim,  
division president

Wine production equipment
Jean-Pierre Bernheim,  
Bucher Vaslin SA

Fruit juice and drying equipment
Hartmut Haverland,  
Bucher Processtech AG

At 31 December 2009
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Successful product innovation   To improve the quality of premium red wines, 
Bucher Vaslin developed a new optical grape sorting machine capable of 
separating berries from virtually all material other than grapes with a through-
put of up to eight tonnes per hour. On the machine, the winemaker himself can 
set the parameters to define what material other than grapes is to be removed. 
The wineries’ great interest was reflected in 25 orders received within the 
first year of market launch. Another innovation was the pressing process using 
new software developed to eliminate the need to program a pressing cycle 
adapted to each grape variety. Its success in the market translated into instal-
lations in ten different countries. 

A remote access system was developed for monitoring and optimising the 
output of fruit juice and sludge dewatering equipment. After thorough testing, 
the new technology was already installed on systems on four continents. 
Product and process experts at Bucher Process can now monitor the com-
missioning and operation of the equipment online from any remote location 
without a time delay and can optimise functions or analyse and resolve any 
problems. For the production of speciality fruit juices made from pome-
granates or elderberries, Bucher Process expanded its product range with 
components for mash preparation and treatment. A new, high-performance 
stone removal system allows reliable processing of machine-picked apples 
that come with a large amount of dirt and foreign matter. 

For drying sludge, the division developed a new filter material for its sludge 
presses that is far less susceptible to clogging and has proved a success,  
especially in industrial applications and with problematic types of sludge.
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New management organisation   Since 1 January 2010, the independent 
businesses of Bucher Vaslin (wine) and Bucher Processtech (fruit juice and 
sludge dewatering) have been under the management of the new Bucher 
Specials segment, together with Bucher Landtechnik. The Group made this 
move to give more weight to the smaller individual businesses and sharpen  
the focus on the specific needs of the different customer segments. As a result, 
the Bucher Process division has been dissolved. 

Outlook for 2010   The independent businesses making up the former  
Bucher Process division, which are now grouped in Bucher Specials, do not 
expect a general improvement in economic conditions and anticipate that 
markets worldwide will remain weak during 2010. Winemaking equipment 
should experience strong growth, driven in Europe by the European Union’s 
subsidies. Interest in the successful new sludge pressing technology should 
continue to grow substantially, while demand for fruit juice equipment  
will probably remain at a low level. Overall, these independent businesses 
expect sales and operating profit to increase in 2010.
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Bucher Hydraulics

What did you focus on during 2009?

The crisis was issue number one, with personnel and cost con-
tainment measures dominating last year. The real extent of the crisis 
was not clear for a long time. We hit the bottom in mid-year  
with orders slumping by up to 70%, which faced some of our man-
ufacturing facilities with massive problems. For me personally,  
and I dare say for Bucher Hydraulics too, 2009 was by far the most 
difficult year ever.

Despite the uncertain situation, you invested in expanding a manufacturing 
facility in Switzerland with a new 4000 m2 production unit. Was that wise?

Bucher Industries has been in existence for more than 200 years, 
and Bucher Hydraulics is over 80 years old. That means we’re  
not just looking at the next two years but at long-term industrial 
growth. Hydraulic systems will always be needed, and there are  
not many companies in the world that have specialised in this area. 
So despite the bleak times, I am looking positively to the future.



“Crises spark resourcefulness.  
 Besides the obvious austerity  
 measures, we also found  
  creative ways to reduce the  
 excessively high stocks.”

Daniel Waller, Bucher Hydraulics division president

On top of the crisis, the division was hit hard by customers destocking.  
What effects did you have to contend with and what did you do to counter them?

As a component supplier, we cannot escape the inventory cycle. 
Suddenly, everything was a few sizes too big: our machinery, 
workforce, inventories, purchases from suppliers, etc. We took 
obvious measures, such as short-time working, reducing tem-
porary workers, untaken holidays and flexitime balances, and also 
implemented more creative solutions. Since both we and our 
customers carried high inventories, we modified ready assembled 
products that we had in stock so that the parts could be reused  
for other applications. We learned a lot during the year – and will 
continue to apply what we learned in the future.
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Bucher Hydraulics

Key figures

Geographical analysis

Net sales Number of
employees

Bucher Hydraulics is an international leader in the design and manufacture  
of custom mobile and industrial hydraulic system solutions. Its wide array 
of products encompasses pumps, motors, valves, power units, elevator drives 
and control systems with integrated electronics. With manufacturing  
facilities in Europe, the USA, China and India, Bucher  Hydraulics is never  
far from its customers around the world. 

As a component supplier, Bucher Hydraulics was particularly hard hit by  
the economic downturn. Sales fell by 36% or currency-adjusted 34% year 
on year to CHF 320 million. Operating profit before impairment charges  
was CHF 14 million, down by CHF 43 million from the previous year’s level. 
Order intake decreased by 42% to CHF 277 million. Compared with 2008, 
the division reduced manpower by 21% or 347 full-time equivalents. Its con-
tribution to group sales was 15% (2008: 18%). 

Activities

Highlights

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Order intake 276.7 472.9

Net sales 319.8 497.0

Order book 45.6 85.4

Operating profit (EBITDA) 33.9 76.3

Operating profit (EBIT) before impairment 13.7 56.4

Operating profit (EBIT) – 8.5 31.2

Number of employees at 31 December 1 317 1 664

Average number of employees during year 1 340 1 614

Germany  30%

Switzerland  31%

Other  2%

Asia  8%

Italy  12%

Europe  68%

Other  1%

Americas  20%
Switzerland  5%

Asia  11%

Americas  17%



Bucher annual report 2009

55

Market environment   The economic downturn that began in the last quarter 
of 2008 accelerated distinctly during the year. Demand in the main  markets  
of Western Europe, North America and China collapsed simulta neously, affect-
ing all the key market segments. Business activity in China came to a  
virtual standstill in the first six months but recovered relatively quickly in 
the second half of the year. The downturn in all segments of the West Euro-
pean and North American markets, but especially in construction equipment, 
materials handling and general mechanical engineering, was exacerbated  
by the effect of destocking. Having remained surprisingly stable at a very high 
level until January 2009, agricultural machinery also took a steep plunge  
after a brief respite. The power engineering and elevator hydraulics segments 
were also impacted, albeit to a lesser degree. According to the statistics  
of the German Engineering Federation (VDMA), the slowdown in the market 
reached its nadir around mid-year, with a contraction of up to a 70%. Added to 
that, customers took longer than expected to reduce their inventory levels, 
with destocking lasting until the end of 2009 because of the very low sales 
volume. The downhill slide did not stabilise until the third quarter, and the 
important segments of construction equipment and general mechanical engi-
neering only started to recover slightly at a low level during the fourth 
quarter of the year. 

Business performance   Starting the year with a healthy order book, Bucher 
Hydraulics generated CHF 319.8 million in sales of custom hydraulic system 
solutions amid a severe market meltdown. This was a decrease of 35.7%,  
or 34.0% excluding the impact of currency movements and 37.1% excluding 
acquisitions. Order intake fell to CHF 276.7 million, a decline of 41.5% 
 additionally exacerbated by order cancellations at the beginning of the year. 
The division’s sales and order intake outpaced the rates shown in the VDMA 
statistics, attesting to the excellent market position held by Bucher Hydraulics. 
Operating profit before impairment charges came in at CHF 13.7 million, 
weighed down by inventory write-downs of CHF 6.9 million due to the ex-
tremely strict valuation criteria and steep drop in sales. Due to the dra- 
matic market slump and the prospect of only a slow recovery of the North 
American markets, charges of CHF 22.2 million were recognised for impairment, 
 writing off all the division’s goodwill associated with the US companies 
 acquired in 2008, Monarch Hydraulics and Command Controls Corp.  
After impairment charges, an operating loss of CHF 8.5 million was posted. 

Measures to maintain profitability   Bucher Hydraulics responded fast and 
prudently to the massive slump in orders. As an immediate measure, it 
 reduced overtime, flexitime and holiday balances across all company func-
tions and introduced short-time working at all its main plants. Regrettably, 
this was not sufficient to adjust capacities so redundancies were necessary. 
The division improved its structure by stopping production in Rixheim, 
France, and transferring these operations to other plants. Compared with 
2008, Bucher Hydraulics reduced manpower by 20.9% or 347 full-time 

Division management

Daniel Waller,  
division president

Matthias Vorbeck,  
sales

Uwe Kronmüller,  
Bucher Hydraulics GmbH

Luca Bergonzini,  
Bucher Hydraulics S.p.A.

Christian-Erik Thöny,  
Bucher Hydraulics AG

Aurelio Lemos,  
Bucher Hydraulics AG Frutigen

Dan Vaughan,  
Bucher Hydraulics North America

At 8 March 2010
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equivalents. Through systematic and disciplined production planning,  
the division was able to align its own inventories to sales in the second half 
of the year. The capacity adjustment measures implemented were carefully 
evaluated so as to meet short-term needs without compromising long-term 
development, thus maintaining the vital knowledge and expertise base to 
ride the next upswing. Despite the incisive measures taken, the fast de livery 
capability that is so important for component suppliers was not affected. 

Modernisation and expansion of production   Despite the economic crisis 
and poor order situation, the division invested confidently in the future. 
Having been planned during the boom year of 2008, the expansion of the 
Neuheim factory in Switzerland went ahead in its entirety with just a very  
few cutbacks. The new 4000m2 production unit featuring state-of-the-art 
manufacturing infrastructure was completed in the rough during the year.  
The manufacturing equipment will be installed this year, with production 
scheduled to start in the second half of 2010. This anti-cyclical approach 
demonstrates the great confidence placed in the Neuheim facility and in 
the expected improvements in production processes.

Product innovation   Products from Bucher Hydraulics play a significant role 
in wind and solar power generation. Intelligent and energy-efficient hydraulic 
drive systems for wind farms have been successfully used by many customers 
for quite some time now. Building on its experience in wind farms, the  
division developed new and innovative hydraulic solutions for controlling panels 
of large-scale solar power stations, which were put into commercial use  
for the first time during the year. Valve technology optimised specifically for 
this particular area of applications allows the large parabolic dishes to be 
precisely positioned and exactly track the sun’s movements. 
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Outlook for 2010   The recession in Western Europe should bottom out,  
with customers’ finishing their destocking and starting to unleash their pent-
up demand. This gives the division hope that demand in that region may 
stabilise at a low level. In North America, where the first signs of recovery 
already appeared in the fourth quarter of 2009, the division anticipates 
 continued but slow growth in 2010. Demand in China is expected to pick 
up, in particular in the construction equipment and power engineering 
 sectors. Against this backdrop, Bucher Hydraulics anticipates that it will be 
able to stop short-time work during the second quarter of 2010. If this 
 prediction of demand proves to be inaccurate or is only partially accurate, 
more job cuts cannot be ruled out. Based on these assumptions, the  division 
expects 2010 sales to be slightly higher than last year, with operating profit 
up on a pre-impairment basis. 
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Emhart Glass

What was your biggest challenge in 2009?

Emhart Glass enjoyed a boom from 2006 to 2008. Adjusting 
 ourselves and the whole company to the downturn brought us 
down to earth with a bump. We had to change our culture  
and way of thinking. That was an emotional challenge, not just  
for the management.

What was the most difficult moment?

After the first slump hit the glass industry in September 2008,  
we thought the bottom had been reached in early 2009 and our 
austerity measures would be sufficient. But in mid-year, it became 
clear that a second slump was yet to come and would hold  
back the industry’s recovery. Bracing ourselves for another round  
of cost-cutting was difficult.



“Forthrightness and trans - 
 parency – we did our best to  
 tell the workforce what  
 was happening on all fronts.”

What pleased you most despite the challenging business situation?

Our employees’ willingness and commitment to get on with the 
tough restructuring was impressive. And what also came unex-
pectedly for me was how well they understood that sacrifices had 
to be made together. This was very encouraging for me and even 
enabled us to significantly beat the cost targets for 2009. We did 
not try to gloss over anything. That created trust and an under-
standing that we were all in the same boat. And so the situation 
built a certain solidarity. We realised that the crisis year was an 
opportunity.

Martin Jetter, Emhart Glass division president
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Emhart Glass

Key figures

Geographical analysis

Number of
employees 

Net sales

Emhart Glass is the world’s leading supplier of advanced technologies for 
manufacturing and inspecting glass containers. Its portfolio encompasses 
glass forming and inspection machinery, systems, components, spare parts, 
advice and services for the glass container industry. The division’s manu-
facturing facilities are located in Sweden, the USA, Italy and  Malaysia.  
Emhart Glass is headquartered in Switzerland and has a research and devel-
opment center in the USA. 

Emhart Glass was hit hard by the economic downturn due to the high  capital 
intensity of the glass container industry. Sales fell by 27% or currency- 
adjusted 24% to CHF 304 million, and order intake was down 42% year on 
year at CHF 232 million. Operating profit came in at CHF 12 million, a  
decrease of CHF 23 million from the previous year’s record figure. Last year 
was marked by great uncertainty, leading to projects and orders being  
defer red, scaled back or cancelled. Compared with 2008, the division reduced 
manpower by 18% or 193 full-time equivalents. It accounted for 14% of  
group sales (2008: 15%).

Activities

Highlights

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Order intake 232.4 398.9

Net sales 303.7 418.3

Order book 91.5 171.2

Operating profit (EBITDA) 21.3 44.4

Operating profit (EBIT) 12.2 35.0

Number of employees at 31 December 871 1 064

Average number of employees during year 909 1 058

Other  1%

Europe  48%

Americas  18%

Asia  24%

Africa  9%

Americas  30%

Sweden   44%

Other  6%
Italy  4%

Asia  8%

Switzerland  8%
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Highly depressed market environment   Following the recent years of con­
tinuously rising investment in equipment for glass container manufacturing, 
which reached a peak in 2008, capital spending plummeted last year. Glass 
container manufacturers worldwide saw their capacity utilisation rates drop 
rapidly and steeply, exerting pressure on prices of glass containers. In ad­
dition, capital spending was inhibited by the credit crunch, especially in the 
second half of the year and in Eastern Europe. Customers across the globe 
 deferred, scaled back and cancelled projects and orders, facing manufacturers 
with considerable capacity utilisation problems. East European countries 
were hit particularly hard, with some currencies drastically losing value. 

Slowdown in performance   Emhart Glass held its ground in a turbulent 
market environment disrupted by the economic crisis. Sales decreased  
by 27.4% or currency­adjusted 23.6% to CHF 303.7 million, with operating 
profit falling by CHF 22.8 million from the previous year’s high level to  
CHF 12.2 million. The decline in profitability was due to the steep drop in 
business volume, the fierce competitive pressure and the product mix. 
 Order intake was down 41.7% year on year at CHF 232.4 million. 

Customers across all regions were affected almost simultaneously by the 
 onset of the economic crisis and consequently responded sharply. Projects 
and orders in hand kept being scaled back, deferred or, in some cases, 
 cancelled. Several new machines manufactured were no longer able to be 
delivered because the banks suddenly held back even with financing  
already promised. This caused inventories to swell and posed great challenges 
in production planning. With its highly flexible workforce, Emhart Glass 
 mastered this difficult task successfully. Underpinned by the large number 
of machines installed, service and spare parts sales remained steady in  
the first six months but, even in this normally very stable business, Emhart 
Glass felt the impact of the low capacity utilisation of its customers’ pro­
duction lines during the second half of the year.

Measures to maintain profitability   To counter the abrupt collapse of the 
global market and its own low capacity utilisation, Emhart Glass took  
all possible action to reduce costs. However, this had no effect on the long­
term innovation and product development projects or the forward­looking 
project for tempered glass containers. The division reduced capacities at all 
its plants and facilities. The unavoidable reduction in manpower affected  
all levels of hierarchy and especially overhead operations. Compared with the 
year before, altogether 18.1% or 193 full­time equivalent jobs were lost.  
By implementing the cost­cutting measures extremely consistently, the 
 division lowered its break­even point significantly. Even though it has been 
 investing in the future ever since 2006 by acquiring an inspection machinery 
manufacturer, erecting an assembly plant on a greenfield site in Malaysia 
and building the Research Center in the USA, Emhart Glass reduced costs and 
the headcount to the 2006 level. 

Division management

Martin Jetter,  
division president

Bertil Bjugård,  
logistics and manufacturing

William Grüninger,  
customer service and projects

Jeffrey D. Hartung,  
inspection machines

Edward Munz, 
business development

Steven J. Pinkerton,  
research and development

Franco Venturelli,  
sales

Ngiap Lin Wong,  
finance and controlling

At 8 March 2010
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Research Center   Besides developing tempered glass containers, a team of 
scientists at the Research Center in Windsor/CT, USA, worked on methods  
to improve glass production and its stability. The techniques were tested in 
the in­house research glass­making facility, which operated at full capac­ 
ity with development projects throughout the year. While several significant 
improvements to existing glass forming machines were already released  
for sale last year, innovative products of a new level are scheduled to come 
on the market in 2010. Unique in the industry, the Research Center enables 
Emhart Glass to demonstrate new products to customers in real­world con­
ditions and will further strengthen the division’s technology lead. With  
its efforts to develop tempered glass containers, it achieved a technological 
breakthrough in industrial viability. Manufacturing and testing of tempered 
glass containers has advanced to the stage where the first commercial produc­
tion line should be ready for installation at a pilot customer’s plant late  
this year. Further development and marketing will then depend crucially on 
this pilot operation. 

Product innovation and sustainability   16 patent applications were filed 
last year. The new generation of glass inspection machinery, unveiled  
to the public for the first time in October 2008, went into serial production 
during the year and sold well. Mechanisms, sensors and cooling systems  
for glass forming machinery were developed to speed up production and 
 increase process stability. New software functions allow glass forming 
 processes and glass forming machines to be monitored more easily and more 
accurately. A prototype production line designed for the tempered glass 
process operated successfully at the Research Center. Alongside its port­
folio of machinery, Emhart Glass scored great success with a number of 
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services launched on the market for the first time, such as analysis and 
 enhancement of production processes, as well as remote maintenance of 
production lines via the Internet.

Outlook for 2010   Emhart Glass expects the subdued economic conditions 
to continue. Based on the projects in hand, it anticipates low capacity 
 utilisation, especially in the first six months, with capital spending unlikely  
to pick up significantly over this period, except in Asia. A recovery may  
be seen in the second half of the year. Growth in emerging regions should 
increase demand, primarily for the new, simpler standard machines. With  
its cost base aligned to these volumes, Emhart Glass expects to report an 
improvement in operating profit on lower sales for 2010. 
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Stabilisation at a low level  Bucher Industries was greatly affected by the economic down-
turn during the reporting year, with performance in all divisions suffering severely from 
the economic crisis. The financial crisis and accompanying credit crunch hit all regions and 
brought capital spending to a virtual halt, especially in Eastern Europe. Producers’ excess 
capacities and high inventories held by customers and in the distribution channels addition-
ally exacerbated the sales situation. Only in the fourth quarter of the year did demand  
stabilise at a low level, with a few signs of a slight recovery appearing.

Added to the poor economic conditions, negative movements in the main currencies,  
the Euro, US dollar, Swedish krona, British pound and Australian dollar, against the Swiss 
franc weighed on sales, operating profit and net financial items. The average EUR/CHF,  
GBP/CHF and SEK/CHF exchange rates used for the income statement fell by 5.0%, 15.6% 
and 13.6% respectively, while the USD/CHF rate rose slightly by 0.2%. The rates used in  
translating the balance sheet showed less change.

Targeted acquisitions   The Kuhn Group division expanded its specialised agricultural machin-
ery business and acquired Kverneland Group’s baler operations and Dutch plant in Geldrop. 
This business manufactures balers, bale wrappers, drum mowers and maize choppers sold 
under the Vicon and Kverneland Taarup brands. The products fully complement those of 
Kuhn Group and have filled a significant gap in its product portfolio. Kuhn-Geldrop B.V. was 
included in the consolidated financial statements from 1 January 2009 and contributed 
CHF 113.0 million, or 11.9%, to the division’s sales. 

Sharp decline in sales   Due to the adverse effects of the financial and economic crisis, sales 
for the year were down 23.2% to CHF 2 142.1 million (2008: up 13.4% to CHF 2 788.9 mil-
lion), a decrease of 24.8% excluding the impact of currency movements and acquisitions. 
Acquisitions contributed 5.9%. Currency translation had a negative impact of 4.3%. Order  
intake dropped by 35.6% to CHF 1 797.4 million, a negative change of 37.4% adjusted for 
currency effects and acquisitions. Acquisitions contributed a positive 5.4% and curren cies  
a negative 3.6%. Order intake in all divisions only stabilised in the fourth quarter, with 
a few positive signs emerging. At the year end, the order book stood at CHF 507.3 million 
(CHF 843.4 million), a backlog representing about 2.8 months of 2009 full year sales  
(3.6 months).  

Group financial review 2009
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Net sales

CHF million   % change

 2009 2008  

Net sales 2 142.1 2 788.9 – 23.2%

Net sales adjusted for currencies 2 260.5 2 788.9 – 18.9%

Net sales adjusted for acquisitions 1 985.8 2 788.9 – 28.8%

Net sales adjusted for currencies and acquisitions 2 096.3 2 788.9 – 24.8%

Operating performance    As a result of the early measures to cut costs and optimise struc-
tures, the EBIT margin before impairment charges was 5.2%, which was a reasonable out-
come considering the economic situation. The reported operating profit included one-off re-
structuring costs of approximately CHF 15 million, in particular for personnel measures and 
structural optimisation. About CHF 10 million of this amount was incurred for Bucher Mu-
nicipal. The Group’s EBITDA decreased by 44.5% to CHF 189.7 million, representing an EBIT-
DA margin of 8.9% (2008: 12.2%). Savings in purchasing largely made up for the pressure on 
selling prices. The proportion of material costs dropped from 56.5% to 48.4%, not least  
as a result of insourcing previously outsourced activities. Due to the delayed impact of the 
downsizing measures, insourcing and low capacity utilisation, the share of employment 
costs rose from 22.4% to 25.0%. Other operating expenses were reduced by approximately 
CHF 75 million, but still increased from 12.8% to 13.2% as a percentage of sales. EBIT before 
one-off impairment charges declined by 59.5% to CHF 111.7 million, resulting in an EBIT margin 
of 5.2% compared to 9.9% a year earlier. Because of the economic downturn and the still 
subdued outlook, the annual impairment test of intangible assets indicated that impairment 
charges totalling CHF 85.9 million (CHF 29.9 million) were necessary for goodwill. EBIT after 
impairment charges came in at CHF 25.8 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 
89.5% and an EBIT margin of 1.2% (8.8%). A new financial management policy was put  
in place on 1 January 2009 with the objective of mitigating the negative impact of foreign 
currency movements. At the beginning of each financial year, a portion of the expected 
 future foreign currency cash flows is hedged at the budgeted exchange rate. A gain of  
CHF 7.8 million from translating and hedging operating transactions denominated in  
foreign currencies has been recognised in operating profit for the first time.
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Higher interest expense   On 3 September 2009, Bucher Industries placed a CHF 200.0 million 
bond with a coupon of 3.125% and a term of five years at an issue price of 100.475%. The 
funds were used to refinance existing financial liabilities and for general financing purposes. 
Net interest expense changed from CHF 8.6 million to CHF 16.4 million, due to higher  financing 
costs and reduced interest income. The net gain on short-term investments was CHF 4.0 
million lower year on year at CHF 7.2 million. Valuation reserves recorded in the fair value 
reserve in equity decreased by CHF 1.4 million to CHF 9.8 million. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses showed a negative balance of CHF 6.5 million (2008: negative CHF 23.3 million), 
weighed down by largely unrealised exchange losses due to the weakness of the main  
currencies against the Swiss franc. In accordance with the new  financial management policy, 
only the effects of financial transactions have been recognised in net financial items.  
The share of associates’ results was a loss of CHF 1.2 million (profit of CHF 1.1 million).  
No impairment losses on associates were recognised in the reporting year (CHF 8.9 million). 
Overall, net financial items improved by CHF 10.3 million to negative CHF 18.8 million.

Net financial items

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Interest expense – 18.4 – 16.6

Interest income 2.0 8.0

Net interest expense – 16.4 – 8.6

Net gain on short-term investments 7.2 11.2

Foreign exchange gains and losses – 6.5 – 23.3

Share of (loss)/profit of associates – 1.2 1.1

Impairment of associates – – 8.9

Other financial items – 1.9 – 0.6

Net financial items – 18.8 – 29.1

Tax rate and profit/loss for the year   Income tax expense decreased from CHF 71.7 million 
to CHF 31.4 million. The tax rate increased from 33.0% to 33.8%, excluding the non-tax- 
deductible goodwill impairment charges of CHF 85.9 million in 2009. This was primarily 
because some profits and losses were not able to be offset. Profit for the year before one- 
off im pairment charges declined by 66.6% to CHF 61.5 million (2008: CHF 184.2 million), 
giving a return on sales of 2.9% (6.6%). Including the impairment charges, the Group posted  
a loss of CHF 24.4 million for the year (profit of CHF 145.4 million). Due to the loss reported 
for the year, Bucher Industries recorded a loss per share of CHF 2.60 (earnings per share  
of CHF 14.39).
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Secure financial position   Despite the economic and financial crisis, Bucher Industries still 
had a very sound balance sheet structure. In addition to adjusting production capacities 
and exercising strict discipline in spending, management concentrated on reducing net 
 operating assets and, in particular, working capital during the reporting year. Inventory  
management was aligned early to the lower business volume, and receivables management 
was intensified. This enabled receivables and inventories to be reduced by CHF 232.8 mil lion. 
Net operating assets amounted to CHF 897.1 million compared to CHF 922.5 million a year 
earlier. Excluding acquisitions, net operating assets decreased by CHF 145.9 million to  
CHF 776.6 million. Due to the very high level of capital spending in previous years, capital 
expenditure was reduced to the necessary minimum of CHF 58.5 million (2008: CHF 130.9 
million) during the year. The most important single project was the new building and expan-
sion at the Bucher Hydraulics plant in Neuheim, Switzerland. Operating free cash flow  
was CHF 182.5 million compared to negative CHF 15.3 million a year earlier. Taking into  
account the acquisitions of CHF 172.9 million and the dividend of CHF 45.2 million, free cash 
flow amounted to CHF 0.7 million. Net debt reached CHF 118.1 million, practically matching 
the previous year’s level of CHF 110.6 million, having still stood at CHF 367.8 million at  
30 June 2009. At the reporting date, the Group additionally had sufficient liquidity ensured 
by available undrawn committed credit facilities totalling approximately CHF 440 million.

Before impairment charges, intangible assets grew by CHF 119.7 million to CHF 250.6 million 
as a result of acquisitions. Goodwill increased from CHF 88.9 million to CHF 146.0 million.  
In view of the continuing economic downturn and subdued outlook for the years ahead, 
the business plans were revised. This led to a reduction in the cash flow projections of  
the individual cash-generating units (CGUs). Goodwill impairment testing resulted in a good-
will impairment charge of CHF 63.7 million for Kuhn Group (Kuhn do Brasil S/A, Brazil,  
and Kuhn-Geldrop B.V. Netherlands) and of CHF 22.2 million for Bucher Hydraulics (Bucher  
Hydraulics Inc., USA, and Command Controls Corporation, USA). After these impairment 
charges totalling CHF 85.9 million, intangible assets still amounted to CHF 164.7 million  
at the reporting date, of which goodwill accounted for CHF 60.2 million. The ratio of  
intangible assets to equity was 20.8% (2008: 15.5%).

Equity decreased by CHF 53.6 million to CHF 792.5 million at 31 December 2009, reduced by 
the loss for the year and dividend payment, but increased by the unrealised foreign 
 exchange gain of CHF 12.0 million (2008: loss of CHF 122.7 million) arising on translation 
of subsidiaries’ balance sheets into Swiss francs. The equity ratio fell from 40.9% to 37.3%, 
mainly because total assets were increased by some CHF 300 million to ensure liquidity. The 
return on equity was negative 3.0% (positive 16.9%). Excluding the impact of the goodwill 
impairment charges, the return on equity was 6.8% (21.0%).
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Return on net operating assets after tax (RONOA)

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Trade receivables 405.2 479.3

Inventories 485.2 609.0

Property, plant and equipment 408.5 399.2

Intangible assets 164.7 130.9

Other receivables 74.4 110.4

Trade payables – 189.6 – 288.3

Advances from customers – 165.0 – 201.1

Other payables – 202.9 – 238.8

Provisions – 83.4 – 78.1

Net operating assets (NOA) 897.1 922.5

Net operating assets (NOA), average 1 114.1 891.0

Operating profit (EBIT) 25.8 246.2

Return on net operating assets after tax (RONOA) 1.5% 18.5%

Cash flow/free cash flow

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Net cash flow from operating activities 238.9 102.5

Purchases of property, plant and equipment – 57.0 – 129.5

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.1 13.1

Purchases of intangible assets – 1.5 – 1.4

Operating free cash flow 182.5 – 15.3

Purchases of short-term investments and financial assets – 4.0 – 31.4

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments and financial assets 40.3 25.3

Dividend paid – 45.2 – 50.3

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 172.9 – 149.7

Acquisition of associates – – 1.4

Free cash flow 0.7 – 222.8
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Employee numbers   The number of employees fell by 14.2% to 7 183 full-time equivalents 
at the reporting date. Excluding acquisitions, this was a decrease of 1 444 full-time equiva-
lents or 17.2%. The average for the year declined by 6.8% (2008: 12.6% increase), or by 10.6% 
excluding acquisitions. The large difference between the year-end and average numbers  
for the year shows the delayed impact of the downsizing measures. With the 23.2% decrease 
in sales (13.4% increase), net sales per employee were down 17.6% (up 0.7%) to CHF 281 200 
(CHF 341 100). Excluding the impact of acquisitions, net sales per employee dropped by 20.4% 
to CHF 271 600.

Selected financial data

 2009 2008

Net tangible worth (equity less goodwill) in CHF million 732.3 757.2

Gearing ratio (net debt to equity) 14.9% 13.1%

Return on equity (ROE) – 3.0% 16.9%

Interest coverage ratio (EBITDA to net interest expense) 11.6 39.7

Debt payback period (net debt to EBITDA) 0.6 0.3

Registered shares   In a volatile stock market, the price of Bucher shares rose slightly from 
CHF 105.00 to CHF 112.30 during the reporting year, having reached a 52-week high of  
CHF 126.90 and a 52-week low of CHF 69.00. The company’s market capitalisation stood at 
CHF 1.2 billion at the year end, representing a price/book ratio of 1.5. Earnings per share 
before one-off impairment charges decreased by 67.3% to CHF 5.99. The impairment charges 
resulted in a loss per share of CHF 2.60. Despite the difficult economic environment and 
the Group’s lower profit for the year before impairment charges, the board of directors pro-
poses a dividend of CHF 2.00 per registered share to maintain a steady dividend policy. 
Based on the average share price for 2009, the board’s proposal represents a dividend yield 
of 1.9% (2008: 2.1%).
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Assets 

Liabilities and 

equity

CHF million Note  %  %

  2009  2008  

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  437.2 20.6 132.6 6.4

Short-term investments 3 68.0 3.2 101.6 4.9

Trade receivables 4 405.2 19.1 479.3 23.2

Current income tax assets  21.7 1.0 18.1 0.8

Other receivables 4 42.0 2.0 80.4 3.9

Inventories 5 485.2 22.8 609.0 29.5

Total current assets  1 459.3 68.7 1 421.0 68.7

      

Non-current assets      

Long-term receivables 4 11.6 0.6 30.6 1.5

Deferred tax assets 24 29.4 1.4 34.4 1.7

Investments in associates 6 7.7 0.4 8.9 0.4

Other financial assets 7 43.3 2.0 42.6 2.1

Property, plant and equipment 8 408.5 19.2 399.2 19.3

Intangible assets 9 164.7 7.7 130.9 6.3

Total non-current assets  665.2 31.3 646.6 31.3

Total assets  2 124.5 100.0 2 067.6 100.0

      

Current liabilities      

Financial liabilities 10 88.7 4.2 85.9 4.2

Trade payables  189.6 8.9 288.3 13.9

Advances from customers  165.0 7.8 201.1 9.7

Current income tax liabilities  25.8 1.2 25.1 1.2

Provisions 11 68.5 3.2 63.1 3.1

Other payables 12 173.6 8.2 233.6 11.3

Total current liabilities  711.2 33.5 897.1 43.4

      

Non-current liabilities      

Financial liabilities 10 534.6 25.1 234.3 11.4

Deferred tax liabilities 24 48.5 2.3 47.8 2.3

Retirement benefit obligations 26 18.4 0.9 21.5 1.0

Provisions 11 14.9 0.7 15.0 0.7

Other liabilities 12 4.4 0.2 5.8 0.3

Total non-current liabilities  620.8 29.2 324.4 15.7

      

Equity      

Attributable to equity holders of Bucher Industries AG  780.9 36.8 835.8 40.4

Attributable to minority interests  11.6 0.5 10.3 0.5

Total equity  792.5 37.3 846.1 40.9

Total liabilities and equity  2 124.5 100.0 2 067.6 100.0

Consolidated balance sheet at  
31 December 2009 
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CHF million Note  %  %

  2009  2008  

Net sales 1 2 142.1 100.0 2 788.9 100.0

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work  

in progress  – 120.9 – 5.6 78.4 2.8

Raw materials and consumables used 17 – 1 038.1 – 48.4 – 1 574.6 – 56.5

Employment costs 18 – 536.0 – 25.0 – 623.7 – 22.4

Other operating income 19 25.4 1.1 30.1 1.1

Other operating expenses 20 – 282.8 – 13.2 – 357.5 – 12.8

Operating profit before depreciation 

and amortisation (EBITDA)  189.7 8.9 341.6 12.2

Depreciation 8 – 61.1 – 2.9 – 55.0 – 2.0

Amortisation 9 – 16.9 – 0.8 – 10.5 – 0.3

Impairment 9 – 85.9 – 4.0 – 29.9 – 1.1

Operating profit (EBIT)  25.8 1.2 246.2 8.8

Share of (loss)/profit of associates 6 – 1.2 – 0.1 1.1 0.0

Impairment of associates 6 – – – 8.9 – 0.3

Finance costs 22 – 20.6 – 1.0 – 15.4 – 0.6

Finance income 23 3.0 0.2 – 5.9 – 0.1

Profit before tax  7.0 0.3 217.1 7.8

Income tax expense 24 – 31.4 – 1.5 – 71.7 – 2.6

(Loss)/profit for the year  – 24.4 – 1.2 145.4 5.2

Attributable to equity holders of Bucher Industries AG  – 26.0  143.3  

Attributable to minority interests  1.6  2.1  

      

Basic earnings per share in CHF 25 – 2.60  14.39  

Diluted earnings per share in CHF 25 – 2.60  14.31  

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

CHF million      

   2009  2008

(Loss)/profit for the year   – 24.4  145.4

Net change in fair value reserve   3.0  1.0

Income tax   – 1.0  – 0.3

Transfer to income statement   – 5.1  – 9.3

Income tax   1.7  3.2

Net change in fair value reserve, net of tax   – 1.4  – 5.4

Net change in currency translation reserve   12.0  – 123.7

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   10.6  – 129.1

      

Total comprehensive income for the year   – 13.8  16.3

Attributable to equity holders of Bucher Industries AG   – 15.4  15.2

Attributable to minority interests   1.6  1.1

Consolidated income statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2009 
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Statement of changes in equity

CHF million Note   

  2009 2008

(Loss)/profit for the year  – 24.4 145.4

Adjustments for:          

Income tax expense 24 31.4 71.7

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 78.0 65.5

Impairment 9 85.9 29.9

Share of (loss)/profit of associates 6 1.2 – 1.1

Impairment of associates 6 – 8.9

Gains on sale of non-current assets  – 0.5 – 0.2

Gain on sale of short-term investments and financial assets  – 6.3 – 10.5

Net interest expense  16.4 8.6

Interest received  1.8 5.9

Interest paid  – 15.4 – 15.0

Income tax paid  – 36.2 – 95.9

Other operating cash flow items  6.4 6.7

Cash flow from operating activities before changes  

in working capital and provisions  138.3 219.9

Change in provisions and retirement benefit obligations  – 3.9 – 7.0

Change in working capital 14 104.5 – 110.4

Net cash flow from operating activities  238.9 102.5

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 8 – 57.0 – 129.5

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  2.1 13.1

Purchases of intangible assets 9 – 1.5 – 1.4

Purchases of short-term investments and financial assets  – 4.0 – 31.4

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments and financial assets 40.3 25.3

Acquisition of subsidiaries 2 – 172.9 – 149.7

Acquisition of associates 6 – – 1.4

Net cash flow from investing activities  – 193.0 – 275.0

Change in treasury shares  0.8 1.4

Proceeds from long-term financial liabilities  356.2 91.8

Repayment of long-term financial liabilities  – 3.3 – 6.9

Proceeds from short-term financial liabilities  4.5 11.1

Repayment of short-term financial liabilities  – 55.2 – 99.3

Dividend paid  – 45.2 – 50.3

Net cash flow from financing activities  257.8 – 52.2

Effect of exchange rate changes  0.9 – 20.2

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  304.6 – 244.9

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  132.6 377.5

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  437.2 132.6

Consolidated cash flow statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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CHF million
  Share  
capital  

   Share  
premium 

reserve  
  Retained 

earnings  

  Currency 
translation 

 reserve  
  Treasury 

shares  
  Fair value 

reserve  

  Attribut-
able 

to equity 
holders of 

Bucher 
Industries  

AG  
  Minority 
interests  

  Total 
equity  

Balance at 1 January 2008 2.1 70.6 809.4 – 6.0 – 29.6 16.6 863.1 9.7 872.8

(Loss)/profit for the year         143.3             143.3 2.1 145.4

Other comprehensive income  

for the year          – 122.7     – 5.4 – 128.1 – 1.0 – 129.1

Total comprehensive income  

for the year         143.3 – 122.7     – 5.4 15.2 1.1 16.3

Change in treasury shares         5.5     1.8     7.3     7.3

Dividend         – 49.8             – 49.8 – 0.5 – 50.3

Balance at 31 December 2008 2.1 70.6 908.4 – 128.7 – 27.8 11.2 835.8 10.3 846.1

                                     

Profit for the year         – 26.0             – 26.0 1.6 – 24.4

Other comprehensive income  

for the year          12.0     – 1.4 10.6     10.6

Total comprehensive income  

for the year         – 26.0 12.0     – 1.4 – 15.4 1.6 – 13.8

Change in treasury shares         4.1     1.3     5.4     5.4

Dividend         – 44.9             – 44.9 – 0.3 – 45.2

Balance at 31 December 2009 2.1 70.6 841.6 – 116.7 – 26.5 9.8 780.9 11.6 792.5

Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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Group accounting policies

Organisation   Bucher Industries AG is a public limited company incorporated in Switzerland 
whose shares are publicly traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange. Its registered office is located 
in Niederweningen, Switzerland. The Bucher Industries Group is organised into five divisions 
operating in the following business segments: specialised agricultural machinery (Kuhn Group), 
municipal vehicles (Bucher Municipal), wine and fruit juice production equipment (Bucher 
Process), hydraulic components (Bucher Hydraulics) and manufacturing equipment for  
the glass container industry (Emhart Glass).

Basis of preparation   The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Swiss law under the historical 
cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF) and are based  
on the group entities’ separate financial statements made up to 31 December using uniform 
classification and measurement criteria (IFRS). All amounts are stated in millions of Swiss 
francs (CHF million) unless otherwise indicated. The policies set out below have been consist-
ently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. Where necessary,  
prior year comparative information has been reclassified or extended from the previously reported 
consolidated financial statements to take into account any presentational changes.

Changes in accounting policies   The following new and revised standards and interpretations 
published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have been adopted by 
Bucher Industries for the 2009 financial year. The table below gives an overview of the impact 
of these standards and interpretations on the consolidated financial statements of Bucher  
Industries.

Standard / Interpretation
Effective 

date Impact

New standards   

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009 2

Revised standards   

IFRS 1/IAS 27 First-Time Adoption of IFRS, and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: 

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

1 January 2009 1 

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009 1

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2009 2

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009 2

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009 1

IAS 32/IAS 1 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Presentation of Financial Statements:  

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

1 January 2009 1 

Various Annual Improvements to IFRS 1 January 2009 1

New interpretation   

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial Instruments:  

Recognition and Measurement

31 March 2009 1

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008 1

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009 1

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008 1

IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 1 July 2009 1
1)  Adoption has not had a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
2)  Adoption required additional disclosures or changes in the presentation of consolidated financial statements.

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IAS 1 requires that items of income and expense recognised in equity be presented in a 
statement of comprehensive income in addition to a statement of changes in equity.  
Bucher Industries has elected to retain the original income statement and to disclose the 
additional information in a separate table.

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” replaces the previous IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. The standard 
takes a management approach to identifying and measuring the results of reportable  
segments. The distinction between primary and secondary segments has been removed. 
Segment information is required to be presented on the basis of internal reporting. As the 
previous segment reporting reflects the operational and management structure of Bucher 
Industries, the first-time adoption of IFRS 8 has not resulted in any change in the identifi-
cation of operating segments. 

The amendment to IFRS 7 on disclosures about financial instruments requires fair value  
to be determined using a three-level hierarchy. More details can be found in the disclosures 
on fair value measurement in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Future standards not yet adopted   IASB has published the following new and revised stan-
dards and interpretations that will not be mandatory until the 2010 financial year and have 
not been early adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The table below gives 
an overview of the expected impact of the standards and interpretations on the consoli-
dated financial statements of Bucher Industries.

Standard / Interpretation Effective date
Planned 

application
Estimated 

impact

Revised standards    

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –  

Eligible Hedged Items

1 July 2009 2010 2 

Various Annual Improvements to IFRS 1 July 2009 2010 2

New interpretation    

IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009 2010 1
1)  Not expected to have an impact or significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
2)  Expected to require additional disclosures or changes in the presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s assumptions and estimates   The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of income, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. All estimates and judgements are  
reviewed on an ongoing basis. They are based on historical experience and expectations  
of future events. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates. The consolidated financial 
statements will be modified as appropriate in the reporting year in which the circum-
stances change. More information about the areas described below is disclosed in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Impairment of assets   Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested 
for impairment at least annually, while other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that they may be impaired. To determine whether assets are impaired, 
various assumptions and estimates of future cash flows expected from their use and eventual 
disposal are made and discounted. Actual cash flows may differ from those forecasted. 
Such impairment losses are recognised as an expense in the income statement. The carrying 
amount of goodwill and detailed information can be found in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Income tax expense   Assumptions and estimates are required to determine the amount of 
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
primarily for temporary differences and, in specific cases, also for tax losses carried forward to 
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. This means that  
their measurement is based on forecasts by the entities concerned and on assessments of 
tax legislation and regulations. If these forecasts and assessments prove to be incorrect, 
then impairment may result.

Provisions   Provisions are made for a number of events where it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required. Warranty provisions are based on estimates made by applying 
historical data for the previous two years to current sales. Management estimates the other 
provisions realistically based on information currently available. Actual cash outflows  
and their timing may differ significantly depending on the outcome of events. 

Pension plans   Most of the pension plans operated by the Group are of the defined contribu-
tion type, but defined benefit plans are provided in some countries. The calculation of  
defined benefit obligations is based on statistical and actuarial assumptions, such as the 
expected inflation rate, future salary increases, probable turnover rate, life expectancy  
of plan participants, discount rate and expected rate of return on plan assets. If any of these 
factors differs from the underlying assumptions, this may have a significant impact on 
the amount of benefit obligations and assets of the pension plans.

Basis of consolidation   The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial state-
ments of Bucher Industries AG and all its Swiss and foreign group entities (subsidiaries) where 
the company exercises control by directly or indirectly holding more than 50% of the voting 
rights or has acquired control through contractual arrangements. Using the full consolidation 
method, all assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the consolidated entities are 
 included in the consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries acquired during the year are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and those disposed  
of are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Minority interests in equity and 
results are reported separately in the consolidated balance sheet and income statement.  
All inter-company balances, transactions, cash flows, realised and unrealised profits are 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The purchase method of accounting is 
used to account for the acquisition of businesses. Under this method, the acquiree’s assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values using uniform group 
accounting policies. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. Any negative difference is recognised directly in the 
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 income statement in the reporting period. Where minority interests in a fully consolidated 
subsidiary are acquired, the difference between the consideration paid and the carrying 
amount of the minority interests is recorded directly in retained earnings. Any reduction in 
ownership interest that does not result in a loss of control is also recognised in equity.

Associates are those entities in which Bucher Industries has significant influence, but not 
control, over the financial and operating policy decisions. Significant influence is presumed 
to exist when Bucher Industries holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, directly 
or indirectly. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently 
accounted for using the equity method. Under this method, the Group recognises its share 
of the entity’s net profit as the share of profit or loss of associates and its share of the entity’s 
net assets as investments in associates. Any goodwill on investments in associates is included 
in the carrying amount of the associate. An impairment loss is recognised if there is evidence  
of permanent impairment. 

Foreign currency translation   The individual financial statements of each of the Group’s 
foreign entities are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (its functional currency). Within Bucher Industries, the functional currency 
is generally the local currency of the respective country. The consolidated financial state-
ments are presented in Swiss francs, which is both the functional and presentation currency 
of Bucher Industries AG. For group entities that have a functional currency different from 
the Group’s presentation currency, assets and liabilities are translated into Swiss francs at 
closing (middle) exchange rates at the date of the balance sheet, while items in the income 
statement and cash flow statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year 
(average of the twelve month-end middle exchange rates). Exchange differences arising on 
consolidation are recognised in equity (other comprehensive income) and are transferred to 
the income statement as profit or loss when a foreign operation is sold or liquidated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 
Realised and unrealised foreign currency translation gains and losses relating to operating 
activities are presented within operating profit, while those relating to financing transactions 
are presented within finance costs. Derivative financial instruments used to hedge foreign 
currency risk exposures associated with assets and liabilities and with expected future cash 
flows are measured at fair value, with fair value gains and losses recognised in the income 
statement. 
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Segment reporting   Segments are defined using the management approach. Each of the 
divisions, or segments, is distinct from the others, providing different products and services 
for different customer groups. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses can be clearly allocated 
to the divisions. Transfer prices between the divisions are determined at arm’s length.

Financial risk management
Risk policy and organisation   The Group’s international operations expose it to a variety 
of financial risks, such as credit risk, liquidity risk and price or market risk. Bucher Industries  
has a functional and effective risk management system in place, employing defined risk 
control procedures and risk limitations. Responsibilities for risk management are clearly  
assigned and regulated. The board of directors defines and approves the framework for risk 
management policy and also plays a monitoring role in respect of compliance with the  
risk control mechanisms. Furthermore, it sets risk limits for the Group. Group management 
is accountable for ensuring that the risk management policy approved by the board of  
directors is operationally embedded within the Group and delegates the necessary respon-
sibilities. It monitors compliance with the risk limits and decides what risk transfer  
instruments are used. In addition, group management ensures the soundness of the risk 
management process and also adequate technical resources to keep the risk management  
system functioning at all times. Group treasury evaluates all financial risk factors for the 
Group using modern risk analysis techniques (value-at-risk and stress tests). It uses financial  
derivatives to selectively manage financial exposure at the level of subsidiaries and the holding 
company with the objective of achieving high levels of hedge effectiveness. The Group 
does not enter into any hedging transactions without a corresponding underlying operating 
transaction. The divisions’ finance departments are responsible for managing credit and 
commodity price risk.

Credit risk   Credit risk arises from the possibility of partial or total default on contractual 
payments and/or performance obligations. In addition, there is exposure to losses in the 
value of financial instruments due to deterioration in credit quality because of an adverse 
change in the financial circumstances of business partners. Each of the divisions is responsible 
for operational credit risk as part of their receivables management. They determine the credit 
terms and demand payment from customers, taking into account their past payment history 
(for existing customers) and an analysis of their credit quality (for new and existing customers). 
The risk of the default is usually mitigated by advances from customers, letters of credit 
and other instruments to secure payment. Credit risk associated with investments is diver-
sified by being widely spread among the financial institutions used. It is the Group’s policy  
to enter into contracts only with highly rated domestic and foreign financial institutions.

Liquidity risk   Bucher Industries defines liquidity risk as the risk that the Group and/or any 
of its subsidiaries may not have sufficient financial resources available to meet all of their 
payment obligations at any time. Group treasury is responsible for the company’s liquidity 
management. Its role is to ensure liquidity for the Group at all times and in any currency 
required through its in-house banking system. The necessary funds are raised as and when 
required in the financial and banking markets. In order to manage liquidity requirements 
proactively, group treasury conducts liquidity planning in coordination with the divisions’ 
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finance departments to anticipate future payment flows and cash resources. Cash flows are 
matched with existing credit facilities so that appropriate measures can be taken in good 
time to ensure the ability to meet financial obligations.

Market risk   Market risk comprises three types of risk: price risk, interest rate risk and currency 
risk. Market risk arises from changes in risk factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and commodity prices, that result in a decline in the market value and/or book value 
of the balance sheet or profit and loss items exposed to these risk factors. Interest rate  
and exchange rate risk exposures are regularly measured as value-at-risk, supplemented by 
stress test scenarios, and are reported to group management. The divisions manage the 
identified exchange rate exposure together with group treasury, using financial instruments 
defined for this purpose. Group treasury, in turn, selectively enters into hedging transactions 
with banks. 

Financial assets   Financial assets are classified into the categories “held for trading at fair 
value through profit or loss”, “loans and receivables”, “available-for-sale” and “held-to- 
maturity”. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs in  
the case of financial instruments not held for trading. Purchases and sales are recognised 
on the settlement date (date of payment and delivery). Management assesses at each  
reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be permanently impaired. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.

Held for trading   Subsequent to initial recognition, money market instruments included 
in cash and cash equivalents, and derivative financial instruments are measured at fair  
value, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. Derivative financial 
instruments are recorded as other receivables or other payables as applicable.  

Loans and receivables   These include non-derivative financial assets such as loans and receiva-
bles with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such  
inancial assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. If they become 
impaired or uncollectible, they are provided for in the income statement.

Available-for-sale   Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. These assets are 
generally carried at fair value. If their fair value cannot be reliably determined, they are recog-
nised at cost. Unrealised gains or losses are recognised equity (in other comprehensive income) 
as the “net change in fair value reserve” until they are realised. Interest is calculated using 
the effective interest method and recognised in the income statement. When an asset is 
disposed of or determined to be permanently impaired, the cumulative gains or losses recog-
nised equity (in other comprehensive income) are taken to the income statement for the period 
as finance income. 
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Held-to-maturity   Held-to-maturity investments comprise assets with fixed maturity and 
fixed or determinable payments that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity. These financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
 interest method. Gains or losses on disposal, permanent impairment losses or amortisation 
are recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, at banks and 
in postal accounts, fixed term deposits with original maturities of three months or less, 
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within financial liabilities under liabilities. 
There are no restrictions on cash and cash equivalents.

Short-term investments   Short-term investments comprise marketable, readily realisable  
investments (equities, bonds, money market instruments) classified as “available-for-sale”. 
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices.
 
Receivables   Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, net of specific provisions for known credit and country 
transfer risks. Allowances based on historical experience are made for risks associated with 
receivables not specifically identified as impaired. Provisions for impairment are included 
in other operating expenses. 

Other financial assets   These assets include long-term investments (of less than 20%),  
long-term loans and other miscellaneous financial assets. Long-term loans are carried at 
 amortised cost, while the other financial assets are recorded at amortised cost or fair value 
and are classified as “loans and receivables” or “available-for-sale”. Charges and credits  
to the income statement are recorded in finance income.  

Derivative financial instruments   Derivative financial instruments are recorded as other receiv-
ables or other payables as applicable. They are initially recognised in the balance sheet at 
fair value and are subsequently remeasured to fair value based on their current market value 
at the reporting date. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement. Hedge 
accounting (as defined in IAS 39) is not applied. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on 
contracts to hedge operating cash flows are taken to operating profit, while those on con-
tracts to hedge financing activities are taken to finance costs. 

Inventories   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using either the weighted average or first-in, first-out method. The same method 
is used for inventories having a similar nature and use to the company. Where necessary, 
provision is made for all foreseeable losses on inventories of work in progress, goods and 
slow-moving items, with write-downs recognised in changes in inventories of finished goods 
and work in progress.
 



83

Bucher annual report 2009

Property, plant and equipment   Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation. The different components are accounted for as separate 
items. Expenditure on improvements is capitalised. The costs of repairs, maintenance and 
replacements are charged to the income statement as they are incurred. Depreciation is 
charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Land is stated 
at cost and is not depreciated. The residual useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed periodically. When there are indications of permanent impairment, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is determined and compared with its current carrying amount. If the  
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
accordingly. Such impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. The Group 
 has determined the following useful lives:
 Years

Office machinery, computer equipment, vehicles 2 – 7

Temporary structures 5 – 10

Plant and machinery 5 – 12

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 – 15

Infrastructure 10 – 30

Buildings 15 – 50

Low value assets are expensed directly to the income statement. 

Leases   A finance lease is defined as a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and  
rewards of ownership of an asset. Ownership may or may not eventually be transferred. 
On initial recognition, assets held under finance leases are capitalised at the lower of  
their fair value and the present value of the future minimum lease payments and are then  
depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term. The related 
lease obligations are recorded as liabilities. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance 
lease. The lease payments are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Investment property   Property that is not held for operating purposes is recorded at cost 
and depreciated on a straight-line basis.

Intangible assets   Goodwill, licences, patents, trademarks, customer lists, supplier relation-
ships, non-competition agreements, software and similar rights are recognised as purchased 
intangible assets. Intangible assets are capitalised only if they will generate sustainable eco-
nomic benefits. They are generally measured using the cost model. Intangible assets with 
finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected residual lives, 
ranging from five to 20 years depending on the asset. Goodwill on acquisitions and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are capitalised and tested for  
impairment annually or whenever there are indications of possible impairment. Intangible 
assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment only when there is an  
indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognised 
directly through the income statement. Expenditure on research activities is recorded as an 
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Development costs are capitalised and amortised 
over their useful lives only if the future economic benefits will be sufficient to recover the 
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development costs and if the other criteria required by IAS 38 are met. Development costs 
that do not meet these criteria are expensed directly through the income statement.

Borrowing costs   Borrowing costs for assets that take more than one year to complete are 
capitalised. The amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised depends on the actual costs 
incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds for the specific asset. Borrowing costs 
related to non-qualifying assets are expensed directly in the period they occur. 

Discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale   Classification as a discon-
tinued operation occurs when the sale of an operation is highly probable or when the opera-
tion meets the criteria in IFRS 5 for classification as held for sale, if earlier. Non-current 
 assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair val-
ue less costs to sell, and any impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Financial liabilities   Financial liabilities include short-term and long-term borrowings, trade 
payables and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus  
any directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.  

Provisions   A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be  
required in the future to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.  
Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the Group has a detailed formal plan for  
restructuring and has announced or already started to implement the restructuring plan. 
Future losses are not provided for.

Equity/treasury shares   The share premium reserve comprises amounts paid in by share-
holders in excess of the par value of shares (share premium). Treasury shares are recorded as a 
deduction from equity. Realised gains or losses on the sale of treasury shares are also recog-
nised in equity as a component of retained earnings. The same applies to the fair value of 
share-based payments (share option plans). Dividends are charged to equity in the period 
in which they are approved by the general meeting of shareholders.

Net sales/revenue recognition   Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised 
when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred or the services rendered. 
Revenue from services rendered is recognised by reference to the stage of completion. Sales are 
recorded net of sales deductions, such as sales incentives, commissions, rebates and trade 
discounts recognised on an accrual basis.  
 
Income tax expense   The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. 
Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recog-
nised directly in equity (other comprehensive income). In this case, the tax is also recognised in 
equity (other comprehensive income).
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Current income tax   Current income tax is calculated on the basis of the local tax laws enacted 
at the reporting date in the countries where the group entities operate and generate taxable 
ncome. Provision is made for all current tax liabilities. Taxes that are not based on taxable 
profit are charged to other operating expenses. 

Deferred income tax   In measuring deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the consolidated financial statements are determined at individual group entity level 
(balance sheet liability method). Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured  
and recognised using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted  
in the respective countries by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related  
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Potential 
tax benefits arising from tax losses carried forward and temporary differences are reviewed 
annually and recognised only to the extent that it is probable that they will be realised through 
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised. Furthermore, provision is 
made for additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of retained profits by 
foreign entities if such distributions are currently planned or the dividends are subject to  
tax. Under the exemption in IAS 12, temporary differences are not provided for the initial 
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that do not affect 
taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in group entities.

Retirement benefits   Most employees are covered by pension schemes in accordance with 
the relevant national regulations. The Group operates a number of defined benefit and  
defined contribution pension plans. The majority of these pension schemes are defined 
contribution plans. The assets of the pension schemes in Switzerland, the USA and the  
UK are held in separate trustee administered funds, mostly classified as defined benefit 
plans. The schemes are generally funded by employee and employer contributions. The 
Group’s contributions to defined contribution pension plans are charged directly to the income 
statement. In application of IAS 19, employer contribution reserves and assets of voluntary  
employer-sponsored funds are recognised as assets. The available assets in Swiss pension 
schemes are not recognised as assets because it is not believed that the surplus can be 
used to generate future economic benefits as defined in IFRS. Future defined benefit obliga-
tions are calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method  
every one to three years, depending on the materiality of the pension plan. Actuarial gains 
and losses arise mainly from changes in actuarial assumptions and from differences be-
tween actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred. Effects of plan amendments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the fair value of 
the plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to pension 
costs over the average remaining service lives of the plan participants. Other surpluses  
in pension schemes are recognised as an asset only to the extent that economic benefits will 
actually be available to the Group in the form of refunds or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan.
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Share-based payments   Every year the Group adopts a share-based payment scheme in the 
form of a share option plan for the members of the group management, division managements 
and selected specialists. Until 2008, share option plans were valued using the Black-Scholes 
model. For the new share option plan from 2009, the so-called Enhanced American model 
(EA model) has been used for the valuation for the first time. In addition to the usual parame-
ters (exercise price, maturity, volatility, share price, risk-free interest rate and expected dividend 
yield), the EA model requires other inputs such as vesting periods, expected option life, 
non-transferability of employee share options and the expected annual exit rate during 
and after the vesting period. The valuation is performed using a binomial model. The fair  
value of outstanding options granted to employees under share option plans is determined 
and charged to employment costs. A corresponding entry is made in equity. Their fair value 
is recognised pro rata over the periods to vesting. The shares to meet awards under these 
share-based payment schemes are purchased in the open market and held by Bucher Beteili-
gungs-Stiftung, a consolidated employee share ownership trust. 

Government grants   Grants from the government are recognised only where there is a 
reasonable assurance that all attached conditions will be complied with and the grant will  
be received. They are recognised at their fair value. The grants are deferred and recognised 
in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they  
are intended to compensate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1  Division information

Bucher Industries comprises five divisions (segments) specialising in industrially related 
areas of mechanical and vehicle engineering. Although they are technologically related, the  
divisions are quite distinct in terms of products and sales markets. The divisions’ management 
and responsibility for performance are consequently decentralised as well. The following 
summary describes the operations in each of the reportable divisions:

Kuhn Group   is the world’s leading supplier of agricultural machinery for tillage, seeding, 
fertilisation, spraying, landscape maintenance, hay and forage harvesting, livestock bedding 
and feeding.

Bucher Municipal   holds the largest share of the European sweeper market, offering a whole 
range of compact and truck mounted sweepers, winter maintenance equipment and refuse 
collection vehicles.

Bucher Process   is the leading international manufacturer of equipment for wine and fruit 
juice producers, with a portfolio ranging from machinery for fruit reception, mash preparation 
and juice extraction to fermentation, filtration and adsorption systems, as well as presses 
adapted for dewatering sludge.

Bucher Hydraulics   occupies a leading position as a provider of costum mobile and industrial 
hydraulics systems solutions, with manufacturing facilities in Europe, Asia and the USA.

Emhart Glass   is the world’s leading supplier of advanced technologies for manufacturing 
and inspecting glass containers, with a portfolio encompassing glass container forming 
and inspection machinery, systems, components, spare parts, advice and services for the glass 
container industry.

CHF million Net sales Depreciation
Amortisation and 

impairment Operating profit (EBIT)

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Kuhn Group 948.4 1 105.6 26.8 19.3 75.2 0.8 7.4 136.9

Bucher Municipal 452.1 579.1 7.0 7.0 1.2 5.9 20.4 38.0

Bucher Process 122.0 195.2 1.8 1.8 0.2 0.2 4.7 24.1

Bucher Hydraulics 319.8 497.0 16.6 17.0 25.8 28.1 – 8.5 31.2

Emhart Glass 303.7 418.3 8.7 9.0 0.4 0.4 12.2 35.0

Total for reportable divisions 2 146.0 2 795.2 60.9 54.1 102.8 35.4 36.2 265.2

Other/consolidation – 3.9 – 6.3 0.2 0.9 – 5.0 – 10.4 – 19.0

Group total 2 142.1 2 788.9 61.1 55.0 102.8 40.4 25.8 246.2
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CHF million Capital expenditure Goodwill Operating assets Operating liabilities

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Kuhn Group 26.5 59.2 29.2 35.2 660.1 680.2 346.3 467.4

Bucher Municipal 6.1 17.0 7.1 7.3 252.8 291.2 120.3 118.3

Bucher Process 1.2 3.4 – – 95.9 107.2 37.9 49.7

Bucher Hydraulics 20.8 34.0 – 21.9 244.1 322.3 46.8 66.9

Emhart Glass 3.9 17.1 5.5 5.5 260.0 303.5 77.2 112.9

Total for reportable divisions 58.5 130.7 41.8 69.9 1 512.9 1 704.4 628.5 815.2

Other/consolidation – 0.2 18.4 19.0 25.1 24.3 12.4 – 9.0

Group total 58.5 130.9 60.2 88.9 1 538.0 1 728.7 640.9 806.2

The performance of each of the divisions is determined based on operating profit or loss, 
which is measured consistently for management reporting and in the consolidated financial 
statements. The figures reported as “other/consolidation” comprise the results of the 
holding, finance and management companies as well as consolidation effects of intercom-
pany transactions. The associate is held by the holding company and not allocated to any  
segment. Inter-segment sales amounted to CHF 3.8 million for Bucher Hydraulics. The other 
divisions had only insignificant inter-segment sales. These internal transactions were  
carried out at arm’s length on normal commercial terms. Operating assets include short- and 
long-term receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets. 
Operating liabilities comprise trade payables, advances from customers, other payables and 
provisions.

Impairment testing of intangible and financial assets resulted in a goodwill impairment charge 
of CHF 63.7 million for the Kuhn Group division and of CHF 22.2 million (2008: CHF 25.2 million) 
for the Bucher Hydraulics division. In the previous year, a goodwill impairment charge of 
CHF 4.7 million was recognised for Bucher Municipal.

 Reconciliation of division profit 

CHF million  

 2009 2008

Division operating profit 36.2 265.2

Other/consolidation – 10.4 – 19.0

Group operating profit 25.8 246.2

Share of (loss)/profit of associates – 1.2 1.1

Impairment of associates – – 8.9

Finance costs – 20.6 – 15.4

Finance income 3.0 – 5.9

Profit before tax 7.0 217.1
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Reconciliation of division assets and liabilities

CHF million Assets

 2009 2008

Division operating assets 1 512.9 1 704.4

Other/consolidation 25.1 24.3

Group operating assets 1 538.0 1 728.7

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 505.2 234.2

Deferred tax assets 29.4 34.4

Investments in associates 7.7 8.9

Other financial assets 43.3 42.6

Other assets 0.9 18.8

Total group assets 2 124.5 2 067.6

CHF million Liabilities

 2009 2008

Division operating liabilities 628.5 815.2

Other/consolidation 12.4 – 9.0

Group operating liabilities 640.9 806.2

Short-term financial liabilities 88.7 85.9

Long-term financial liabilities 534.6 234.3

Deferred tax liabilities 48.5 47.8

Retirement benefit obligations 18.4 21.5

Other payables 0.9 25.8

Total group liabilities 1 332.0 1 221.5

Geographical information

CHF million Net sales

Property, plant and 
equipment and 

intangible assets

 2009 2008 2009 2008

Switzerland 127.3 131.4 93.4 86.1

Germany 333.9 403.9 38.4 41.3

France 433.2 459.1 126.4 128.8

Rest of Europe 631.9 950.6 155.0 80.6

North America 266.1 380.4 127.2 150.7

Central and South America 54.3 88.8 11.4 24.9

Asia 161.9 216.5 7.8 8.4

Other 133.5 158.2 13.6 9.3

Total 2 142.1 2 788.9 573.2 530.1

 
Net sales from external customers have been allocated to the countries of destination.
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2  Acquisitions

Bucher Industries acquired the Kverneland Group’s baler operations with effect from  
1 January 2009. These operations comprise the manufacture of balers, bale wrappers, drum 
mowers and maize choppers. The company, Kverneland Group Geldrop B.V., was integrated  
into the Kuhn Group division and renamed Kuhn-Geldrop B.V. With this acquisition, Kuhn 
Group has filled the existing gap in its range of hay and forage harvesting equipment.  
The acquisition was completed and all the shares acquired on 19 February 2009. The purchase 
consideration, including assumption of debt, was CHF 172.1 million. The entire purchase 
consideration was paid in cash. The gross amount of receivables acquired of CHF 23.5 million 
represented fair value. All receivables were considered fully collectible. The goodwill acquired  
in this acquisition amounted to CHF 55.3 million. The purchase price allocation was completed 
at 31 December 2009. The acquisition costs of CHF 0.9 million have been recognised in 
other operating expenses. In the period from 1 January to 31 December 2009, Kuhn-Geldrop 
B.V. generated EBITDA of CHF 3.3 million and EBIT before impairment of negative CHF 11.0 
million on sales of CHF 113.0 million. Amortisation of the capitalised intangible assets  
resulting from the purchase price allocation had an adverse impact of CHF 10.4 million on 
operating profit. 

The purchase price allocations for the previous year’s acquisitions of Kuhn-Blanchard SAS, 
Chéméré, France, and Command Controls Corporation, Elgin, Illinois, USA, were completed 
during the reporting year. The final purchase price allocation did not result in any adjustments  
to the amounts reported at 31 December 2008. There was therefore no goodwill on the acqui-
sition of Kuhn-Blanchard. Goodwill of CHF 11.4 million has been recognised on the acquisition 
of Command Controls Corporation.

Goodwill

CHF million
Kuhn- 

Geldrop B.V. Total

     2009 2008

Cash paid 172.1 172.1 149.7

Deferred consideration – – 2.4

Total purchase consideration 172.1 172.1 152.1

Less fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 116.8 116.8 82.0

Goodwill 55.3 55.3 70.1

 
The goodwill arising on the acquisitions is attributable to the potential for synergies arising 
from the business combination, expertise of the workforce and other intangible assets  
that cannot be separately identified and measured individually. Detailed information concerning 
goodwill can be found in the notes to intangible assets.
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Cash flow from acquisitions

CHF million   

 2009 2008

 Fair value Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 2.8 0.7

Trade receivables 23.5 18.0

Other receivables 0.9 1.1

Inventories 37.7 21.1

Deferred tax assets 0.8 0.7

Property, plant and equipment 10.8 24.6

Intangible assets 78.7 37.9

Financial liabilities – current – – 1.0

Trade payables – 18.7 – 8.8

Other payables – 5.8 – 3.9

Provisions – 4.3 – 0.6

Deferred tax liabilities – 9.6 – 3.0

Financial liabilities – non-current – – 4.8

Net assets 116.8 82.0

Cash and cash equivalents – 2.8 – 0.7

Deferred consideration – –2.4

Goodwill 55.3 70.1

Deferred consideration paid 3.6 0.7

Net cash outflow on acquisitions 172.9 149.7

3  Short-term investments

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Equities – 3.3

Bonds 66.5 95.8

Money market instruments 1.5 2.5

Short-term investments 68.0 101.6

 

Changes in fair value recognised in equity, net of tax, amounted to CHF 2.0 million  
(2008: CHF 0.7 million).
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4  Receivables

CHF million Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

   2009   2008

Trade receivables, gross 390.4 0.5 390.9 449.9 19.7 469.6

Notes receivable 14.8 – 14.8 29.4 – 29.4

Trade receivables, net 405.2 0.5 405.7 479.3 19.7 499.0

Other receivables 30.2 11.1 41.3 51.1 10.9 62.0

Prepayments to suppliers 1.7 – 1.7 3.3 – 3.3

Derivative financial instruments 0.8 – 0.8 18.7 – 18.7

Accrued income 9.3 – 9.3 7.3 – 7.3

Other receivables 42.0 11.1 53.1 80.4 10.9 91.3

Receivables 447.2 11.6 458.8 559.7 30.6 590.3

Trade receivables and notes receivable represent amounts receivable for goods supplied 
and services provided. As in the previous year, trade and other receivables do not include 
any receivables from associates. 

5  Inventories

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Raw materials and consumables 126.4 157.1

Work in progress 90.5 145.0

Finished goods and goods for resale 268.3 306.9

Inventories 485.2 609.0

 

Inventory write-downs

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Balance at 1 January 85.3 83.0

Additional write-downs 19.5 10.0

Amounts reversed – 3.8 – 2.1

Amounts written off – 0.2 – 0.4

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 3.1 2.3

Exchange differences 0.1 – 7.5

Balance at 31 December 104.0 85.3

There were no write-offs of inventories that had not previously been written down  
(2008: CHF 0.2 million).
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6  Investments in associates

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Balance at 1 January 8.9 16.3

Acquisitions – 1.4

Disposals – – 1.0

Share of (loss)/profit – 1.2 1.1

Impairment charge – – 8.9

Balance at 31 December 7.7 8.9

This item comprises the investment in Jetter AG, Ludwigsburg, Germany. Jetter AG makes up  
its financial statements to 31 March and reported sales of EUR 40.2 million and a profit of  
EUR 1.2 million for the year in its most recently published financial statements for the 2008/ 
2009 financial year. Jetter AG had total assets of EUR 36.9 million and equity of EUR 24.9 million. 
Jetter AG’s shares are traded on the XETRA exchange in Frankfurt. The annual valuation  
of the investment is based on the quoted market price of Jetter AG’s shares. The market 
value of the 26.5% interest was CHF 7.4 million at 31 December 2009. Management is of  
the opinion that the investment is correctly valued at its current carrying amount. Due to 
the present, very volatile stock market movements, management sees no sustained loss  
in value and therefore no need for an impairment charge.

7  Other financial assets

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Loans to associates – 2.0

Long-term loans 20.7 21.9

Other 22.6 18.7

Other financial assets 43.3 42.6

As a result of applying IAS 19, employer contribution reserves totalling CHF 13.7 million 
(2008: CHF 13.7 million) have been capitalised under the heading “other”.
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8  Property, plant and equipment

CHF million
Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
 machinery

Furniture,  
fixtures and 
equipment

Prepayments 
and assets under 

construction

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cost at 1 January 373.3 350.6 382.0 351.0 168.4 173.9 25.3 61.8 949.0 937.3

Exchange differences 3.0 – 37.3 3.2 – 43.1 1.8 – 18.5 0.8 – 6.0 8.8 – 104.9

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 1.6 11.2 20.6 14.5 3.9 4.8 – 0.5 26.1 31.0

Additions 6.0 21.9 21.2 44.1 11.3 18.9 18.5 44.6 57.0 129.5

Disposals – 1.6 – 25.0 – 11.6 – 8.4 – 10.7 – 10.5 – – – 23.9 – 43.9

Transfers 15.5 51.9 9.4 23.9 2.6 – 0.2 – 27.5 – 75.6 – –

Cost at 31 December 397.8 373.3 424.8 382.0 177.3 168.4 17.1 25.3 1 017.0 949.0

                                         

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 165.2 181.8 255.9 264.2 128.7 136.1 – – 549.8 582.1

Exchange differences 0.8 – 17.3 2.5 – 31.1 1.3 – 14.5 – – 4.6 – 62.9

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 0.8 2.0 12.2 2.7 2.3 1.7 – – 15.3 6.4

Disposals – 1.3 – 14.6 – 10.9 – 6.0 – 10.1 – 10.2 – – – 22.3 – 30.8

Depreciation for the year 14.7 13.3 30.6 26.1 15.8 15.6 – – 61.1 55.0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 180.2 165.2 290.3 255.9 138.0 128.7 – – 608.5 549.8

                                         

Net book value at 31 December 217.6 208.1 134.5 126.1 39.3 39.7 17.1 25.3 408.5 399.2

                                         

Of which leased:                                         

Cost 28.8 29.7 1.8 1.8 0.6 0.6 – – 31.2 32.1

Accumulated depreciation 3.9 1.6 1.5 1.2 0.2 0.3 – – 5.6 3.1

Net book value 24.9 28.1 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.3 – – 25.6 29.0

                                         

Lease obligations (present value) 26.3 27.6 0.5 1.0 0.2 0.2 – – 27.0 28.8

                                         

Insurance value 625.1 644.8 647.4 595.7 188.2 187.6 – – 1 460.7 1 428.1
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9  Intangible assets 

CHF million Goodwill Other
Total intangible 

assets

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cost at 1 January 118.3 61.0 134.9 106.9 253.2 167.9

Exchange differences 1.0 – 12.8 2.0 – 10.3 3.0 – 23.1

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 55.3 70.1 92.8 38.2 148.1 108.3

Additions – – 1.5 1.4 1.5 1.4

Disposals – – – 0.4 – 1.3 – 0.4 – 1.3

Cost at 31 December 174.7 118.3 230.8 134.9 405.4 253.2

Accumulated amortisation at 1 January 29.4 – 92.9 89.2 122.3 89.2

Exchange differences – 0.8 – 0.5 2.8 – 6.5 1.9 – 7.0

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries – – 14.1 0.3 14.1 0.3

Disposals – – – 0.4 – 0.6 – 0.4 – 0.6

Amortisation for the year – – 16.9 10.5 16.9 10.5

Impairment charge 85.9 29.9 – – 85.9 29.9

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 114.5 29.4 126.3 92.9 240.7 122.3

Net book value at 31 December 60.2 88.9 104.5 42.0 164.7 130.9

 

Other intangible assets mainly include acquired patents, trademarks and customer lists. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are allocated to the cash-
generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the respective business com-
bination. At 31 December, Bucher Industries held no other intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication of 
possible impairment. Bucher Industries uses the discounted cash flow (DCF) method to test 
the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, based  
on value in use. The calculations used projections based on financial budgets approved by 
management for at least the next three years. Cash flows beyond the budget period were 
determined using a sales growth rate generally based on the current inflation rate in each 
country. Various growth rates and cost of capital rates were used in the calculations for 
sensitivity analysis. The discount rates were determined based on the Group’s weighted 
cost of capital adjusted to reflect specific country and currency risks. The cost of equity  
was determined using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). The following parameters were 
used to test significant amounts of goodwill for impairment:
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Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units

CHF million Growth rates WACC Goodwill Growth rates WACC Goodwill

   2009   2008

Kuhn Group   29.2   35.2

Kuhn North America Inc., USA 2.7% 10.7% 19.3 2.0% 10.3% 20.0

Kuhn do Brasil S/A, Brazil 4.0% 21.5% 0.0 10.0% 21.0% 15.2

Kuhn-Geldrop B.V., Netherlands 1.0% 8.6% 9.9 – – –

Bucher Municipal   7.1   7.3

Gmeiner GmbH, Germany 1.0% 9.5% 3.9 2.0% 9.7% 3.7

Other 1.0% 6.8 – 9.6% 3.2 1.0 – 2.0% 8.4 –10.2% 3.6

Bucher Hydraulics   0.0   21.9

Bucher Hydraulics, Inc., USA 3.7% 10.6% 0.0 4.0% 10.3% 11.7

Command Controls Corporation, USA 3.7% 9.0% 0.0 4.0% 10.3% 10.2

Emhart Glass   5.5   5.5

Emhart Glass AG, Switzerland 1.0% 9.6% 5.5 2.0% 10.1% 5.5

Other   18.4   19.0

Bucher Industries US Inc., USA 2.7% 8.9% 18.4 4.0% 10.3% 19.0

       

Goodwill   60.2   88.9

Due to the continued economic downturn and the still very subdued outlook in the business 
plans, the annual impairment tests of intangible assets indicated that impairment charges 
were necessary on the capitalised goodwill of the following CGUs: CHF 11.9 million for Bucher 
Hydraulics Inc., USA; CHF 10.3 million for Command Controls Corporation, USA; CHF 45.8 
million for Kuhn-Geldrop B.V., Netherlands; and CHF 17.9 million for Kuhn do Brasil S/A, Brazil. 
These impairment losses have been included in amortisation in the income statement for  
the reporting year.

An increase of 0.5 percentage points in the weighted cost of capital would result in an addition-
al impairment loss of CHF 3.6 million for Bucher Hydraulics Inc., CHF 0.5 million for Command 
Controls Corporation, and CHF 8.9 million for Kuhn-Geldrop B.V. A reduction in the residual 
value growth rate to 0% would increase the required impairment charge by CHF 2.2 million  
for Bucher Hydraulics Inc., CHF 0.2 million for Command Controls Corporation, and CHF 1.4 
million for Kuhn-Geldrop B.V. If the residual value growth rate were to improve by 2.0%, 
the required impairment charge would decrease by CHF 1.2 million for Bucher Hydraulics 
Inc., CHF 0.1 million for Command Controls Corporation, and CHF 2.7 million for Kuhn- 
Geldrop B.V.
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10  Interest-bearing financial liabilities

CHF million
Less than 

1 year
1– 5  

years
Over 

5 years
Total interest-bearing 

financial liabilities

    2009 2008

    
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Private placements 53.3 53.3   –  106.6 110.0 106.6 95.6

Bond   –  198.3   –  198.3 203.1 – –

Other bank borrowings 28.8 238.8 – 267.6 278.1 164.2 164.2

Finance lease liabilities 3.1 10.6 13.3 27.0 27.0 28.8 28.8

Loans and other financial liabilities 3.5 20.3 – 23.8 23.8 20.6 20.6

Financial liabilities 88.7 521.3 13.3 623.3 642.0 320.2 309.2

Analysis by currency 

CHF million   

 2009 2008

USD 0.1 0.7

CHF 540.0 254.1

EUR 77.9 56.9

Other 5.3 8.5

Financial liabilities 623.3 320.2

Finance lease liabilities 

CHF million
Less than 

1 year
Over 

1 year Total

2009 2008

Future minimum lease payments 4.1 31.7 35.8 40.0

Future finance charges 1.0 7.8 8.8 11.2

Present value of minimum lease payments 3.1 23.9 27.0 28.8
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Terms of significant interest-bearing financial liabilities

CHF million        

     2009  2008

 Currency
Interest 

rate Term Volume Used Volume Used

Private placement, USA,   

fixed interest rate   CHF  3.54% 2003 – 10.12.2010 53.3 53.3 53.3 53.3

Private placement, USA,  

fixed interest rate   CHF  4.08% 2003 – 10.12.2013 33.3 33.3 33.3 33.3

Private placement, USA,  

fixed interest rate   CHF  4.29% 2003 – 10.12.2015 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0

Bond CHF 3.13% 2009 – 02.10.2014 200.0 200.0 – –

Syndicated loan   CHF  

Libor 

+1.4% 2009 – 30.06.2012 375.0 – – –

Bank loans   CHF    div.  div. 310.0 235.0 80.0 80.0

Fixed-term bank facilities   div.    div.  div. 17.8 17.8 67.5 67.5

Total          1 009.4 559.4 254.1 254.1

In the first half of the year, Bucher Industries AG, Niederweningen, arranged new credit  
facilities and signed a syndicated loan agreement for a total of CHF 375 million with five  
financial institutions. The total sum was spread among the various institutions with different 
credit volumes. The interest rate represents Libor plus an interest margin. The interest 
margin depends on predefined levels of the ratio of the debt payback period. The financial 
covenants are reviewed every six months. Other bilateral committed credit facilities totalling 
CHF 310 million were arranged with ten different financial institutions. The loans bear interest 
at rates of between 2.10% and 3.09% and are due for repayment from the end of 2011 to 
2015. All terms of credit were complied with at the reporting date on 31 December 2009.  
In the previous year, the Group arranged bilateral committed credit facilities in Swiss francs, 
maturing from 2013 to 2015, and short-term fixed bank facilities in Swiss francs, Euros 
and US dollars. The interest rates ranged from 1.35% to 3.20%.

As in the previous year, the items did not include any financial liabilities to associates.
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11  Provisions

CHF million Warranties Legal claims Other Total provisions

    2009 2008

Balance at 1 January 46.8 13.4 17.9 78.1 90.0

Additional provisions 31.6 6.2 12.0 49.8 42.7

Unused amounts reversed – 3.7 – 3.1 – 7.4 – 14.2 – 10.0

Used during year – 33.5 – 1.4 – 0.5 – 35.4 – 36.1

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 3.2 – 1.1 4.3 0.6

Exchange differences 0.9 – – 0.1 0.8 – 9.1

Balance at 31 December 45.3 15.1 23.0 83.4 78.1

                     

Current portion 42.9 13.0 12.6 68.5 63.1

Non-current portion 2.4 2.1 10.4 14.9 15.0

 

A provision for product warranties is recognised when the products are sold, based on  
estimated claims. The timing of cash outflows depends on the dates when warranty claims 
are filed and/or the relevant cases settled. Warranty costs incurred are charged against  
the provision when paid.

The provision for legal claims primarily covers risks associated with accidents, distribution 
rights and patents or other legal disputes. The resources required and timing of any cash out-
flows are difficult to predict and are usually recognised as short-term if a decision can be 
expected within a one-year period. However, depending on the course of the proceedings,  
it may be several years before an outflow of resources actually occurs. 

Other provisions cover various risks associated with the Group’s industrial operations,  
including environmental protection measures. In the reporting year, a provision of approxi-
mately CHF 10 million was made for the closure of the Hanover manufacturing plant  
(Bucher Municipal).
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12  Other payables

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Accruals and deferred income 92.0 117.5

Social security and pensions 23.4 24.1

Sales and capital tax liabilities 16.2 18.6

Derivative financial instruments 0.1 24.6

Other 46.3 54.6

Other payables 178.0 239.4

   

Current portion 173.6 233.6

Non-current portion 4.4 5.8

 

Accruals and deferred income mainly include accrued holiday and overtime pay as well as 
variable remuneration.

In the previous year, the derivative financial instruments were included in financial liabilities.

13  Derivative financial instruments

 Fair value
Contractual 

amount Fair value
Contractual 

amount

CHF million Positive Negative  Positive Negative  

   2009   2008

Forward currency contracts and options 0.8 – 218.8 18.7 24.4 748.4

Interest rate contracts – 0.1 2.5 – 0.2 3.9

Outstanding derivative financial instruments 0.8 0.1 221.3 18.7 24.6 752.3

       

Current portion 0.8 0.1  18.7 24.6  

Non-current portion – –  – –  

Derivative financial instruments were used to hedge the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in 
interest and foreign exchange rates. The contractual amounts reflect the volume (notional 
amount) of hedging contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date. The negative fair value 
represents the amount the Group would have to pay to settle outstanding contracts at the 
balance sheet date. The positive fair value corresponds to the unrealised gain on a hedge at 
the balance sheet date. All hedging transactions are entered into with highly rated financial  
institutions. Use of the above financial instruments did not have a material impact on the 
Group’s financial position at 31 December 2009 or its results of operations for the reporting 
period. Outstanding derivative financial instruments are recorded as other current or non-
current receivables or payables as applicable.
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14  Change in working capital (recognised in the cash flow statement)

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Change in receivables 158.5 – 66.2

Change in inventories 172.7 – 119.1

Change in advances from customers – 37.3 6.2

Change in trade payables – 123.2 33.1

Change in other non-interest-bearing liabilities – 65.5 32.3

Other changes in working capital – 0.7 3.3

Change in working capital 104.5 – 110.4

15 Share capital

Registered shares     2009 2008

Par value   CHF  0.20 0.20

In issue and ranking for dividend   number  10 565 900 10 565 900

Authorised but unissued   number  1 184 100 1 184 100

Treasury shares   number  564 765 597 315

Issued share capital   CHF million  2.1 2.1

The share capital of Bucher Industries AG consists of only one class of voting rights.

16 Treasury shares

 
Number of 

shares CHF 1 000

Balance at 1 January 597 315 27 866

Reissued for share-based payment schemes – 32 550 – 1 305

Balance at 31 December 564 765 26 561

17  Raw materials and consumables used

Raw materials and consumables used include all costs of raw materials and consumables, 
goods purchased and third-party manufacturing, processing or conversion of the Group’s 
products (services purchased).
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18  Employment costs

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Wages and salaries 396.2 443.1

Share awards 1.5 3.1

Share option plan 3.0 2.7

Social security and pension costs 105.2 111.9

Other employment costs 30.1 62.9

Employment costs 536.0 623.7

Social security and pension costs include all statutory and voluntary employee pension 
costs. Other personnel expenses comprise incidental costs of staff recruitment, training 
and development as well as external staff costs.

19  Other operating income

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Own work capitalised 0.7 1.2

Income from reversal of provisions 5.8 4.8

Gain on sale of non-current assets 0.7 0.2

Interest income from operating lease receivables 1.3 1.2

Other income 16.9 22.7

Other operating income 25.4 30.1

Other operating income comprises revenue from sales of goods and services that are  
outside the normal course of the Group’s business.
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20  Other operating expenses

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Energy, maintenance and repairs 73.3 91.7

Charges, taxes, levies and consulting fees 42.3 48.9

Marketing and distribution costs 95.6 127.2

Miscellaneous operating expenses 71.6 89.7

Other operating expenses 282.8 357.5

Charges, taxes, levies and consulting fees include CHF 18.3 million (2008: CHF 17.9 million) 
in capital tax. Miscellaneous operating expenses include operating foreign exchange items 
and necessary provisions for operating liabilities that cannot be charged to a more appro-
priate expense account. Costs under operating leases amounted to CHF 10.7 million  
(CHF 8.9 million).

21  Development costs 

Development costs of CHF 75.9 million (2008: CHF 78.1 million) were charged to the income 
statement for 2009. They mainly comprised expenditure to update and extend the divisions’ 
product and service offerings and are included in raw material and consumables used,  
employment costs, other operating expenses and depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment. As in the previous year, no development costs were capitalised.

22  Finance costs

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Interest expense on financial liabilities 18.4 15.9

Net loss/(gain) on interest derivatives – – 1.1

Other finance costs 2.2 0.6

Finance costs 20.6 15.4
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23  Finance income

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Interest income on financial assets 2.0 6.2

   

Net gain on financial instruments held for trading 0.9 1.0

Net gain on sale of available-for-sale financial instruments 6.3 10.2

Net gain on financial instruments 7.2 11.2

   

Financial foreign exchange gains and losses – 6.5 – 23.3

Other finance income 0.3 –

Finance income 3.0 – 5.9

The amount realised on the sale of “available-for-sale” securities and transferred from equity 
to the income statement was CHF 5.1 million (2008: CHF 9.3 million).

24  Income tax expense

Current income taxes 

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Current income tax 31.0 67.5

Deferred income tax 0.4 4.2

Income tax expense 31.4 71.7

   

Reconciliation   

Profit before tax 7.0 217.1

Applicable tax rate 34.5% 32.4%

Theoretical income tax charge 2.4 70.3

Utilisation of unrecognised tax loss carryforwards – 3.6 – 4.4

Reassessment of tax loss carryforwards with tax asset adjustment 2.4 – 8.7

Adjustments in respect of losses and deferred tax assets 7.7 5.1

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/income not subject to tax 24.0 11.7

Under/(over) provided in prior years – 0.8 – 1.8

Other differences – 0.7 – 0.5

Effective income tax expense 31.4 71.7

Effective tax rate 448.6% 33.0%

Ordinary income tax comprises tax paid or to be paid on the individual companies’ taxable 
profits, calculated in accordance with legislation in the various countries. The reconciliation  
is based on the tax rates applicable in the respective tax jurisdictions. The applicable tax rate 
represents the weighted average of the tax rates.
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Deferred income tax 

CHF million Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

 2009 2009 2008 2008

Property, plant and equipment 1.8 19.1 2.1 16.6

Other financial and non-current assets 1.3 15.6 1.0 11.3

Inventories 20.0 3.1 17.2 7.1

Other current assets 1.0 13.3 2.3 13.9

Provisions 3.6 9.3 1.9 9.6

Other liabilities 8.7 1.8 12.8 0.9

Tax loss carryforwards 6.7 – 8.7 –

     

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 43.1 62.2 46.0 59.4

Offset amounts – 13.7 – 13.7 – 11.6 – 11.6

Deferred income tax assets 29.4  34.4  

Deferred income tax liabilities  48.5  47.8

 

In accordance with the exemption in IAS 12, the Group does not provide for deferred income 
tax on investments in group entities.

Movements in deferred income tax balances

CHF million Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

 2009 2009 2008 2008

Balance at 1 January 34.4 47.8 36.1 44.7

Transfer to income tax liabilities – – 2.6 – –

Charged/credited to income statement – 5.8 – 5.4 1.7 5.9

Charged/credited to equity 

(other comprehensive income) – – 0.7 – – 2.9

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries 0.8 9.6 0.7 3.0

Exchange differences – – 0.2 – 4.1 – 2.9

Balance at 31 December 29.4 48.5 34.4 47.8
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Tax loss carryforwards

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Total tax loss carryforwards 150.8 140.7

Of which recognised in deferred income tax 35.9 46.9

Total unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 114.9 93.8

Of which expiring:   

Within 12 months – –

In 1 to 5 years 20.3 2.4

After 5 years 35.9 38.9

Available indefinitely for offset 58.6 52.5

   

Tax effect on unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 25.7 18.2

No tax loss carryforwards expired in 2009 (2008: CHF 0.4 million). Deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be utilised. This also includes deferred tax assets arising from tax 
loss carryforwards and expected tax credits.

25  Earnings and dividend per share

   

 2009 2008

(Loss)/profit attributable to Bucher Industries equity holders (CHF million) – 26.0 143.3

Average number of shares outstanding (undiluted) 9 986 736 9 955 501

Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 9 990 853 10 017 277

Basic earnings per share (CHF) – 2.60 14.39

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) – 2.60 14.31

Dividend per registered share (CHF) 1) 2.00 4.50

Total dividend (CHF million) 1) 21.1 47.5
1)  2009: proposed by the board of directors.

The average number of shares outstanding is calculated based on the number of shares in issue 
less the weighted average of shares held as treasury shares. The inclusion of outstanding 
share options did not have a dilutive effect on earnings per share (2008: dilution of CHF 0.08).
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26  Retirement benefits

Funding of defined benefit plans

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Fair value of plan assets 263.9 252.3

Present value of funded obligations – 243.8 – 233.2

Funding surplus (+)/deficit (–) 20.1 19.1

Present value of unfunded obligations – 18.0 – 19.9

Surplus (+)/deficit (–) 2.1 – 0.8

         

Cumulative unrecognised actuarial losses 27.8 21.8

Unrecognised surplus – 29.7 – 25.1

         

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet 0.3 – 4.1

Retirement benefit obligations – 18.4 – 21.5

Other financial assets 18.7 17.4

Pension plan assets do not include any shares of Bucher Industries AG. No pension plan assets 
are used by the Group.

Movements in defined benefit obligations 

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Present value of obligations at 1 January 253.1 245.9

Current service cost 5.7 6.0

Interest cost 9.8 9.3

Employee contributions 4.3 4.5

Benefits paid – 19.7 – 9.6

Acquisitions and disposals 0.7 0.4

Plan curtailments/settlements 0.7 – 2.1

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 7.7 4.8

Exchange differences – 0.5 – 6.1

Present value of obligations at 31 December 261.8 253.1
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Movements in fair value of plan assets

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 252.3 265.2

Expected return on plan assets 10.1 10.7

Employer contributions 7.0 8.9

Employee contributions 4.3 4.5

Benefits paid – 13.4 – 7.8

Plan curtailments/settlements – 0.5 0.4

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) 4.5 – 26.2

Exchange differences – 0.4 – 3.4

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 263.9 252.3

In 2009, the actual net return on plan assets was CHF 14.6 million (2008: negative  
CHF 15.5 million).

Categories of plan assets

CHF million     

 2009 % 2008 %

Equities 45.7 17.3 45.4 18.0

Bonds 73.5 27.9 70.6 28.0

Property 60.8 23.0 54.3 21.5

Cash and other financial assets 83.9 31.8 82.0 32.5

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available 
on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Strategic pension plan asset  
allocations are determined by the objective to achieve an investment return which, together 
with the contributions paid, is sufficient to meet the various obligations of the plans.
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Pension costs

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Current service cost – 6.0 – 4.6

Interest cost – 9.8 – 9.3

Expected return on plan assets 10.1 10.7

Plan improvements/curtailments – 1.0 2.1

Amortisation of actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 3.0 – 19.6

Effects of unrecognised surplus – 4.4 15.9

Defined benefit pension costs – 8.1 – 4.8

Defined contribution pension costs – 29.2 – 24.5

Pension costs – 37.3 – 29.3

The Group expects to pay CHF 8.7 million (2009: CHF 8.9 million) in contributions to defined 
benefit plans in 2010.

Actuarial assumptions

Weighted averages in %   

 2009 2008

Discount rate 3.6 3.9

Expected return on plan assets 4.0 4.0

Future salary increases 1.1 1.1

Future pension increases 0.1 0.1

Funding of defined benefit obligations

CHF million      

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Fair value of plan assets 263.9 252.3 265.2 260.8 236.0

Present value of defined benefit obligations 261.8 253.1 245.9 253.1 241.6

Surplus (+)/deficit (–) 2.1 – 0.8 19.3 7.7 – 5.6

                     

Experience adjustments on plan assets 4.5 – 26.2 – 4.5 14.0 7.2

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 3.5 – 8.2 3.2 19.1 0.1
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27 Share-based payments/share option plan

A share-based payment scheme in the form of a share option plan has been established for 
the members of the group management, division managements and selected specialists. 
The exercise price of the share options is equal to the average market price of the shares 
over the 20 trading days preceding the date of grant. One option entitles the holder to 
purchase one registered share of Bucher Industries AG. The options are not negotiable, have 
a life of ten years and the commencement of the one- to four-year exercise period is  
staggered. The shares required to cover grants under this share-based payment scheme  
are purchased in the open market and held by Bucher Beteiligungs-Stiftung, a consolidated  
employee share ownership trust.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding

 
Number of 

options

Average 
exercise price 

in CHF
Number of 

options

Average 
exercise price 

in CHF

 2009 2009 2008 2008

Outstanding at 1 January 213 000 147.5 177 750 138.4

Granted 64 200 115.0 60 600 149.0

Exercised – 14 500 59.2 – 20 550 69.5

Expired – 1 200 166.5 – 4 800 162.6

Outstanding at 31 December 261 500 144.3 213 000 147.5

Exercisable 111 650  74 400  

The expense calculated and recognised as employment costs in the reporting period was  
CHF 3.0 million (2008: CHF 2.7 million). The cumulative amount recognised in equity was  
CHF 8.2 million (CHF 5.2 million). The fair values determined for the various tranches of  
options at the grant date were between CHF 34.20 for the first tranche and CHF 38.33 for the 
fourth tranche (CHF 41.77). The significant inputs used to calculate the fair value of share 
options were a share price of CHF 116.20 (CHF 135.00), volatility of 35.8% (40.6%), a risk-free 
interest rate ranging from 1.78% for the first tranche to 2.08% for the fourth tranche, an 
expected dividend yield of 1.49%, an expected option life of 5.5 to 7.0 years and an exit 
rate of 5%. Expected volatility is based on historical, long-term volatility.

The average share price for options exercised was CHF 105.90 (CHF 213.96).
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Option expiry dates

 
Number of 

options

Average 
exercise price 

in CHF
Number of 

options

Average 
exercise price 

in CHF

 2009 2009 2008 2008

2009 – – 11 025 46.8

2010 – – 675 52.4

2015 35 300 108.0 37 800 108.0

2016 47 400 116.0 48 300 116.0

2017 55 200 221.0 55 800 221.0

2018 59 400 149.0 59 400 149.0

2019 64 200 115.0 – –

Outstanding at 31 December 261 500 144.3 213 000 147.5

28 Related party transactions

Key management remuneration

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Salaries 4.3 4.5

Post-employment benefits 1.1 1.2

Share awards 1.3 1.6

Share option plan 1.0 1.0

Key management remuneration 7.7 8.3

Salaries include variable remuneration, fees and expense allowances paid in cash. No directors, 
group management members or persons connected with them received any additional  
remuneration, fees or loans during the year. At the year end there were no loans outstanding 
to the company’s governing bodies. Directors’ fees are paid in the form of cash and shares. 

Remuneration to former directors and group management members

Due to his previous service as executive chairman of the board until April 2007, Rudolf Hauser 
was awarded 276 shares (2008: 1 808) worth CHF 29 228, valued at the average share price  
of CHF 105.90 for the year, on a pro rata basis under the long-term incentive plan. No other 
former directors and group management members or persons connected with them received 
any remuneration or fees during the year.
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Year-end balances with related parties

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Receivables from pension funds 18.7 17.4

Receivables from associates – 2.0

Payables to associates 0.9 0.8

All related party transactions are entered into on normal commercial terms and conditions. 
In 2009, goods worth CHF 18.9 million (2008: CHF 21.2 million) were purchased from associates.

29 Financial risk management

Directors’ risk report

Bucher Industries has a centralised risk management system with defined risk control 
processes. Risk management is an integral part of the planning and implementation of the 
business strategy. The board of directors defines and approves the framework for risk  
management policy and annually monitors compliance with the risk control mechanisms. 
Furthermore, it annually sets the risk limits for financial management within the Group.

Within risk management, risks are categorised as strategic, operational, financial or organisa-
tional. Strategic risks are usually complex and difficult to quantify, but have a significant 
impact on the success of the business. Financial risks are controlled and monitored centrally. 
The board of directors and group management are responsible for assessing strategic,  
financial and organisational risks. Operational risks are assigned to the divisions and their 
operating units. Bucher Industries applies a risk management and control system that 
identifies the Group’s risks and allows the board of directors and group management to  
realistically assess, monitor and manage the risks. Identifiable risks are classified according  
to their likelihood and impact and are covered in the risk report prepared annually.

The board of directors analyses the risk report in detail, discusses the proposed measures 
and adapts them where necessary. The directors and group management receive monthly 
and/or quarterly information from the management information system (MIS), giving them 
an overview of the status of performance and financial results as well as information and 
assessments concerning aspects of risk and capital management. Within the framework of 
the internal control system, the control activities for the Group have been defined within  
financial reporting to allow the financial risks to be identified, monitored and avoided. In addi-
tion to the risk management disclosures on the following pages, more information about  
the Group’s risk management can be found on pages 80 and 81 of the financial report.
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Fair value disclosures

Fair value measurements of financial instruments carried at fair value in the balance sheet are 
initially classified using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements. In level 1, fair value is determined based on observable 
inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the 
Group has the ability to access at the measurement date. For level 2, the valuation uses 
observable inputs for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or valuation techniques 
for which all significant inputs are based on observable market data. In level 3, the valuation 
uses inputs that are not based on observable market data but adjusted for entity informa-
tion that is inconsistent with market expectations. During the reporting period, there  
were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers 
into or out of level 3 fair value measurements.

Fair value hierarchy

CHF million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Carrying 
amount

Assets measured at fair value     

Money market instruments 157.9         157.9

Short-term investments 68.0 – – 68.0

Derivative financial instruments – 0.8 – 0.8

     

Liabilities measured at fair value           

Derivative financial liabilities – 0.1 – 0.1
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Carrying amounts/fair value financial assets and liabilities in categories 2009

CHF million

Held for trading 
at fair value 

through profit 
or  loss

Loans and  
receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Carrying  
amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 157.9 279.3 – – 437.2 437.2

Short-term investments – – 68.0 – 68.0 68.0

Trade receivables – 405.7 – – 405.7 405.7

Other receivables 0.8 41.3 – – 42.1 42.1

Other financial assets – 23.5 1.1 – 24.6 24.6

Financial liabilities – current – – – 88.7 88.7 89.3

Trade payables – – – 189.6 189.6 189.6

Other payables 0.1 – – 85.9 86.0 86.0

Financial liabilities – non-current – – – 534.6 534.6 552.7

Carrying amounts/fair value financial assets and liabilities in categories 2008

CHF million

Held for trading 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Loans and  
receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Carrying  
amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 30.3 102.3 – – 132.6 132.6

Short-term investments – – 101.6 – 101.6 101.6

Trade receivables – 499.0 – – 499.0 499.0

Other receivables 18.7 62.0 – – 80.7 80.7

Other financial assets – 24.8 0.4 – 25.2 25.2

Financial liabilities – current – – – 85.9 85.9 85.9

Trade payables – – – 288.3 288.3 288.3

Other payables 24.6 – – 97.3 121.9 121.9

Financial liabilities – non-current – – – 234.3 234.3 223.3
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Credit risk

The Group placed short-term deposits with banking institutions that have a good international 
risk rating. The Group had no concentration of credit risk associated with receivables from 
banks. Its banking relationships included relationships with local banks so they were widely 
spread geographically. Other short-term financial investments comprised marketable  
securities of high credit quality. Other long-term receivables were immaterial.

The credit risk on trade receivables was limited due to the Group’s diversified customer base.  
Its customers operate in different industries spread across diverse geographical areas world-
wide as shown in the segment analysis in note 1. The Group therefore had no concentra-
tion of credit risk. In addition, credit risk was minimised by security in the form of credit 
insurance, advance payment schemes, letters of credit and bank guarantees.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk was as follows:

CHF million
Carrying  
amount Secured

Carrying 
amount Secured

 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 437.2 – 132.6 –

Short-term investments 68.0 – 101.6 –

Trade receivables 405.7 52.3 499.0 46.3

Other receivables 42.1 15.8 80.7 25.9

Other financial assets 24.6 19.4 25.2 21.3

Maximum credit risk exposure 977.6 87.5 839.1 93.5
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Ageing analysis of receivables and impairment

Receivables consisted of trade and other receivables. Provision for impairment was made 
applying ageing criteria, on the one hand, and as needed to reflect risks associated with  
the specific customer and region, on the other. At the balance sheet date, there were no 
receivables that would have been past due but whose terms were renegotiated. In the  
reporting year, 0.1% (2008: 0.1%) of receivables not provided for in the previous period had 
to be written off. No other financial assets were impaired or past due.

CHF million  

 2009 2008

Trade receivables, gross 423.5 516.8

Amount provided for – 17.8 – 17.8

Other receivables, gross 41.5 62.0

Amount provided for – 0.2 –

Total receivables, net 447.0 561.0

         

Long-term receivables 11.6 30.6

Receivables due in more than 3 months 43.3 54.3

Receivables due within 3 months 353.9 428.2

Receivables past due more than 60 days and less than 1 year, gross 41.9 55.0

Amount provided for – 0.6 – 0.5

Receivables past due more than 1 year, gross 14.3 10.4

Amount provided for – 2.5 – 4.7

Provision for impaired receivables not past due – 14.9 – 12.7

Provision for impairment of receivables

CHF million  

 2009 2008

Balance at 1 January 17.8 19.0

Provision for receivables impairment 4.5 8.8

Unused amounts reversed – 3.2 – 4.1

Receivables written-off during the year as uncollectible – 1.7 – 3.4

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries – 0.2

Exchange differences 0.6 – 2.7

Balance at 31 December 18.0 17.8
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Liquidity risk

Expected cash flows arising from liabilities are equal to the repayment obligations, including 
any interest payments, as set out in note 10. Cash flows to settle trade payables of  
CHF 189.6 million (2008: CHF 288.3 million) are expected to occur within 1 to 60 days as in  
the previous year, while cash flows to settle other non-interest-bearing liabilities of  
CHF 85.9 million (CHF 97.3 million) are mostly expected to occur within 1 to 150 days as in the 
previous year. As financial derivatives consist almost exclusively of forward currency  
contracts, the expected net cash flows are immaterial.

The quick ratio was 137.0% at the year end (90.5%). 

Price risk

The Group’s short-term investments were in money market instruments, bonds and equities, 
largely through investment funds, in compliance with the Group’s investment guidelines. 
The price risk on the positions was monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Foreign currency risk

Bucher Industries reports in Swiss francs. Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises from 
the translation of the subsidiaries’ separate financial statements denominated in local  
currencies. Translation risk arising from local balance sheets and having an impact on the 
Group’s equity is not hedged. 

The Group’s international operations expose it to foreign currency risk in its major sales 
and procurement markets, primarily with respect to the Euro, US dollar, British pound and 
Swedish krona. Where the individual subsidiaries have cash inflows and outflows de nom -
inated in different currencies, the foreign currency risk of the individual underlying transac-
tions is hedged using appropriate financial instruments. The group entities report their 
 forecasted future cash flows to group treasury, which manages the calculated exposure  
to exchange rate fluctuations using internal hedging instruments and, externally, with 
highly rated banks.
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The following exchange rates were used to translate the principal currencies in the Group 
into Swiss francs:

 Income statement average rates Balance sheet closing rates

 2009 2008 2009 2008

1 EUR 1.5059 1.5845 1.4836 1.4850

1 GBP 1.6847 1.9971 1.6705 1.5591

1 USD 1.0814 1.0795 1.0298 1.0670

1 BRL 0.5408 0.5976 0.5908 0.4578

1 AUD 0.8491 0.9157 0.9268 0.7325

100 SEK 14.2100 16.4400 14.4700 13.6600

Value at risk

Value at risk (VaR) is a measure used to quantify the extent of changes in the value of financial 
parameters. VaR measures the maximum potential loss of value of a risk factor portfolio that 
may occur with a given probability (confidence level) over a certain holding period. Given the 
whole distribution of changes in market value, the potential amount of losses in market  
value and their probability are compared with the current market price level of the financial 
instruments. Based on this analysis, financial instruments are either replaced or hedged  
using financial derivatives where necessary.

CHF million VaR at 31 December

 2009 2008

Foreign currency risk – 1.1 – 3.8

Interest rate risk – 12.1 – 5.6

Covariance 0.3 0.3

Total – 12.9 – 9.1

The indicated VaR measures are calibrated to a 90% confidence level and a 30-day holding 
period. They are calculated with a Monte Carlo simulation using 10 000 scenarios for interest 
structure and forward exchange curves for all relevant currencies, maintaining the average 
historical risk factor correlations. The model takes into account both linear and non-linear  
influences of the risk factors. The statistical parameters required for the VaR calculation are 
determined on the basis of an observation time series covering the last 251 trading days 
(representing at least one calendar year), with each observation equally weighted.
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30 Capital management

The capital managed by Bucher Industries represents consolidated equity. The Group’s objectives 
when managing its capital structure are to: 
 ensure that the Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial  

 obligations, while maintaining a healthy and solid balance sheet structure;
 secure adequate credit facilities and maintain its credit rating; 
 ensure the necessary financial flexibility to fund future organic growth, capital expenditure 

 and acquisitions; 
 provide an adequate return to investors commensurate with the level of risk.

In order to adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends, initiate 
share buy-back programmes, issue new shares and raise or repay debt. 

Through continuous ratio monitoring and reporting to management, the Group ensures 
that the required measures are taken as soon as necessary. Bucher Industries monitors equity 
and operating capital employed on the basis of the following ratios:

   

 2009 2008

Interest coverage ratio (EBITDA to net interest expense) 11.6 39.7

Debt payback period (net debt to EBITDA) 0.6 0.3

Gearing ratio (net debt to equity) 14.9% 13.1%

Equity ratio (equity to total assets) 37.3% 40.9%

Quick ratio (current assets less inventory/current liabilities) 137.0% 90.5%

Part of the profit generated is paid out to shareholders in the form of dividends. Bucher  
Industries pursues a consistent dividend policy. This policy is aligned with the Group’s 
capital requirements to implement its strategy and is therefore focused on current financ-
ing needs and compliance with legal requirements. The Group is not subject to any exter-
nally imposed capital restrictions.
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31  Contingent liabilities

CHF million   

 2009 2008

Notes payable 0.0 2.3

Bonds and guarantees in favour of third parties 11.0 12.7

Contingent liabilities 11.0 15.0

 

Contingent liabilities are stated at the full amount of liability, i.e. the maximum amount 
of the obligations assumed. It is not anticipated that any outflows of funds will arise from 
these contingent liabilities. The guarantees have been given in respect of goods sold and 
services provided.

32  Pledged assets 

The book value of assets pledged or assigned to secure the Group’s obligations was  
CHF 2.3 million (2008: CHF 3.1 million).

33  Commitments

Fixed-term operating leases

CHF million
Less than 

1 year 1– 5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2009 7.4 18.3 19.3 45.0

At 31 December 2008 6.3 10.9 19.9 37.1

The Group has entered into operating leases for the use of buildings, items of machinery 
and vehicles.

Other commitments

As in the previous year, the Group did not enter into any commitments to purchase plant 
and equipment.



121

Bucher annual report 2009

34  Events after the reporting period

The Group put a new management structure in place from 1 January 2010. The independent 
businesses for winemaking equipment (Bucher Vaslin), fruit juice processing equipment 
(Bucher Foodtech), drying systems for the food industry and sludge dewatering systems 
(Bucher Drytech) have been grouped together with the Swiss distributorship for tractors  
and agricultural machinery (Bucher Landtechnik) in the newly established Bucher Specials 
segment. The Bucher Process division was dissolved. This change will have an impact on  
the disclosure of segment information in future periods.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors  
on 8 March 2010. They are subject to formal approval by the annual general meeting on  
15 April 2010.

When the consolidated financial statements were finalised on 8 March 2010, neither the 
board of directors nor the group management was aware of any events that would have 
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements presented.
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Significant consolidated companies

Company, place of incorporation Country Currency Share capital Group interest % Division Activities

Bucher Industries AG, Niederweningen CH CHF 2 113 180  O   S

Bucher Industries France SAS, Entzheim FR EUR 311 210 000 100 O   S

Bucher Beteiligungen GmbH, Klettgau DE EUR 4 500 000 100 O   S

Bucher Beteiligungs-Stiftung, Niederweningen CH CHF 250 000 100 O   S

Bucher BG Finanz AG, Steinhausen CH CHF 26 505 000 100 O   S

Bucher Finance Ltd., Jersey GB EUR 51 000 100 O   S

Bucher Immobilien GmbH, Trier DE EUR 4 000 000 100 O   S

Bucher Industries Italia S.p.A., Reggio Emilia IT EUR 3 380 000 100 O   S

Bucher Industries US Inc., Enfield CT US USD 10 000 000 100 O   S

Bucher Invest SA, Luxembourg LU EUR 31 000 100 O   S

Bucher Investment GmbH, Steinhausen CH CHF 100 000 100 O   S

Bucher Management AG, Kloten CH CHF 6 600 000 100 O   S

Kuhn Group SAS, Saverne FR EUR 300 100 000 100 O   S

Kuhn SA, Saverne FR EUR 19 488 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn-Blanchard SAS, Chéméré FR EUR 2 000 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn-Geldrop B.V., Geldrop 1) NL EUR 10 000 000 100 KG P D  

Contifonte SA, Saverne FR EUR 48 000 98 KG P D  

Kuhn North America, Inc., Brodhead WI US USD 10 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn do Brasil S/A, Passo Fundo BR BRL 11 181 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn MGM SAS, Monswiller FR EUR 2 000 000 99 KG P D  

Kuhn-Audureau SA, La Copechagnière FR EUR 4 070 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn-Huard SA, Châteaubriant FR EUR 4 800 000 100 KG P D  

Kuhn Farm Machinery Inc., Sainte Madeleine CA CAD 150 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Farm Machinery Ltd., Telford GB GBP 100 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Farm Machinery Pty Ltd., Warragul VIC AU AUD 100 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Farm Machinery Sarl, Kiev UA UAH 650 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Iberica SA, Daganzo ES EUR 100 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Italia Srl., Melegnano IT EUR 520 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Maschinen-Vertrieb GmbH, Schopsdorf DE EUR 300 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Maszyny Rolnicze Sp.z.o.o., Suchy Las PL PLN 3 536 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Vostok LLC, Moscow RU RUB 10 000 000 100 KG  D  

Kuhn Parts SAS, Saverne FR EUR 5 000 000 100 KG   S

Bucher-Guyer AG, Niederweningen CH CHF 10 000 000 100 BM P D S

Bucher Landtechnik AG, Niederweningen CH CHF 4 000 000 100 BM  D  
1)  Consolidated for the first time in 2009.

 Divisions: KG Kuhn Group, BM Bucher Municipal, BP Bucher Process, BH Bucher Hydraulics, EG Emhart Glass, O Other.
 Activities: P Production, D Distribution, S Services.

 

 

Group companies
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Company, place of incorporation Country Currency Share capital Group interest % Division Activities

Bucher Schörling GmbH, Hanover DE EUR 3 000 000 100 BM P D  

Gmeiner GmbH, Kümmersbruck DE EUR 26 000 100 BM P D  

Bucher Schörling Korea Ltd., Seoul KR KRW 350 000 000 100 BM P D  

SIA Bucher Schörling Baltic, Ventspils LV LVL 2 551 500 100 BM P D  

Giletta S.p.A., Revello IT EUR 1 000 000 50 BM P D  

Arvel Industries Sàrl, Coudes FR EUR 200 000 50 BM P D  

Tecvia Eurl, Lyon FR EUR 38 112 50 BM  D  

Johnston Sweepers Ltd., Dorking GB GBP 8 000 100 BM P D  

Beam A/S, Them DK DKK 5 000 000 100 BM P D  

MacDonald Johnston Ltd., Clayton North AU AUD 5 901 000 100 BM P D  

Bucher Vaslin SA, Chalonnes-sur-Loire FR EUR 2 400 000 100 BP P D  

Bucher Vaslin MS SA, Rivesaltes FR EUR 410 000 100 BP P D  

Bucher Vaslin S.p.A., Romans d’Isonzo IT EUR 208 000 100 BP P D  

Bucher Vaslin Australia Pty Ltd, Mawson Lakes AU AUD 10 100 BP  D  

KLR Machines Inc., Sebastopol CA US USD 88 000 100 BP  D  

Bucher Vaslin Sùdamerica, Santiago de Chile CL CLP 924 000 100 BP  D  

Bucher Processtech AG, Niederweningen CH CHF 600 000 100 BP P D  

Bucher-Alimentech Ltd., Auckland NZ NZD 2 503 000 100 BP P D  

Bucher-Zédrys SA, Croissy Beaubourg FR EUR 250 000 100 BP   S

Bucher Engineering Ges.m.b.H., Vösendorf AT EUR 36 336 100 BP  D  

Bucher Hydraulics GmbH, Klettgau DE EUR 4 000 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Dachau GmbH, Dachau DE EUR 30 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Produktions AG, Langendorf CH CHF 200 000 100 BH P   

Bucher Hydraulics SAS, Rixheim FR EUR 200 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Ges.m.b.H., Neumarkt AT EUR 40 000 100 BH  D  

Bucher Hydraulics Ltd., Nuneaton GB GBP 10 000 100 BH  D  

Bucher Hydrauliek B.V., Zoetermeer NL EUR 18 000 100 BH  D  

Bucher Hydraulics AG, Neuheim CH CHF 1 200 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Co., Ltd., Taoyuan TW TWD 20 000 000 55 BH P D  

Suzhou Bucher Hydraulics Co. Ltd., Wujiang CN CNY 13 640 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics GmbH, Remscheid DE EUR 25 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hidrolik Sistemleri Tic. Ltd. Sti., Istanbul TR TRY 26 000 100 BH  D  

Bucher Hydraulics KK, Tokyo JP JPY 100 000 85 BH  D  

Bucher Hydraulics AG Frutigen, Frutigen CH CHF 300 000 100 BH P D  
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Bucher Hydraulics S.p.A., Reggio Emilia IT EUR 1 500 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Ltd., New Delhi IN INR 10 000 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Inc., Grand Rapids US USD 12 150 000 100 BH P D  

Bucher Hydraulics Corp., London CA CAD 75 000 100 BH   S

Command Controls Corp., Elgin US USD 23 000 100 BH P D  

Emhart Glass SA, Cham CH CHF 10 000 000 100 EG  D S

Emhart Glass Manufacturing Inc., Elmira NY US USD 1 000 100 EG P   

Emhart Glass Sdn Bhd., Ulu Tiram Johor MY MYR 250 000 100 EG P   

Emhart Glass Sweden AB, Sundsvall SE SEK 30 000 000 100 EG P  S

Emhart Glass GmbH, Neuss DE EUR 50 000 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass Inc., Enfield CT US USD 2 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass International SA, Cham CH CHF 100 000 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass Japan Pte. Ltd., Singapore SG JPY 100 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass Ltd., Doncaster GB GBP 38 000 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass OOO, Moscow RU RUB 10 000 100 EG  D S

Emhart Glass Pte. Ltd., Singapore SG SGD 2 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass S.r.l., Dego IT EUR 320 000 100 EG   S

Emhart Glass Spain SA, Madrid ES EUR 65 016 100 EG   S

Associates

Company, place of incorporation Country Currency Share capital Group interest % Division Activities

Jetter AG, Ludwigsburg DE EUR 3 241 061 27 O P D  

 Divisions: KG Kuhn Group, BM Bucher Municipal, BP Bucher Process, BH Bucher Hydraulics, EG Emhart Glass, O Other.
 Activities: P Production, D Distribution, S Services.
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Group Holding company Five-year summary Addresses
Report of the statutory auditors

To the general meeting of Bucher Industries AG, Niederweningen

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bucher  
Industries AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehen-
sive income, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and notes (pages 72 to 
124), for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of directors’ responsibility    The board of directors is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law. This respon-
sibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The board of directors is  
further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility   Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss 
law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 

Report of the statutory auditors
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Opinion   In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2009 give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash 
flows in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply 
with Swiss law. 

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Over-
sight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no 
circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation  
of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the board of directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Beat Inauen   Ralf Zwick
Audit expert   Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 8 March 2010
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Balance sheet 
Income statement

 Holding company Five-year summary Addresses

Assets

Liabilities and 

equity

Balance sheet of Bucher Industries AG 
at 31 December 2009

CHF 1 000 Note   

  2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents  117 724 4 431

Short-term investments 1 – 12 417

Receivables from group companies  19 593 139 035

Other receivables  1 164 19 083

Current assets  138 481 174 966

Loans to group companies 2 611 439 368 539

Loans to third parties  46 92

Investments 3 637 112 496 295

Intangible assets 4 43 341 54 894

Non-current assets  1 291 938 919 820

    

Total assets  1 430 419 1 094 786

    

Short-term bank borrowings  23 696 67 535

Current payables to group companies  212 715 307 781

Private placements  53 288 –

Other current liabilities  4 034 26 908

Current liabilities  293 733 402 224

Private placements  53 288 106 576

3 1/8 % bond 2009 to 2014 200 000 –

Long-term bank borrowings  233 331 80 000

Other non-current liabilities  2 048 2 023

Provisions 5 4 912 5 755

Non-current liabilities  493 579 194 354

    

Share capital 6 2 113 2 113

Statutory reserve  70 610 70 610

Distributable reserve  326 000 237 135

Reserve for treasury shares 7 – 27 866

Retained earnings  53 176 47 291

Profit for the year  191 208 113 193

Equity  643 107 498 208

    

Total liabilities and equity  1 430 419 1 094 786
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Income

Expenses

Income statement of Bucher Industries AG
for the year ended 31 December 2009 

CHF 1 000 Note   

  2009 2008

Income from investments 9 193 696 102 087

Finance income 10 242 945 153 214

Royalty income from group companies 11 10 322 10 292

Gain on sale of non-current assets  6 –

Other income  – 29 426

Total income  446 969 295 019

    

Administrative expenses  3 159 3 956

Finance costs 12 221 294 157 382

Impairment charges 13 17 585 4 426

Amortisation of intangible assets  13 723 13 723

Income tax expense  – 2 339

Total expenses  255 761 181 826

    

Profit for the year  191 208 113 193
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Notes to the financial  
statements

 Holding company Five-year summary Addresses

Notes to the financial statements of
Bucher Industries AG  

1  Short-term investments  

In the previous year, this item comprised treasury shares only. These were sold during the 
reporting year.

2  Loans to group companies 

Serving as the central source of financing for the Group, Bucher Industries AG provides
adequate equity funding and grants loans to group companies.

3  Investments 

Bucher Industries AG’s direct and indirect investments in subsidiaries and associates are
presented in the list of group companies on pages 122 and 124 of the annual report.

4 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprised primarily trademarks of group companies.

5  Provisions 

Provisions have been made for business risks, guarantee obligations and taxes. 

6  Share capital 

Bucher Industries AG has authorised but unissued capital representing a maximum of  
1 184 100 registered shares of CHF 0.20 each, which is reserved for the exercise of warrants 
or conversion rights attached to bonds and of options under rights issued to shareholders. 
The registered shares are widely held by public shareholders. A group of shareholders organ-
ised under a shareholders’ agreement and represented by Rudolf Hauser, Zurich, holds a  
total of 34.14% of the voting rights, as published in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce 
(SHAB) on 10 May 2005. The essence of the shareholders’ agreement has not been published. 
Bucher Beteiligungs-Stiftung held 5.35% of the issued share capital, the voting rights attached 
to such shares being suspended in accordance with article 659a par. 1 of the Swiss Code  
of Obligations. Up to the date of approval of the company’s financial statements, the board of 
Bucher Industries AG was not aware of any other shareholders, or groups of shareholders 
subject to voting agreements, who held more than 3% of the total voting rights.
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7 Reserve for treasury shares

Bucher Industries AG sold its treasury shares to Bucher Beteiligungs-Stiftung, an employee 
share ownership trust. In 2009, a review showed that Bucher Industries AG cannot exercise 
control over Bucher Beteiligungs-Stiftung within the meaning of Art. 659b of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations. For this reason, the reserve for treasury shares was fully reversed.

8  Contingent liabilities

The company has incurred contingent liabilities to cover group companies’ obligations
to banks in respect of credit and cash pool agreements. The maximum exposure was
CHF 113.7 million (2008: CHF 120.9 million). The amount claimed at the reporting date
was CHF 37.1 million (CHF 28.9 million).

9  Income from investments

Income from investments comprised dividends received from directly related group
companies.

10  Finance income

Finance income consisted of interest on loans granted to group companies, foreign
exchange gains and income from cash and liquid assets.

11  Royalty income

Royalty income consisted of fees charged to group companies for the use of brand names.
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12  Finance costs

Finance costs represented interest expense on outstanding bonds, bank borrowings and 
payables to group companies as well as foreign exchange losses.

13  Impairment charges

This item comprised impairment losses on investments.

14 Risk assessment procedure

Bucher Industries AG is the parent company of the Bucher Industries Group. A risk assess- 
ment process covering all the Group’s operations takes place at group level (see the risk 
 report in the notes to the consolidated financial statements). The risk exposures of Bucher
Industries AG have therefore been assessed from the perspective of the Group as a whole
and the required measures adopted where considered necessary.
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Disclosure of remuneration and interests

Directors’ remuneration

CHF 1 000 Year
Base 

salary Share awards

Share awards 
under 

long-term 
incentive plan

Social 
security 

and 
pension 
benefits

Other 
remu-

neration Total
Paid in 

cash

   Number Value Number Value     

Thomas W. Hauser, chairman 1) 2009 47.3 347 36.7 – – 9.0 12.7 105.7 60.0

 2008 – 491 51.6 – – 6.2 11.8 69.6 11.8

Rolf Broglie, deputy chairman 1) 2009 54.3 300 31.8 – – 8.6 12.7 107.4 67.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Ernst Bärtschi 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 7.1 12.0 79.2 42.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Thomas W. Bechtler 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 7.1 12.0 79.2 42.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Claude R. Cornaz 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.1 2.0 68.2 32.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Anita Hauser 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.1 2.0 68.2 32.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Heinrich Spoerry 2009 30.0 284 30.1 – – 6.6 7.0 73.7 37.0

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 1.8 51.5 1.8

Kurt E. Siegenthaler 2) 2009 110.0 800 84.7 675 71.5 22.6 11.8 300.6 121.8

 2008 120.0 561 58.9 726 76.2 21.0 13.6 289.7 133.6

Erwin Stoller 2) 2009 – 600 63.5 – – 7.4 11.2 82.1 11.2

 2008 – 421 44.2 – – 5.5 11.8 61.5 11.8

Total for directors 2009 361.6 3 467 367.2 675 71.5 80.6 83.4 964.3 445.0

 2008 120.0 3 999 419.9 726 76.2 65.7 78.0 759.8 198.0
1)   Since 1 September 2009.
2)   Until 31 August 2009.

Under the remuneration regulations in force for 2008, the directors who resigned from the board 
on 31 August 2009 received a pro rata fee for 2009 and were not paid termination benefits. 

Share awards to directors comprised directors’ fees. The shares awarded under the long-
term incentive plan to the chairman who resigned from the board during the year are 
based on the achievement of targets in the period 2007 to 2009 (2008: 2006 to 2008). In 2009, 
the share awards were based on and valued at the average share price of CHF 105.90 for  
the year. Until 2008, the shares were valued at the year-end share price. Other remuneration 
included expenses and fees for service on the board committees.

Remuneration to former directors and group management members
 
Due to his previous service as executive chairman of the board until April 2007, Rudolf 
Hauser was awarded 276 shares (2008: 1 808) worth CHF 29 228, valued at the average share 
price of CHF 105.90 for the year, on a pro rata basis under the long-term incentive plan.  
No other former directors and group management members or persons connected with them 
received any remuneration or fees during the year.
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Group management remuneration

CHF 1 000 Year
Base 

salary Bonus

Share awards 
under 

long-term 
incentive plan

Share options 
under 

option plan

Social 
security 

and  
pension 
benefits

Other 
remu-

neration Total
Paid in 

cash

    Number Value Number Value     

Philip Mosimann, CEO 2009 700.2 267.6 4 960 525.3 3 600 131.2 256.6 19.2 1 900.1 987.0

 2008 700.2 392.1 7 264 762.7 3 600 150.4 275.1 19.2 2 299.7 1 111.5

Other members 2009 2 129.8 676.7 3 476 368.1 14 400 524.7 811.8 30.0 4 541.1 2 836.5

 2008 2 148.3 998.3 2 178 228.7 14 400 601.5 839.1 30.0 4 845.9 3 176.6

Total for group management 2009 2 830.0 944.3 8 436 893.4 18 000 655.9 1 068.4 49.2 6 441.2 3 823.5

 2008 2 848.5 1 390.4 9 442 991.4 18 000 751.9 1 114.2 49.2 7 145.6 4 288.1

The shares awarded to the group management under the long-term incentive plan are 

based on the achievement of targets in the period 2007 to 2009 (2008: 2006 to 2008). In 
2009, the share awards were based on and valued at the average share price of CHF 105.90  
for the year. Until 2008, the shares were valued at the year-end share price. In the reporting 

year, the share option plans were valued using the so-called Enhanced American model  

(EA model) for the first time. They were previously valued using the Black-Scholes model. 

The average fair value of all share options at the grant date was CHF 36.44 (CHF 41.77).  

As the exercise of options is staggered over a four-year period, their fair values range between 

CHF 34.20 for the first tranche and CHF 38.33 for the fourth tranche.

Detailed information can be found in the remuneration report.

Directors’ interests in shares at 31 December

 Number of shares

 2009 2008

Thomas W. Hauser, chairman 1 070 060 1 069 569

Rolf Broglie, deputy chairman 12 039 11 618

Ernst Bärtschi 2 494 2 073

Thomas W. Bechtler 4 061 2 278

Claude R. Cornaz 7 814 7 393

Anita Hauser 100 876 100 455

Heinrich Spoerry 1 568 1 147

Total for directors 1 198 912 1 194 533

The directors did not hold any share options on 31 December 2009.
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Group management’s interests in shares and share options at 31 December

  Number of shares Number of options

  2009 2008 2009 2008

Philip Mosimann CEO 37 940 30 676 15 300 11 700

Roger Baillod CFO 10 054 10 291 9 000 6 600

Jean-Pierre Bernheim Bucher Process 7 994 7 631 12 000 11 475

Michael Häusermann Bucher Municipal 4 859 3 596 12 000 10 500

Martin Jetter Emhart Glass 959 596 10 200 7 800

Michel Siebert Kuhn Group 1 844 1 221 10 200 8 250

Daniel Waller Bucher Hydraulics 4 599 4 236 12 000 10 500

Total for group management 68 249 58 247 80 700 66 825

  Number of options

Grant year 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total

Exercise price (CHF)
Staggered vesting over 4 years
Life (years)

115.00
2010-2013

10

149.00
2009-2012

10

221.00
2008-2011

10

116.00
2007-2010

10

108.00
2006-2009

10

 
 
 

Philip Mosimann CEO 3 600 3 600 3 600 2 700 1 800 15 300

Roger Baillod CFO 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 200 600 9 000

Jean-Pierre Bernheim Bucher Process 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Michael Häusermann Bucher Municipal 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Martin Jetter Emhart Glass 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 800 1 200 10 200

Michel Siebert Kuhn Group 2 400 2 400 2 400 1 800 1 200 10 200

Daniel Waller Bucher Hydraulics 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 2 400 12 000

Total for group management 18 000 18 000 18 000 14 700 12 000 80 700

Each option entitles the holder to purchase one share.
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Group

Board of directors’ proposal

Appropriation of retained earnings

CHF  

Profit for 2009 191 208 203

Retained earnings brought forward 53 175 603

Retained earnings available for distribution 244 383 806

  

The directors propose that the annual general meeting approve the payment of a dividend of  

CHF 2.00 per dividend-bearing share of CHF 0.20 each 21 131 800

Transfer to distributable reserve 156 000 000

Balance to be carried forward 67 252 006

Total 244 383 806

Board of directors’ proposal 
Report of the statutory auditors

Five-year summary
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Report of the statutory auditors

To the general meeting of Bucher Industries AG, Niederweningen

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Bucher Industries AG, 
which comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 128 to 136), for the 
year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of birectors’ responsibility   The board of directors is responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the  
company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The board of 
directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility   Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss  
Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance wheth-
er the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,  
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the account ing 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence  
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion   In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 
comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor  
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are 
no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation  
of financial statements according to the instructions of the board of directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial 
statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Beat Inauen   Ralf Zwick
Audit expert   Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 8 March 2010

 Holding company
Report of the statutory auditors

Addresses
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Five-year summary  

Group 

CHF million       

  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Order intake  1 797.4 2 791.9 2 704.3 2 163.3 1 946.6

Net sales  2 142.1 2 788.9 2 458.8 2 087.1 1 948.3

Order book  507.3 843.4 871.3 605.2 523.7

Operating profit before depreciation       

and amortisation (EBITDA)  189.7 341.6 285.9 184.6 166.4

As % of net sales % 8.9 12.2 11.6 8.8 8.5

Operating profit (EBIT)  25.8 246.2 229.4 123.7 117.8

As % of net sales % 1.2 8.8 9.3 5.9 6.0

Net financial items  – 18.8 – 29.1 10.6 12.9 3.3

Income tax expense  – 31.4 – 71.7 – 69.0 – 41.1 – 35.0

As % of profit before tax1) % 33.8 33.0 28.8 30.1 28.9

(Loss)/profit for the year  – 24.4 145.4 171.0 95.5 86.1

As % of net sales % – 1.2 5.2 7.0 4.6 4.4

Capital expenditure  58.5 130.9 131.2 60.0 53.0

Operating free cash flow  182.5 – 15.3 42.7 101.2 61.8

Development costs  75.9 78.1 71.1 65.3 63.4

       

Total assets  2 124.5 2 067.6 2 130.3 1 839.7 1 674.8

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 505.2 234.2 492.3 445.5 348.0

Receivables  468.9 577.8 559.9 518.5 449.3

Inventories  485.2 609.0 544.9 460.7 455.9

Investments and other financial assets  51.0 51.5 50.5 34.3 32.8

Property, plant and equipment  408.5 399.2 355.2 279.6 266.5

Intangible assets  164.7 130.9 78.7 61.9 78.7

Current liabilities  711.2 897.1 1 011.5 896.4 718.1

Non-current liabilities  620.8 324.4 246.0 218.8 318.2

Total liabilities  1 332.0 1 221.5 1 257.5 1 115.2 1 036.3

Of which interest-bearing  623.3 320.2 325.6 266.8 276.0

Net cash / debt2)  – 118.1 – 110.6 164.2 173.1 69.0

Equity  792.5 846.1 872.8 724.5 638.5

Equity ratio % 37.3 40.9 41.0 39.4 38.1

Return on equity (ROE) % – 3.0 16.9 21.4 14.0 14.8

Working capital  400.1 438.7 342.6 316.5 298.5

Net operating assets (NOA), average  1 114.1 891.0 687.1 604.8 566.5

Return on net operating assets (RONOA) % 1.5 18.5 23.8 14.3 14.8

       

Number of employees at 31 December 3)  7 183 8 373 7 484 6 775 6 874

Average number of employees during year 3)  7 618 8 176 7 261 6 882 6 836

Net sales per employee CHF 1 000 281.2 341.1 338.6 303.3 285.0
1)  2009 tax rate before impairment. The effective tax rate after impairment was 448.6%.
2)  Excluding derivative financial liabilities since 1 January 2009.
3)  Expressed as full-time equivalents.
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Group

Addresses

Bucher Industries AG
Murzlenstrasse 80   8166 Niederweningen   Switzerland   Phone +41 43 815 80 80   Fax +41 43 815 80 81
info@bucherind.com   www.bucherind.com

Bucher Management AG
Flughafenstrasse 90   8058 Zurich   Switzerland   Phone +41 43 815 80 80   Fax +41 43 815 80 81
info@bucherind.com   www.bucherind.com

Kuhn SA
4, Impasse des Fabriques   67706 Saverne   France   Phone +33 388 01 81 00   Fax +33 388 01 81 01

Kuhn-Huard SA
Rue du Québec   44142 Châteaubriant   France   Phone +33 240 55 77 00   Fax +33 240 55 77 10

Kuhn-Audureau SA
Rue Quanquèse   85260 La Copechagnière   France   Phone +33 251 41 47 00   Fax +33 251 41 41 03

Kuhn-Blanchard SAS
24 Rue de Nantes   44680 Chéméré   France   Phone +33 240 21 30 24  Fax +33 240 64 80 11 

Kuhn-Geldrop B.V.
Nuenenseweg 165   5667 KP Geldrop   The Netherlands   Phone +31 40 28 93 300  Fax +31 40 28 53 215 

Kuhn North America, Inc.
1501 West Seventh Avenue   Brodhead, WI-53520-0167   USA   Phone +1 608 897 21 31   Fax +1 608 897 25 61

Kuhn do Brasil S/A
Rua Arno Pini 564, Passo Fundo   RS-99050-130   Brazil   Phone +55 54 3316 6200   Fax +55 54 3316 6250

Bucher-Guyer AG
Murzlenstrasse 80   8166 Niederweningen   Switzerland   Phone +41 44 857 22 11   Fax +41 44 857 22 49   

Bucher Schörling GmbH
Schörlingstrasse 3   30453 Hannover   Germany   Phone +49 511 21 49 0   Fax +49 511 210 1930   

SIA Bucher Schoerling Baltic
Ganibu iela 105   3601 Ventspils   Latvia   Phone +371 6 366 10 50   Fax +371 6 366 10 51   

Bucher Schörling Korea Ltd.
Sihwa Industrial Complex   3Ma 819Ho   Chungwang-Dong, Siheung-City   Kyunggi-Do   Korea 429-450    
Phone +82 31 498 89 613   Fax +82 31 498 89 85  

Giletta S.p.A.
Via A. De Gasperi, 1   12036 Revello   Italy   Phone +39 0175 258 800   Fax +39 0175 258 825   

Gmeiner GmbH
Daimlerstrasse 18   92533 Wernberg-Köblitz   Germany   Phone +49 9604 93 267 0   Fax +49 9604 93 267 49

Johnston Sweepers Ltd.
Curtis Road, Dorking   Surrey RH4 1XF   United Kingdom   Phone +44 1306 88 47 22   Fax +44 1306 88 41 51   

Kuhn Group,  specialised agricultural machinery   –   www.kuhn.com

Bucher Municipal, municipal vehicles   –   www.buchermunicipal.com

Bucher Group
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Beam A/S
Salten Skovvej 4-6   8653 Them   Denmark   Phone +45 86 84 76 00   Fax +45 86 84 77 34

MacDonald Johnston Pty Ltd.
65-73 Nan tilla Road   Clayton North 3168, Victoria   Australia   Phone +61 3 9271 64 00   Fax +61 3 9271 64 80  

Bucher Hydraulics GmbH
Industriestrasse 1   79771 Klettgau   Germany   Phone +49 7742 85 20   Fax +49 7742 71 16

Bucher Hydraulics AG
Industriestrasse 15   6345 Neuheim   Switzerland   Phone +41 41 757 03 33   Fax +41 41 755 16 49

Bucher Hydraulics AG Frutigen
Schwandistrasse 25   3714 Frutigen   Switzerland   Phone +41 33 672 61 11   Fax +41 33 672 61 03

Bucher Hydraulics S.p.A.
Via P. Colletta, 5   42100 Reggio Emilia   Italy   Phone +39 0522 928 411   Fax +39 0522 513 211

Bucher Hydraulics, Inc.
1363 Michigan Street, NE   Grand Rapids, MI-49503-2003   USA   Phone +1 616 458 13 06   Fax +1 616 458 16 16

Command Controls Corporation
1455 Davis Road   Elgin, IL-60123   USA   Phone +1 847 429 0700   Fax +1 847 429 0777

Emhart Glass SA
Hinterbergstrasse 22   6330 Cham   Switzerland   Phone +41 41 749 42 00   Fax +41 41 749 42 71

Emhart Glass Sweden AB
Universitetsallén 1   85121 Sundsvall   Sweden   Phone +46 60 199 100   Fax +46 60 199 261   

Emhart Glass Manufacturing Inc. 
Emhart Glass Research Center
123 Great Pond Drive   Windsor, CT 06095-0220   USA   Phone +1 860 298 7340   Fax +1 860 298 7395 

Emhart Glass Manufacturing Inc.
1140 Sullivan Street   Elmira, NY 14901-1695   USA   Phone +1 607 734 3671   Fax +1 607 734 1245   

Emhart Glass Sdn Bhd
No. 20, Jalan Mahir 5, Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang, 81800 Ulu Tiram, Johor   Malaysia 
Phone +607 863 11 22   Fax +607 863 77 17

Bucher Hydraulics, hydraulic components   –   www.bucherhydraulics.com

Emhart Glass, manufacturing equipment for the glass container industry   –   www.emhartglass.com
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Bucher Vaslin SA
Rue Gaston Bernier   49290 Chalonnes-sur-Loire   France   Phone +33 241 74 50 50   Fax +33 241 74 50 52 
www.buchervaslin.com

Bucher Processtech AG
Murzlenstrasse 80   8166 Niederweningen   Switzerland   Phone +41 44 857 23 00   Fax +41 44 857 23 41    
www.bucherfoodtech.com   www.bucherdrytech.com

Bucher Landtechnik AG       
Murzlenstrasse 80   8166 Niederweningen   Switzerland   Phone +41 44 857 26 00   Fax +41 44 857 24 12       
www.bucherlandtechnik.ch

Bucher Specials,  independent businesses

This annual report is also published in German. In case of any discrepancy, the German version shall prevail.
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